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No securities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about any information contained herein and it is an 
offence to claim otherwise. This Prospectus does not constitute a public offering of securities.  

These securities have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended 
(the “U.S. Securities Act”), or the securities laws of any state of the United States (as such term is defined in 
Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act) and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the 
United States, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable state securities laws. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy 
any of these securities in the United States.  

 

PROSPECTUS 
 

New Issue Prospectus November 10, 2021 

 
The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. 

(formerly 1181718 B.C. Ltd.) 

___________________________________________ 

8,984,823 Subordinate Voting Shares issued upon the conversion of previously issued Subscription 
Receipts  

 ___________________________________________ 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus 

This new issue prospectus (the “Prospectus”) is being filed with the securities regulatory authorities in the Province 
of British Columbia to enable The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. (formerly 1181718 B.C. Ltd.) (the “Company”) to become 
a “reporting issuer” in the Province of British Columbia pursuant to applicable securities legislation to develop an 
organized market for the Subordinate Voting Shares (as defined herein) of the Company and to qualify the distribution 
of the following securities: 8,984,823 Subordinate Voting Shares in the capital of the Company issued upon the 
conversion of 8,984,823 previously issued Subscription Receipts (as defined herein) of the Company. On July 23, 
2021, and August 5, 2021 the Company issued a total of 8,984,823 Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Subscription 
Receipt Offering (as defined herein) for aggregate proceeds of US$8,984,823 on a private placement basis pursuant 
to certain prospectus exemptions under applicable securities legislation. The Transaction (as defined herein) closed 
on November 5, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to which 8,984,823 Subordinate Voting Shares were issued (the 
“Qualified Securities”). The Qualified Securities are not available for purchase pursuant to this Prospectus and 
no additional funds are to be received by the Company from the distribution of the Subordinate Voting Shares 
issued upon conversion of the Subscription Receipts. Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this 
Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised, and all expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this 
Prospectus will be paid by the Company from its general corporate funds.  
 
There is no market through which the securities of the Company may be sold. This may affect the pricing of the 
Company’s securities in the secondary markets; the transparency and availability of trading prices; the liquidity of the 
Company’s securities and the extent of issuer regulations. See “Risk Factors”. 
 
The Company has applied to list the Subordinate Voting Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”). In 
order to obtain a listing, the Company must fulfill all of the listing requirements of the CSE. There is no guarantee 
that the CSE will provide approval for the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares. 
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As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to 
list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities on the Toronto Stock 
Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States 
(other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the PLUS markets operated by PLUS 
Markets Group plc). 
 
No underwriter or selling agents have been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or performed any 
review or independent due diligence of the contents of this Prospectus. 
 
Nathan Laurell, the CEO and a director of the Resulting Issuer (as defined herein) and Jeremy Schupp, the CFO and 
a director of the Resulting Issuer, reside outside Canada. Nathan Laurell, and Jeremy Schupp have appointed Cassels, 
Brock & Blackwell LLP, having an office at Suite 2200, HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, 
V6C 3E8, Canada as their agent for service of process. 
 
Purchasers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, even if 
the party has appointed an agent for service of process.  
 
An investment in securities of the Company is speculative and involves a high degree of risk. In reviewing this 
Prospectus, you should carefully consider the matters described under the heading “Risk Factors”. 
 
Prospective investors are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of Canadian federal 
income tax laws to their particular circumstances, as well as any other provincial, foreign and other tax consequences 
of acquiring, holding, or disposing of Subordinate Voting Shares, including the Canadian federal income tax 
consequences applicable to a foreign controlled Canadian corporation that acquires Subordinate Voting Shares. 

Prospective investors should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. Readers should assume that 
the information appearing in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date, regardless of its time of delivery. The 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.   

Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. (previously 1181718 B.C. Ltd.) 
238 Tubeway Drive 

Carol Stream, IL 60188, USA 
Phone: 604 684-2181 
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CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements and forward-looking information within the meaning of 
applicable securities legislation about the Company and the development of its business. The use of any of the words 
“may”, “will”, “should”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “continue”, “plan”, “estimate”, “believe”, “intend”, “project”, 
“forecast”, and other similar expressions is intended to identify forward-looking statements or information. 
These forward-looking statements include statements regarding: 

 the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE; 
 the Company’s expectations regarding its revenue, expenses, and operations; 
 the Company’s anticipated cash needs and its needs for additional financing; 
 the Company’s intention to grow the business and its operations; 
 development and commercialization of the Company’s products and services; 
 protection of the Company’s intellectual property;  
 the Company’s relationship with its principal supplier;  
 the effect of government regulation; 
 labelling requirements related to the Company’s products;  
 the price of raw materials;  
 consumer trends; 
 the Company’s supply chain;  
 the Company’s brand value; 
 expectations with respect to the success of its research and development on the Company’s products; 
 the grant and impact of any license or supplemental license to conduct activities with food or any amendments 

thereof; 
 expectations with respect to the future growth of its food ingredient products; 
 expectations regarding trends in the plant-based food industry; 
 expectations regarding the production capacity of the Company’s existing and future facilities and the 

Company’s ability to increase and/or maximize production: 
 effects of the COVID-19 public health crisis; 
 the Company’s competitive position and the regulatory environment in which the Company operates; 
 the Company’s ability to attract new and retain current customers; 
 the Company’s expectation that revenues derived from its operations, together with fund-raising activities, 

including its initial public offering, will be sufficient to cover its expenses during 2021 and over the next 
twelve (12) months; 

 the Company’s expected business objectives for the next twelve (12) months; 
 the Company’s ability to obtain additional funds through the sale of equity or debt commitments; and 
 beliefs and intentions regarding the ownership of material trademarks and domain names used in connection 

with the design, production, marketing, distribution, and sale of the Company’s products. 
 

The forward-looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus are based on certain key expectations 
and assumptions made by the Company, including expectations and assumptions relating to (i) obtaining the necessary 
regulatory approvals; (ii) that regulatory requirements will be maintained; (iii) general business and economic 
conditions; (iv) the Company’s ability to successfully execute its plans and intentions; (v) the Company’s production 
capacity and supply chain (vi) the price of raw ingredients and materials; (vii) the availability of financing on 
reasonable terms; (viii) the Company’s ability to attract and retain skilled staff; (ix) market competition; (x) the 
products and technology offered by the Company’s competitors; and (xi) that the Company’s current good 
relationships with the Company’s service providers and other third parties will be maintained. These statements are 
only predictions and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including the risks in the 
section entitled “Risk Factors”, which include: 
 

 limited operating history; 

 the Company has negative cash flow for the year ended May 31, 2021; 
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 the Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations 
of the Company’s management; 

 uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

 the Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations 
of the Company’s management; 

 risks related to the covid-19 pandemic; 

 adverse weather conditions could impose costs on the Company’s business; 

 shipping and transportation delays; 

 risks relating to competition in the fresh and plant-based food industry; 

 the Company’s products are subject to regulations governing their labeling, marketing and advertising; 

 risks relating to laws and regulatory requirements; 

 risks relating to limited or disrupted supply of key ingredients; 

 risks associated with scaling production and ability to manage supply chain; 

 risks relating to food safety and consumer health, including product liability; 

 risks related to real or perceived quality or health issues with the Company’s products; 

 environmental and health and safety laws; 

 labelling; 

 if the Company is unable to develop and market new products, it may not be able to keep pace with market 
developments; 

 there is no assurance that the company will successfully develop its products currently in the product 
development process; 

 there is no assurance that the company will retain any relevant licenses nor obtain new licenses or approvals 
that may be required for the company’s business and future plans; 

 there is no assurance that the Company will maintain its material customer base; 

 limited number of distributors; 

 reliance on third-party suppliers; 

 third-party supplier compliance; 

 the Company may be subject to product recalls for product defects self-imposed or imposed by regulators; 

 quality control; 

 product liability; 

 holding company risks; 

 the Company expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations related to its investment in 
infrastructure, growth, regulatory compliance, and operations; 

 the company may be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE; 

 there is no assurance that the company will turn a profit or generate immediate revenues; 

 the Company may not be able to effectively manage its growth and operations, which could materially and 
adversely affect its business; 

 acquisition and integration strategies; 

 the Company may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary and intellectual property rights; 

 the Company may be forced to litigate to defend its intellectual property rights, or to defend against claims 
by third parties against the company relating to intellectual property rights; 

 the Company may become subject to litigation, including for possible product liability claims, which may 
have a material adverse effect on the company’s reputation, business, results from operations, and financial 
condition; 

 risks relating to information technology systems and cybersecurity; 

 risks relating to climate change; 

 risks associated with consumer trends; 
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 market conditions; 

 the Company relies heavily on sales of fresh produce and quality natural and organic products, and product 
supply disruptions may have an adverse effect on profitability and operating results; 

 if the Company is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to compete effectively in the 
food ingredient market; 

 the size of the Company’s target market is difficult to quantify, and investors will be reliant on their own 
estimates on the accuracy of market data; 

 the company’s industry is experiencing rapid growth and consolidation that may cause the Company to lose 
key relationships and intensify competition; 

 the Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants 
resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company; 

 the Company will be reliant on information technology systems and may be subject to damaging 
cyberattacks; 

 the Company’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts 
of interest; 

 in certain circumstances, the Company’s reputation could be damaged; 

 no guarantee on the use of available funds by the Company; 

 currency fluctuations and exchange rate risk; 

 the Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants 
resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company; 

 need for additional financing; 

 if we have a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, investors could lose 
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our 
securities; 

 the Company cannot assure you that a market will continue to develop or exist for the subordinate voting 
shares or what the market price of the subordinate voting shares will be; 

 the Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends; 

 the Company expects to be subject to taxation in both Canada and the United States, which could have a 
material adverse effect on certain investors or on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations; 
and 

 future sales of subordinate voting shares by existing shareholders could reduce the market price of the 
subordinate voting shares. 

 
If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements prove 
incorrect, the Company’s actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from 
any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking 
statements. 
 
Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those contained in the forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as 
anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual 
results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should 
not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  
 
The forward-looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus are made as of the date hereof and, 
unless so required by applicable law, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-
looking statements or information, whether as a result of new information future events or otherwise. The forward-
looking statements and information contained in this Prospectus are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.  
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NON-IFRS MEASURES 

This Prospectus makes reference to certain non-IFRS measures. These measures are not recognized measures under 
IFRS, do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similar 
measures presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information to complement 
those IFRS measures by providing further understanding of Fresh Factory’s results of operations from management’s 
perspective. Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of Fresh Factory’s 
information reported under IFRS.  

This Prospectus includes non-IFRS measures, including Adjusted EBITDA and EBITDA. Fresh Factory uses these 
non-IFRS financial measures as it believes that these measures provide information that is useful to understanding 
financial performance and facilitate a comparison of its quarterly and full year results from period to period. These 
non-IFRS measures are not recognized under IFRS and, accordingly, readers are cautioned that these measures should 
not be construed as alternatives to the applicable measures determined in accordance with IFRS. Non-IFRS financial 
measures included in this Prospectus do not have any standardized meaning under IFRS and may not be comparable 
with similar measures used by other companies. All other financial information relating to Fresh Factory (and the 
Company) in this Prospectus is presented in accordance with IFRS. Investors should review this information in 
conjunction with the Fresh Factory Financial Statements which are included in this Prospectus. 

CURRENCY PRESENTATION AND EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION 
 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise indicated, all references to “$” or “dollars” refer to Canadian Dollars, all 
references to “USD$” refer to United States Dollars.   
 
On November 8, 2021 the daily exchange rate for Canadian Dollars in terms of the United States Dollar as quoted by 
the Bank of Canada, was USD$1.2449 = $1.00. 
 

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA 

This Prospectus includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources, including industry 
publications. The Company believes that the industry data is accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are 
reasonable, but there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally 
state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no 
assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data is believed to be reliable, the 
Company has not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus or 
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

Unless otherwise indicated, information contained in this Prospectus concerning the Company’s industry and the 
markets in which it operates, including general expectations and market position, market opportunities and market 
share, is based on information from independent industry organizations, other third-party sources (including industry 
publications, surveys and forecasts) and management studies and estimates. 

The Company’s estimates are derived from publicly available information released by independent industry analysts 
and third-party sources as well as data from the Company’s internal research, and knowledge of the plant-based food 
industry, and include assumptions made by the Company which management believes to be reasonable based on their 
knowledge of the Company’s industry and markets. The Company’s internal research and assumptions have not been 
verified by any independent source, and it has not independently verified any third-party information. While the 
Company believes the market position, market opportunity and market share information included in this Prospectus 
is generally reliable, such information is inherently imprecise. In addition, projections, assumptions and estimates of 
the Company’s future performance and the future performance of the industry and markets in which it operates are 
necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and risk due to a variety of factors, including those described under 
the heading “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”. 
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CONVENTIONS 

Certain terms used herein are defined in the “Glossary of Terms”. Unless otherwise indicated, references to $ are to 
Canadian dollars and USD$ are to U.S. dollars. All financial information with respect to the Company have been 
presented in Canadian dollars in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretation 
Committee.  

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

The following is a glossary of certain defined terms used throughout this Prospectus. This is not an exhaustive list of 
defined terms used in this Prospectus and additional terms are defined throughout. Terms and abbreviations used in 
the financial statements of the Company and Fresh Factory are defined separately and the terms and abbreviations 
defined below are not used therein, except where otherwise indicated. Words importing the singular, where the context 
requires, include the plural and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all genders. 

“$” means Canadian dollars. 

“40% Threshold” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting Issuer – 
Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation”.  

“Adjusted EBIDTA” is referred to herein as a financial measure that Fresh Factory defines as earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation and change in fair value of derivative liabilities. 

“Affiliate” means a company that is affiliated with another company as described below:  

A company is an “Affiliate” of another company if: 

(a) one of them is the subsidiary of the other; or 

(b) each of them is controlled by the same Person; 

A company is “controlled” by a Person if: 

(a) voting securities of the company are held, other than by way of security only, by or for the 
benefit of that Person; and 

(b) the voting securities, if voted, entitle the Person to elect a majority of the directors of the 
company; 

A Person beneficially owns securities that are beneficially owned by: 

(c) a Company controlled by that Person, or 

(d) an Affiliate of that Person, or  

(e) an Affiliate of any Company controlled by that Person. 

“Applicable U.S. Shareholders” means certain Fresh Factory Shareholders resident in the United States that received 
Proportionate Voting Shares in connection with the Transaction; 

“Associate” means when used to indicate a relationship with a person or company, means: 

(a) an issuer of which the person or company beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, voting 
securities entitling him to more than 10% of the voting rights attached to outstanding securities of 
the issuer; 
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(b) any partner of the person or company;

(c) any trust or estate in which the person or company has a substantial beneficial interest or in respect
of which a person or company serves as trustee or in a similar capacity;

(d) in the case of a person, a relative of that person, including:

(i) that person’s spouse or child; or

(ii) any relative of the person or of his spouse who has the same residence as that person; but

(e) where the Exchange determines that two persons shall, or shall not, be deemed to be associates with
respect to a Member firm, Member corporation or holding company of a Member corporation, then
such determination shall be determinative of their relationships in the application of Rule D with
respect to that Member firm, Member corporation or holding company.

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Resulting Issuer. 

“Audit Committee Charter” means the Audit Committee’s Charter, attached hereto as Schedule F. 

“BCBCA” means the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission. 

“Board” or “Board of Directors” means the board of directors, or comparable corporate governing structure, of the 
Company or the Resulting Issuer, as applicable. 

“Business Day” means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or a statutory holiday in British Columbia, Canada. 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“Change of Articles” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh 
Factory”. 

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”. 

“Common Shares” means the common shares in the capital of the Company (prior to completion of the Change of 
Articles).  

“Company” means The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. (previously 1181718 B.C. Ltd. ) a company existing under the 
BCBCA. 

“company” means, unless specifically indicated otherwise, a corporation, incorporated association or organization, 
body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual. 

“Company Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended May 
31, 2021 and May 31, 2020, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, and the interim financial 
statements of the Company for the three month period ended August 31, 2021, together with the notes thereto as 
applicable, attached hereto at Schedule A. 

“Company MD&A” means the management’s discussion and analysis of the Company for the years ended May 31, 
2021 and May 31, 2020, and the interim financial statements of the Company for the three month period ended August 
31, 2021, attached hereto at Schedule B. 

“Company Meeting” means the annual general and special meeting of the Company Shareholders to consider, among 
other things, the Transaction. 
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“Company Merger Resolution” means the special resolution of Company Shareholders holding at least 66 and 2/3rds 
of the Common Shares, in respect of the Transaction, the Change of Articles and related transactions to be considered 
by the Company Shareholders at the Company Meeting. 

“Company Shareholders” means the holders of Common Shares. 

“Conditional Approval” means the approval issued by the CSE for listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares. 

“Consolidation” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”. 

“Conversion Ratio” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting Issuer – 
Proportionate Voting Shares”.  

“CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange operated by the CNSX Markets Inc. 

“Determination Date” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting Issuer 
– Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation”.

“EBITDA” means earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.  

“Effective Time” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”. 

“Eligible Persons”, has the meaning set forth under the heading “Options to Purchase Securities – Terms of the Plan”. 

“Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement among the Company, the Transfer Agent and certain shareholders, 
pursuant to which 415,951 Subordinate Voting Shares and 154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares will be held in 
escrow. 

“Escrow Securities” means the 415,951 Subordinate Voting Shares, 154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares 2,640,000 
Options and 500,000 Performance Warrants that are to be held in escrow pursuant to the CSE Escrow Agreement. 

“Finder’s Shares” has the meaning set forth under the heading “General Development of the Business – History – 
The Company”. 

“Finder’s Warrants” means the 118,580 share purchase warrants exercisable to acquire Subordinate Voting Shares 
and issued to certain finders in connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering. 

“Form 51-102F6”, means Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation. 

“FPI Protective Restriction” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting 
Issuer – Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation”.  

“Fresh Factory” mean The Fresh Factory, PBC, a public benefit corporation f/k/a Here Foods, PBC, incorporated 
under the laws of the state of Delaware. 

“Fresh Factory Common Shares” means the shares of common stock in the capital of Fresh Factory. 

“Fresh Factory Convertible Notes” means the USD$4,423,535 aggregate principal amount of convertible 
promissory notes issued by Fresh Factory to be converted into Proportionate Voting Shares in connection with the 
Transaction. (see “General Development of the Business – History – The Company”). 

“Fresh Factory Financial Statements” means the audited financial statements of Fresh Factory for the years ended 
December 31, 2020, and 2019, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, as applicable, and the 
interim financial statements of Fresh Factory for the six month period ended June 30, 2021, together with the notes 
thereto attached hereto at Schedule C. 

“Fresh Factory MD&A” means the management’s discussion and analysis of Fresh Factory for the years ended 
December 31, 2020, and 2019, together with the notes thereto and the auditors’ report thereon, as applicable, and the 
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interim financial statements of Fresh Factory for the six month period ended June 30, 2021, attached hereto at 
Schedule D. 

“Fresh Factory Merger Resolution” means the special resolution of Fresh Factory Shareholders holding a majority 
in voting power of the outstanding capital stock of Fresh Factory, including a majority of the Fresh Factory Series A 
Preferred Shares and a majority of the Fresh Factory Series Seed Preferred Shares in respect of the Transaction. 

“Fresh Factory Preferred Shares” means collectively, the Fresh Factory Series Seed Preferred Shares and the Fresh 
Factory Series A Preferred Shares. 

“Fresh Factory Series A Preferred Shares” means the means the series A shares of preferred stock in the capital of 
Fresh Factory. 

“Fresh Factory Series Seed Preferred Shares” means the means the series seed shares of preferred stock in the 
capital of Fresh Factory. 

“Fresh Factory Shareholders” means the holders of Fresh Factory shares interests.  

“Fresh Factory Shares” means the issued and outstanding shares of Fresh Factory.  

“Governance Policy” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Governance”. 

“IFRS” means the International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretation Committee. 

“Insider” means: 

(a) a director or senior officer of Fresh Factory;  

(b) a director or senior officer of Fresh Factory that is an Insider or subsidiary of Fresh Factory; 

(c) a Person that beneficially owns or controls, directly or indirectly, shares carrying more than 10% of 
the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares of Fresh Factory; or 

(d) Fresh Factory itself if it holds any of its own securities. 

“Listing” means the listing of the Common Shares for trading on the CSE. 

“Listing Date” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Escrowed Securities And Securities Subject To 
Contractual Restrictions On Transfer – Resale Restrictions”. 

“Lock-Up Agreements” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Escrowed Securities And Securities Subject To 
Contractual Restrictions On Transfer – Resale Restrictions”. 

“MD&A” means management discussion and analysis.  

“Mergeco” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Summary of the Prospectus – Merger Agreement”. 

“Mergeco Shares” means the shares of common stock in the capital of Mergeco. 
 
“Merger Agreement” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh 
Factory”. 

“Named Executive Officer” or “NEO” means: 

(a) the CEO, or comparable position; 

(b) the CFO, or comparable position; 
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(c) each of the issuer’s three most highly compensated executive officers, other than the CEO and CFO, 
who were serving as executive officers at the end of the most recently completed financial year and 
whose total salary and bonus, individually, exceeds CAD$150,000 per year; or 

(d) any additional individuals for whom disclosure would have been provided under (c) except that the 
individual was not serving as an officer of the issuer at the end of the most recently completed 
financial year. 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements, of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators. 

“NI 45-102” means National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities, of the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

“NI 52-110” means National Investment 52-110 – Audit Committees, of the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. 

“Option Plan” means the Resulting Issuer’s stock option plan. See “Options to Purchase Securities – Resulting 
Issuer”. 

“Options” means the options issued pursuant to the Option Plan. 

“Outstanding Issue” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Options to Purchase Securities – Resulting Issuer”. 

“Performance Warrants” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh 
Factory”. 

“Permitted Holder” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting Issuer – 
Proportionate Voting Shares”.  

“Person”, unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or organization, body 
corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual. 

“Preferred Shares”, has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description of Share Capital – Preferred Shares”. 

“Pro-Forma Financial Statements” means the unaudited pro-forma consolidated financial statements of the 
Company as at May 31, 2021, assuming completion of the Transaction as at May 31, 2021, together with the notes 
thereto, attached hereto as Schedule E. 

“Promoter” means (a) a person or company who, acting alone or in conjunction with one or more other persons, 
companies or a combination thereof, directly or indirectly, takes the initiative in founding, organizing or substantially 
reorganizing the business of an issuer, or (b) a person or company who, in connection with the founding, organizing 
or substantial reorganizing of the business of an issuer, directly or indirectly, receives in consideration of services or 
property, or both services and property, 10% or more of any class of securities of the issuer or 10% or more of the 
proceeds from the sale of any class of securities of a particular issue, but a person or company who receives such 
securities or proceeds either solely as underwriting commissions or solely in consideration of property shall not be 
deemed a promoter within the meaning of this definition if such person or company does not otherwise take part in 
founding, organizing, or substantially reorganizing the business. 

“Proportionate Voting Shares” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –
Resulting Issuer – Proportionate Voting Shares”. 

“Prospectus” means this Prospectus (including any Supplemental Material thereto). 

“Qualified Securities” has means set forth on the cover page hereto. 

“Regulation S” means Regulation S promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act. 
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“Resulting Issuer” means the Company after closing the Transaction.  

“Resulting Issuer Shares” means the shares of the Company following the Change of Articles.  

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval maintained by the Canadian Securities 
Administrators. 

“Special Warrants” has the meaning set forth under the heading “General Development of the Business – History – 
The Company”. 

“Subco” means Fresh Factory Merger Sub Inc., a direct, wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated under 
the General Corporation Law (Delaware) on July 30, 2021 for the sole purpose of effecting the merger in connection 
with the Transaction. 

“Subco Shares” means the shares of common stock in the capital of Subco. 
 
“Subordinate Voting Shares” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting 
Issuer – Subordinate Voting Shares”. 

“Subscription Receipt” has the meaning set forth under the heading “General Development of the Business – History 
– The Company”. 

“Subscription Receipt Agent” has the meaning set forth under the heading “General Development of the Business – 
History – The Company”. 

“Subscription Receipt Offering” has the meaning set forth under the heading “General Development of the Business 
– History – The Company”. 

“Subscription Receipt Offering Escrow Release Conditions” means the escrow release conditions governing the 
deemed exercise of the Subscription Receipts issued in connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering, which 
included: 

(a) all conditions precedent to the Transaction, other than documents to be delivered at closing of the 
Transaction, shall have been satisfied or, if applicable, waived, other than the exercise of the Subscription 
Receipts, and the release of the escrowed proceeds to the Company; 

(b) all necessary corporate, regulatory, securityholder and other approvals or consents for the 
completion of the Transaction, including the Conditional Approval; and 

(c)  the Company having delivered a release notice to the Subscription Receipt Agent confirming that 
items (a) and (b) have been satisfied. 

“Transaction” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”.  

“Transfer Agent” means the transfer agent and registrar of the Resulting Issuer, anticipated to be Olympia Trust 
Company. 

“U.S. Residents” has the meaning set forth under the heading “Description Of Share Capital –Resulting Issuer – 
Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation”.  
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SUMMARY OF PROSPECTUS 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Subordinate Voting Shares and should be read together 
with the more detailed information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.  
Capitalized used but not defined in this Summary of Prospectus have the meanings ascribed thereto in the Glossary 
of Terms. 

Principal Business  

The Company 

 
The Company was incorporated on October 2, 2018 under the BCBCA under the name “1181718 B.C. Ltd.” On 
October 27, 2021, the Company changed its name to “The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd.” in connection with the closing of 
the Transaction.  

The Company’s principal executive office is located at 238 Tubeway Drive, Carol Stream, IL 60188, USA, and 
registered address is located at Suite 2200, HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3E8, 
Canada. 

Prior to the completion of the Transaction, the Company had no active business and was incorporated for the purpose 
of undergoing a qualifying transaction to become a reporting issuer and to list on a Canadian stock exchange. See 
“Description of the business”.  

Fresh Factory 
 
Fresh Factory was incorporated on December 14, 2017 under the name “Here Foods, PBC”, a public benefit 
corporation organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Delaware. Fresh Factory’s head office is located at 238 
Tubeway Drive, Carol Stream, IL 60188, USA, and registered agent address is located at Corporation Trust Center, 
1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801, USA. 

The Fresh Factory was formed to establish a vertically-integrated corporation to engage in the fresh and plant-based 
food and beverage industry, including developing, formulating, manufacturing, distributing and selling fresh and 
plant-based food and beverage products. 

 
See “Description of the Business”. 

Merger Agreement 

The Company entered into a Merger Agreement dated August 16, 2021 with Fresh Factory and Subco, a wholly owned 
subsidiary of the Company, whereby Fresh Factory Shareholders acquired an aggregate of 4,035 Subordinate Voting 
Shares and 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares in consideration of the amalgamation between Fresh Factory and 
Subco under the General Corporation Law (Delaware), pursuant to which Fresh Factory merged with and into Subco, 
with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity (“Mergeco”), resulting in Subco Shares being cancelled and all the property 
of each of Subco and Fresh Factory continuing on as to the property of Mergeco. 

Following the closing of the Transaction, Mergeco is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (the “Resulting 
Issuer”). 

Resulting Issuer 

The Resulting Issuer’s head office and registered and records office is located at 238 Tubeway Drive, Carol Stream, 
IL 60188, USA, and registered and records office is located at Suite 2200, HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, 
Vancouver, BC, V6C 3E8. 

The principal business of the Resulting Issuer is the same as that of Fresh Factory.  
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Management, Directors & Officers 

Nathan Laurell Chief Executive Officer and Director  
Jeremy Schupp CFO, Corporate Secretary and Director 
Bill Besenhofer Chief Operating Officer and President 
Isabella Chia Senior Vice President of Marketing 
Jeff Cantalupo Director 
Lindsay Levin Director 
Besar Xhelili Director 
 
 
See “Directors and Executive Officers”.  

No Proceeds Raised 

No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. This Prospectus is being filed with the BCSC for the 
purpose of allowing the Company to become a reporting issuer in such jurisdiction and to enable the Company to 
develop an organized market for the Subordinate Voting Shares. Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this 
Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised and all expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this 
Prospectus will be paid by the Company (out of proceeds of the Subscription Receipt Offering). 

The Listing 

The Company has applied to list its Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE. Listing will be subject to the Company 
fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the CSE, including, without limitation, the Company meeting the other 
minimum listing requirements. 

Funds Available 

The gross proceeds paid to the Company from the sale of the Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Subscription 
Receipt Offering was US$8,984,823.00. As of October 31, 2021, the Resulting Issuer had working capital of 
approximately US$637,870 on a pro forma basis, giving effect to the Transaction and the Subscription Receipt 
Offering.  

The Resulting Issuer has used, or intends to use, the net proceeds of the Subscription Receipt Offering and its other 
available funds as follows:  

Item Funds Allocated 

Funds Available  

Working Capital of the Resulting Issuer as of October 31, 2021(1) US$9,622,693 

  

Total Available Funds US$9,622,693 

  

Principal Purposes for the Available Funds  

Capital Investments to Expand Capacity(2) US$3,500,000 

Sales & Marketing to drive Customer Growth(3) US$1,500,000 

General and administrative costs for 12 months(4) US$3,125,000 

Expenses related to completion of the Transaction(5) US$834,343 
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Unallocated working capital US$663,350 

Total US$9,622,693 

 
Notes: 
(1) Includes the net funds received by the Company from the Subscription Receipt Offering. 
(2) The US$3,500,000 budget for Capital Investments to Expand Capacity includes US$2,200,000 for a high-pressure 

pasteurization (HPP) machine, US$500,000 in equipment related to increasing throughput and capacity on the company’s 
bottle and cup lines, and US$800,000 to build out a new facility including HVAC equipment, racking, and other associated 
build-out costs.  See “Business Objective and Milestones” for more information. 

(3) The US$1,500,000 budget for Sales & Marketing to drive Customer Growth includes US$500,000 of investment in the 
Company’s Field + Farmer and Element Pressed brands to be spent on hiring additional external marketing resources to drive 
social engagement across various channels and increase trade related spending in the form of sales and promotions. In addition, 
the budget includes US$1,000,000 to establish an accelerator program to work with emerging food brands, and will be used 
to hire a full time manager and invest in a number of emerging brands that participate in the program. See “Business Objective 
and Milestones” for more information. 

(4) General and administrative costs are broken down as follows: 
 

Item $USD 
Professional Services 100,000 
Audit and Public Expenses 150,000 
Compensation* 1,298,000 
Other 1,577,000 
Total  3,125,000 

 
* represents all salaries and wages paid for the calendar year and is inclusive of US$631,751.28 of compensation paid to 
Management and Directors as outlined in “Executive Compensation - Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, 
Excluding Compensation Securities” below. Specifically, it includes US$90,000 to Nathan Laurell, US $159,937,44 to Jeremy 
Schupp, US$175,875.64 to Bill Besenhofer, and US$205,938.20 to Isabella Chia. The remaining balance of US$666,248.72 
is salary, benefits, and employment costs for all employees, exclusive of hourly wages and associated benefits which is 
captured in the cost of sales.  The US$1,577,000 of other expenses is broken down between US$369,842 in Sales and 
Marketing (exclusive of salaries and benefits), US$27,552 in Rent and Utilities (exclusive of facility rent), US$674,400 in 
Depreciation and Amortization (related to various leases), and US$505,206 in Other Administrative (including legal, software, 
and all other operations costs of the company). The annual “burn rate” as defined by Adjusted EBITDA plus lease liabilities 
and interest for the six months ending June 30, 2021 and for the 12 months ending December 31, 2021 are set out below. 
 

6 MONTH ENDING JUNE 30th 2021 ($USD) 
   
Loss for the period ($1,352,971)  
Interest expense $145,165  
Depreciation and amortization $337,200  
EBITDA ($870,606)  
Change in fair value of derivative liability $861,034  
Adjusted EBITDA ($9,572)  
   
   
Payment lease liabilities ($242,744)  
Interest paid ($35,253)  
“burn rate” ($287,569)  
Jun 21 annualized “burn rate” $575,138  
   
12 MONTH ENDING DECEMBER 31st 2020 
   
Loss for the period ($937,819)  
Interest expense $255,238  
Depreciation and amortization $670,519  
EBITDA ($26,212)  
Change in fair value of derivative liability $13,110  
Adjusted EBITDA 1,048  
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Lease liabilities ($578,409)  
Interest paid ($87,048)  
Dec 20 annual “burn rate” 664,409  
   

Fresh Factory has reserved 12-months of General and Administrative expenses in cash to address any potential, unforeseen 
expenditures that may arise following the completion of the Transaction and the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares. 
Given the additional costs associated with being a reporting issuer, management of Fresh Factory believes this amount 
represents a reasonable allocation.  

(5) Includes legal, accounting, and regulatory fees. 
 

While the Company currently intends to use the available funds for the purposes set out herein, it will have discretion 
in the actual application of the available funds, and may elect to use the net proceeds differently than as described 
herein, if the Company believes it is in its best interests to do so. 

COVID-19 Pandemic Impact 
 
The Company continues to monitor the COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on its business. The Company intends to 
comply with all local and federal regulations and recommendations with respect to COVID-19, and will continue to 
revise policies when and if either local or federal recommendations change. As it relates to the direct revenue impact 
on the business, the effects of COVID-19 pandemic have been limited, as Fresh Factory has experienced revenue 
growth in the financial year ended May 31, 2021. The COVID-19 pandemic has led to longer lead times in the 
acquisition of certain supply materials, as well as higher costs on several products, which has had an impact on Fresh 
Factory’s expenses to date. 
 
Risk Factors  

An investment in the Company involves a substantial degree of risk and should be regarded as highly speculative due 
to the nature of the business of the Company.  

The risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Company that could influence 
actual results include, but are not limited to: Limited Operating History; The Company has negative cash flow for the 
year ended May 31, 2021; The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially 
from the expectations of the Company’s management; Uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern.; The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the 
expectations of the Company’s management; Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic; Adverse weather conditions 
could impose costs on the Company’s business; Shipping and transportation delays; Risks relating to competition in 
the plant-based food industry; The Company’s products are subject to regulations governing their labeling, marketing 
and advertising; Risks relating to laws and regulatory requirement; Risks relating to limited or disrupted supply of 
key ingredients; Risks associated with scaling production and ability to manage supply chain; Risks relating to food 
safety and consumer health, including product liability; Risks related to real or perceived quality or health issues with 
the Company’s products; Environmental and health and safety laws; Labelling; If the Company is unable to develop 
and market new products, it may not be able to keep pace with market developments; There is no assurance that the 
Company will successfully develop its products currently in the product development process; There is no assurance 
that the Company will retain any relevant licenses nor obtain new licenses or approvals that may be required for the 
Company’s business and future plans; There is no assurance that the Company will maintain its material customer 
base; Limited Number of Distributors; Reliance on Third-Party Suppliers; Third-Party Supplier Compliance; The 
Company may be subject to product recalls for product defects self-imposed or imposed by regulators; Quality 
Control; Product Liability; Holding Company; The Company expects to incur significant ongoing costs and 
obligations related to its investment in infrastructure, growth, regulatory compliance, and operations; The Company 
may be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE; There is no assurance 
that the Company will turn a profit or generate immediate revenues; The Company may not be able to effectively 
manage its growth and operations, which could materially and adversely affect its business; The Company may be 
unable to adequately protect its proprietary and intellectual property rights; The Company may be forced to litigate 
to defend its intellectual property rights, or to defend against claims by third parties against the Company relating to 
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intellectual property rights; The Company may become subject to litigation, including for possible product liability 
claims, which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation, business, results from operations, and 
financial condition; Risks relating to information technology systems and cybersecurity; Risks relating to climate 
change; Risks associated with consumer trends; Market conditions; The Company relies heavily on sales of fresh 
produce and quality natural and organic products, and product supply disruptions may have an adverse effect on 
profitability and operating results; If the Company is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to 
compete effectively in the food ingredient market; The size of the Company’s target market is difficult to quantify, and 
investors will be reliant on their own estimates on the accuracy of market data; The Company’s industry is 
experiencing rapid growth and consolidation that may cause the Company to lose key relationships and intensify 
competition; The Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and 
consultants resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company; The Company will be reliant on 
information technology systems and may be subject to damaging cyberattacks; The Company’s officers and directors 
may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of interest; In certain circumstances, the 
Company’s reputation could be damaged; No guarantee on the use of available funds by the Company; Currency 
fluctuations and exchange rate risk; The Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, 
contractors and consultants resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company; Need for 
Additional Financing; If we have a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, investors 
could lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our 
securities; The Company cannot assure you that a market will continue to develop or exist for the Subordinate Voting 
Shares or what the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares will be; The market price for the Company’s shares 
may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond the 
Company’s control; The Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends; The Company expects to be subject to 
taxation in both Canada and the United States, which could have a material adverse effect on certain investors or on 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations; Future sales of Subordinate Voting Shares by existing 
shareholders could reduce the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares. 

For a detailed description of certain risk factors relating to the Subordinate Voting Shares, which should be carefully 
considered before making an investment decision, see “Risk Factors” for further details.  

Summary of Financial Information 

The Company  

The following table sets forth the selected financial information for the years ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020 
and for the three months ended August 31, 2021 has been derived from the Company Financial Statements, prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and attached as Schedule A to this Prospectus. The selected financial information should be 
read in conjunction with the Company MD&A and the Company Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this 
Prospectus.  

 For the three months 
ended  

(unaudited) 

August 31, 2021 

($) 

 

For the year ended 
May 31, 2021 

(audited) 
($) 

For the year ended May 
31, 2020 
(audited) 

($) 

Statement of Operations 
Data 

   

Total revenues $nil $nil $nil 

Total expenses 13,361 41,944 16,653 

Loss and comprehensive loss 13,361 41,944 16,653 

Net loss per share (basic and 
diluted) 

0.00 0.01 16,653 



 

LEGAL_36564979.19 16  
 

 For the three months 
ended  

(unaudited) 

August 31, 2021 

($) 

 

For the year ended 
May 31, 2021 

(audited) 
($) 

For the year ended May 
31, 2020 
(audited) 

($) 

    

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 11,600,089(1) 22,046 33,005 

Total assets 11,600,089(1) 22,046 33,005 

Current liabilities 11,622,883(1) 31,479 59,576 

Total liabilities 11,622,883(1) 31,479 59,576 

(1) Including US$8,984,823 cash held in escrow pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Financing, as converted 
to CAD$11,336,209 as at the date of the interim financial statements of the Company for the three months ended 
August 31, 2021.  
 
Fresh Factory 

The following table sets forth the selected financial information for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the six 
months ended June 30, 2021, has been derived from the Fresh Factory Financial Statements and accompanying notes 
thereto, prepared in accordance with IFRS and attached as Schedule C to this Prospectus. The selected financial 
information should be read in conjunction with the Fresh Factory MD&A and the Fresh Factory Financial Statements 
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

 For the year ended 
December 31, 2020 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the six months 
ended June 30, 

2021 
(US$) 

(unaudited) 

Statement of Operations Data    

Total revenues 8,269,620  6,849,237  6,095,630  

Cost of sales 6,412,290 5,749,718 4,854,685 

Total expenses 2,365,146    2,871,034 1,437,476  

Loss and comprehensive loss (937,819)  (2,093,504)  (1,352,971)  

Loss per share (basic and diluted) (0.39)  (0.87)  (0.56)  

    

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 1,889,513  1,242,215 2,631,461  

Total assets   5,839,343  3,887,356  6,614,016  

Current liabilities 4,812,412  1,998,837  6,980,692  

Total liabilities 6,836,727  3,946,921  8,964,371  
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Resulting Issuer 

The following table contains certain unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information for the Resulting Issuer 
as at and for the period ended August 31, 2021 and gives effect to completion of the Transaction as if it had occurred 
as of August 31, 2021. This information should be read together with the Pro Forma Financial Statements of the 
Company, attached as Schedule E, along with the Company Financial Statements and the Fresh Factory Financial 
Statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.   

 As at August 31, 2021 

(US $) 
(unaudited) 

Balance Sheet Data  

Current assets $13,888,005 

Total assets $17,870,560 

Current liabilities $1,836,104 

Total liabilities $3,819,783 

Deficit $(13,768,098) 
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CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Address and Incorporation of Company 

The Company was incorporated on October 2, 2018 under the BCBCA under the name “1181718 B.C. Ltd.” On 
October 27, 2021, the Company changed its name to “The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd.” in connection with the closing of 
the Transaction.  

The Company’s principal executive office is located at 238 Tubeway Drive, Carol Stream, IL 60188, USA, and 
registered address is located at Suite 2200, HSBC Building, 885 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3E8, 
Canada. 

Name, Address and Incorporation of Fresh Factory 

Fresh Factory was incorporated on December 14, 2017 as “Here Foods, PBC”, a public benefit corporation organized 
pursuant to the laws of the state of Delaware. Fresh Factory does business as “The Fresh Factory”.  

Fresh Factory’s head office is located at 238 Tubeway Drive, Carol Stream, IL 60188, USA, and registered address is 
located at Corporation Trust Center, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801, USA.  

Acquisition of Fresh Factory 

On August 16, 2021, the Company entered into the Merger Agreement and Plan of Reorganization Agreement among 
the Company, Fresh Factory and Subco (the “Merger Agreement”), pursuant to which, on November 5, 2021, Fresh 
Factory merged with and into Subco, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company (the “Transaction”). 

Prior to the effective time of the Transaction (the “Effective Time”), pursuant to the Merger Agreement, the Company 
completed a consolidation of the Common Shares (the “Consolidation”) on the basis of one new Common Share for 
each 3.404 outstanding Common Shares, and the Company altered its notice of articles to create the Subordinate 
Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares and to remove all other share classes (the “Change of Articles”). 

Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, prior to the Effective Time, the Company entered into an advisory 
agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) with Varshney Capital Corp. (“Varshney Corp.”), a corporation partially 
owned by Hari Varshney, a former director and officer of the Company, and Besar Xhelili, a director of the Resulting 
Issuer. Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement the Company issued 2,000,000 warrants exercisable to acquire one post-
Consolidation Common Share (or Subordinate Voting Share) at a price of US$1.00 per share until the date that is two 
years from the date of issuance (the “Performance Warrants”). 1,500,000 Performance Warrants were issued to 
Varshney Corp. and 500,000 Performance Warrants were issued to Besar Xhelili. Fifty-percent of such Performance 
Warrants shall become exercisable if/when the closing price of Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE is at or above 
US$2.00 for five consecutive trading days and the remaining 50% of such Performance Warrants shall become 
exercisable if/when the closing price of Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE is at or above US$3.00 for five 
consecutive trading days. 

Prior to the Effective Time, the US$4,423,535 aggregate principal amount of Fresh Factory Convertible Notes and 
interest accrued thereon were converted into 5,948,493 Fresh Factory Common Shares, and the 432,853 Fresh Factory 
Warrants issued and outstanding were exercised into 732,845 Fresh Factory Common Shares. Following such 
conversion and exercise, as applicable, the issued and outstanding Fresh Factory Common Shares were recapitalized, 
such that 36,423,536 Fresh Factory Shares were issued and outstanding at the Effective Time. 

At the Effective Time, holders of Fresh Factory Shares, in exchange for their Fresh Factory Shares, received Resulting 
Issuer Shares as follows: 

 each Fresh Factory Share held by the Applicable U.S. Shareholders issued and outstanding immediately prior 
to the Effective Time were exchanged by each holder thereof for approximately 364,195 fully paid non-
assessable Proportionate Voting Shares; and 
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 in the event that a fractional Proportionate Voting Share would have been issuable to a holder of a Fresh 
Factory Share, such holder received, in lieu of such Proportionate Voting Shares, fully paid and non-
assessable Subordinate Voting Shares at a ratio of 1:1, resulting in the issuance of approximately 4,035 
Subordinate Voting Shares. 

In connection with the Transaction, Fresh Factory Shareholders passed the Fresh Factory Merger Resolution on 
October 25, 2021 via majority written consent, and Company Shareholders passed the Company Merger Resolution 
on October 18, 2021 at the Company Meeting.  

Upon completion of the Transaction, former holders of Fresh Factory Shares received approximately 77.24% of the 
Resulting Issuer Shares (on an as converted to Subordinate Voting Shares basis) on a non-diluted basis (69.70% on a 
fully-diluted basis). 

The Transaction closed on November 5, 2021 (the “Closing Date”).  

Certain of the Resulting Issuer Shares are subject to escrow pursuant to the Escrow Agreement (defined herein). See 
“Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restrictions on Transfer”. 

Closing of the Transaction was subject to, among other things: (i) receipt of all required governmental, regulatory, 
shareholder/member and third party approvals necessary to complete the Transaction; (ii) the Subordinate Voting 
Shares being conditionally approved for listing on the CSE; (iii) all representations and warranties of each party under 
the Merger Agreement being true and correct as of closing; (iv) the Company entering into the Advisory Agreement; 
and (v) the restructuring of the Company’s board of directors and management and the approval of the respective 
boards of directors and shareholders, as applicable.  

As a result of the Transaction, Fresh Factory became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Resulting Issuer and the 
business of Fresh Factory became the business of the Resulting Issuer. The former Fresh Factory Shareholders own 
approximately 3.7% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares upon completion of the Transaction 
(excluding 8,984,823 Subordinate Voting Shares issued to former holders of the Subscription Receipts). See 
“Consolidated Capitalization - Fully Diluted Share Capital.” 

Intercorporate Relationships 

Before completion of the Transaction, the Company did not have any inter-corporate relationships. The following 
diagram summarizes the structure of the entities upon completion of the Transaction. See “Acquisition of Fresh 
Factory”.  
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GENERAL DEVELOPMENT OF THE BUSINESS  

Before the acquisition of Fresh Factory, the Company had no active business. Accordingly, the business discussion 
set forth below relates to the business of Fresh Factory, which, upon closing of the Transaction, became the business 
of the Company. 

History 

The Company 

Prior to the Completion of the Transaction, the Company had no active business and was incorporated on October 2, 
2018 under the BCBCA for purpose of undergoing a qualifying transaction to become a reporting issuer and to list on 
a Canadian stock exchange. See “Description of the Business”. 

Prior to the completion of the Transaction, management of the Company consisted of Hari Varshney, President, 
Treasurer, Secretary and director, Peeyush Varshney, director of the Company and Satnam Brar, director of the 
Company. 

 On June 16, 2020, the Company issued 5,026,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.005 per Common Share 
as part of a private placement financing for aggregate proceeds of $25,130. 

 On June 19, 2020, the Company issued 420,000 Common Shares at a price of $0.02 per Common Share as 
part of a private placement financing for aggregate proceeds of $8,400. 

 On July 6, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 511,000 special warrants at a 
price of $0.05 per special warrant for aggregate gross proceeds of $25,550, each exercisable into one 
Common Share at no additional consideration (the “Special Warrants”). On November 17, 2020, the Special 
Warrants were deemed exercised into Common Shares, such that 511,000 Common Shares were issued. 

 On July 23, 2021, and August 5, 2021 the Company issued a total of 8,984,823 subscription receipts (the 
“Subscription Receipts”) pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Offering for aggregate proceeds of 
US$8,984,823 (the “Subscription Receipt Offering”). Each Subscription Receipt is automatically 
convertible into one post-Consolidation Common Share (or Subordinate Voting Share upon completion of 
the Change of Articles) for no additional consideration in accordance with their terms upon satisfaction of 
the Subscription Receipt Offering Escrow Release Conditions. In connection with the Subscription Receipt 
Offering, the Company paid eligible arm’s length finders’ an aggregate of US$118,580 and issued an 
aggregate of 118,580 finder’s warrants (“Finder’s Warrants”). Each Finder’s Warrant entitles the holder to 
acquire one post-Consolidation Common Share at a price of US$1.00 per share until one year from the date 
of issuance. In connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering, the Company also agreed to issue 127,245 
post-Consolidation common shares to an eligible arm’s length finder (the “Finder’s Shares”). The gross 
proceeds raised in connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering, were deposited on the closing date into 
escrow with an escrow agent (the “Subscription Receipt Agent”) in an interest-bearing account, pending 
the satisfaction of the Subscription Receipt Offering Escrow Release Conditions. 

Fresh Factory 

Fresh Factory was incorporated on December 14, 2017 as “Here Foods, PBC”, a public benefit corporation organized 
pursuant to the laws of the state of Delaware. Since that date, it has pursued the activities described below. At the time 
of formation Fresh Factory had three fully owned subsidiaries: 87P LLC, Made Here LLC, and Element Creations 
LLC. On March 9, 2020 Here Foods, PBC was renamed to The Fresh Factory, PBC to emphasize Fresh Factory’s 
focus on fresh food. 

 In December, 2017, in connection with the formation of Fresh Factory, Fresh Factory, Made Holdings, LLC, 
Here Foods Investors, LLC, MadeHere, LLC, and 87P, LLC underwent a restructuring pursuant to which (i) 
MadeHere, LLC and 87P, LLC became wholly-owned subsidiaries of Fresh Factory, (ii) Fresh Factory issued 
3,895,659 Fresh Factory Series Seed Preferred Shares to Made Holdings, LLC, and (iii) Fresh Factory issued 
11,271,490 Fresh Factory Series A Preferred Shares to Here Foods Investors, LLC at an effective price of 
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US$0.8491 per Series A Preferred Share as part of a private placement financing for aggregate proceeds of 
US$9,570,963. 

 Fresh Factory issued 432,853 warrants to certain investors in 2018 with an aggregate fair value of US$1,102. 
The warrants have an exercise price of US$0.01 per Fresh Factory Common Share and expire in 2027. 

 Between May 2019 and August 2021, Fresh Factory issued an aggregate principal amount of US$4,000,000 
in Fresh Factory Convertible Notes as part of a private placement financing raising aggregate proceeds of 
$4,000,000. The expectation is that Fresh Factory and the noteholders will voluntarily agree to convert all 
the Fresh Factory Convertible Notes into Fresh Factory Common Shares immediately prior to the Effective 
Date at US$0.80 (which respects the 20% discount provided for in the Fresh Factory Convertible Notes).   

 On April 30, 2020, Fresh Factory formed The Clean Factory LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company, as 
a wholly owned sub in order to sell bottled sanitizer products during the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 On March 16, 2021, Fresh Factory formed Healthy Bars LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company, as a 
wholly owned sub in order to purchase assets related to the production of snack bars. 

 On August 2, 2021, Fresh Factory purchased the assets from Healthful Habits, LLC including a production 
line to produce snack bars and various ingredients and packaging for US$533,240 in cash, the assumption of 
lease liabilities (among other obligations) of approximately US$160,000 and the issuance of a 
US$423,535.56 aggregate amount principal note that is convertible into 423,535 Fresh Factory Common 
Shares. The financials for Healthful Habits, LLC were unaudited. 

 Prior to the completion of the Transaction, there were 2,399,998 Fresh Factory Common Shares that were 
issued and outstanding held by 20 shareholders comprised of founders and team members. 

DESCRIPTION OF THE BUSINESS 

General 

The business of the Resulting Issuer is the business of Fresh Factory. Fresh Factory operates as a vertically integrated 
fresh and plant-based food and beverage company. Fresh Factory’s headquarters and main manufacturing facility is 
located in Carol Stream, Illinois. 

 

Principal Products and Services  

 Cold-Pressed Juice — Fresh Factory presses and bottles cold-pressed juice for several companies and for its 
own brand.  

 Other Beverages — Fresh Factory manufacturers beverages including cold-brew teas, shakes and smoothies, 
and speciality beverages for several companies.  

 Dips and Spreads — Fresh Factory manufacturers various dips and spreads for several companies and for its 
own brand.  

 Dressings and Sauces — Fresh Factory manufacturers various dressings and sauces for several companies 
and for its own brand.  

 Snack Bars — Fresh Factory manufacturers various snack bars for several companies.  

Manufacturing and Packaging Processes 

 Bottling Line — Fresh Factory has various bottling lines that allow it to produce cold-pressed juice and other 
bottled products.  Fresh Factory can fill both plastic and glass containers.  
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 Cup Line — Fresh Factory has various filling capabilities for the production of dips and spreads that are 
filled in cups including both hot-fill and cold-fill capabilities. 

 Bars — Fresh Factory has a bar line that allows for the production of snack bars that are packaged in sleeves.  

 

 

Distribution Methods 

Products are distributed through a network of distributors throughout the US. Partner brands (manufacturing 
customers) often choose to pick-up the product at The Fresh Factory facility, or Fresh Factory coordinates shipping 
across the continental US.  

Marketing and Brand Strategies 

Fresh Factory employees an innovation team whose responsibility is to identify and work with leading brands. The 
team works with these brands on a consulting basis helping them to formulate and develop their products and then 
often performs several trials to test the process before ultimately onboarding them as customers. 

Fresh Factory owns two brands Field + Farmer (dips, dressing, and juice) and Element Pressed (juice). Fresh Factory 
employs a sales and marketing team that sells these products online and through retailers across the US.  

Manufacturing Facility  

Fresh Factory runs a 44,313 square foot manufacturing facility located in Carol Stream, IL. The facility serves as the 
manufacturing and distribution operations for all its activities. The facility consists of refrigerated production space, 
a number of docks, and frozen, refrigerated, and dry storage of ingredients and finished products. The facility is leased 
through January 31, 2026. 
 

Licenses 

Fresh Factory maintains a number of certifications and licenses including USDA Organic, Gluten-Free, Kosher, and 
non-GMO.  Fresh Factory undergoes annual certification audits with our USDA Organic certifying body and the 
Gluten Intolerance Group (GIG). Additionally, Fresh Factory elects to be SQF (Safe Quality Foods) certified on an 
annual basis.  Fresh Factory has achieved a score of 98 or higher for each of the last five years for its SQF 
Manufacturing and Quality (Level III) audit. 
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Social and Environmental Policies 

Fresh Factory has elected to implement a number of social and environmental policies including composting 100% of 
its produce waste and donating any extra produce or products. Last year we donated 1% of sales from the Field and 
Farmer brand, and sourcing produce seconds when available (over 1.2M pounds in 2020). Additionally, Fresh Factory 
buys locally whenever possible with over 40% of its ingredients coming from local farms (as defined within 500 miles 
of the facility). Fresh Factory, as of year-end 2020, employs a diverse team with 42% identifying as women and 60% 
identifying as a person of color. Fresh Factory has increased its average hourly wage by over 10% each of the last two 
years.  
 

Competition 

General 

There is potential that the Company will face intense competition from other companies, some of which can be 
expected to have longer operating histories and more financial resources and production and marketing experience 
than the Company. Competitor Comparison  

Based on management’s knowledge of the active companies in the plant-based food manufacturing industry, the 
Company is of the view that the following businesses could potentially compete with Fresh Factory in its market.  

Competitor Description of Business Operations Location 

Danone S.A. Danone S.A is a multinational food-products company 
based in Paris, France. The company has significant 
operations in the US and has been particularly active in the 
plant-based food market having recently acquired Follow 
Your Heart. Danone is also an active investor in other early 
stage better-for-you and plant-based food brands in the US. 

Operates globally 

T. Marzetti 
Company 

T. Marzetti is owned by Lancaster Corporation who 
produces and markets consumer products with a focus on 
specialty food products for the retail and foodservice 
markets. The company is active in the dressing, dips, and 
fresh-food markets selling under its Marzetti branded 
products. 

Operates in the US 

Employees, Specialized Skills and Knowledge 

As of the date hereof, the Company has 50 full-time employees, exclusive of management. The Company also relies 
on part-time consultants and contractors to conduct its operations. The operations of the Company are managed by its 
directors and officers.  

The nature of the Company’s business requires specialized knowledge and technical skill around the harvesting, 
production, and regulations of plant-based food manufacturing and distribution. The required skills and knowledge to 
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succeed in this industry are available to the Company through certain members of the Company’s management, 
directors, officers, and advisory teams. 

Intellectual Property 

Trademarks  

Fresh Factory’s products are marketed under several trademarks owned or licensed by Fresh Factory or one of its 
subsidiaries. The Fresh Factory’s major registered trademarks used in the United States are listed below. 

Trademark Goods/Services Registrant Registration 
Number 

Registration 
Date 

Field + Farmer Food and Beverage MadeHere, 
LLC DBA 

Here Limited 
Liability 
Company 

 
6102929 

July 14, 2020 

Plant Party Food and Beverage MadeHere, 
LLC DBA 

Here Limited 
Liability 
Company 

6103198 July 14, 2020 

 
These two trademarks consist of standard characters without claim to any particular font style, size, or color. 

Future Developments 

General 

Fresh Factory will continue to innovate within the fresh and plant-based foods industry both through brands they own 
and emerging brands they work with. Fresh Factory will look to increase distribution and launch new products for the 
brands they own. Additionally, Fresh Factory will continue to partner with emerging brands and provide services to 
them including manufacturing and formulation. Fresh Factory anticipates expanding its operations and manufacturing 
facilities to increase capacity and lower costs through automation. Fresh Factory will also evaluate new technologies 
which may be utilized in Fresh Factory’s facility in the future. Fresh Factory intends to make a serious of capital 
investments to expand capacity and to increase investment in sale and marketing to drive customer growth. See 
“Business Objectives and Milestones”. 

Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures 

Neither the Company nor Fresh Factory has been involved in any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings or 
any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings since incorporation or completed during or proposed 
for the current financial year. 

 

USE OF AVAILABLE FUNDS  

Proceeds 

No proceeds will be raised, as no securities are being sold pursuant to this Prospectus. 
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Funds Available 

The gross proceeds paid to the Company from the sale of the Subscription Receipts pursuant to the Subscription 
Receipt Offering was US$8,984,823.00. As of October 31, 2021, the Resulting Issuer had working capital of 
approximately US$637,870 on a pro forma basis, giving effect to the Transaction and the Subscription Receipt 
Offering.  

The Resulting Issuer has used, or intends to use, the net proceeds of the Subscription Receipt Offering and its other 
available funds as follows:  

Item Funds Allocated 

Funds Available  

Working Capital of the Resulting Issuer as of October 31, 2021(1) US$9,622,693 

  

Total Available Funds US$9,622,693 

  

Principal Purposes for the Available Funds  

Capital Investments to Expand Capacity(2) US$3,500,000 

Sales & Marketing to drive Customer Growth(3) US$1,500,000 

General and administrative costs for 12 months(4) US$3,125,000 

Expenses related to completion of the Transaction(5) US$834,343 

  

Unallocated working capital US$663,350 

Total US$9,622,693 

 
Notes: 
(1) Includes the net funds received by the Company from the Subscription Receipt Offering. 
(2) The US$3,500,000 budget for Capital Investments to Expand Capacity includes US$2,200,000 for a high-pressure 

pasteurization (HPP) machine, US$500,000 in equipment related to increasing throughput and capacity on the company’s 
bottle and cup lines, and US$800,000 to build out a new facility including HVAC equipment, racking, and other associated 
build-out costs.  See “Business Objective and Milestones” for more information. 

(3) The US$1,500,000 budget for Sales & Marketing to drive Customer Growth includes US$500,000 of investment in the 
Company’s Field + Farmer and Element Pressed brands to be spent on hiring additional external marketing resources to drive 
social engagement across various channels and increase trade related spending in the form of sales and promotions. In addition, 
the budget includes US$1,000,000 to establish an accelerator program to work with emerging food brands, and will be used 
to hire a full time manager and invest in a number of emerging brands that participate in the program. See “Business Objective 
and Milestones” for more information. 

(4) General and administrative costs are broken down as follows:  
Item $USD 
Professional Services 100,000 
Audit and Public Expenses 150,000 
Compensation* 1,298,000 
Other 1,577,000 
Total  3,125,000 

 
* represents all salaries and wages paid for the calendar year and is inclusive of US$631,751.28 of compensation paid to 
Management and Directors as outlined in “Executive Compensation - Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, 
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Excluding Compensation Securities” below. Specifically, it includes US$90,000 to Nathan Laurell, US $159,937,44 to Jeremy 
Schupp, US$175,875.64 to Bill Besenhofer, and US$205,938.20 to Isabella Chia. The remaining balance of US$666,248.72 
is salary, benefits, and employment costs for all employees, exclusive of hourly wages and associated benefits which is 
captured in the cost of sales.  The US$1,577,000 of other expenses is broken down between US$369,842 in Sales and 
Marketing (exclusive of salaries and benefits), US$27,552 in Rent and Utilities (exclusive of facility rent), US$674,400 in 
Depreciation and Amortization (related to various leases), and US$505,206 in Other Administrative (including legal, software, 
and all other operations costs of the company). The annual “burn rate” as defined by Adjusted EBITDA plus lease liabilities 
and interest for the six months ending June 30, 2021 and for the 12 months ending December 31, 2021 are set out below. 
 

6 MONTH ENDING JUNE 30th 2021 ($USD) 
   
Loss for the period ($1,352,971)  
Interest expense $145,165  
Depreciation and amortization $337,200  
EBITDA ($870,606)  
Change in fair value of derivative liability $861,034  
Adjusted EBITDA ($9,572)  
   
   
Lease liabilities ($242,744)  
Interest paid ($35,253)  
“burn rate” ($287,569)  
Jun 21 annualized “burn rate” $575,138  
   
12 MONTH ENDING DECEMBER 31st 2020 
   
Loss for the period ($937,819)  
Interest expense $255,238  
Depreciation and amortization $656,369  
EBITDA ($26,212)  
Change in fair value of derivative liability $13,110  
Adjusted EBITDA ($13,102)  
   
   
Lease liabilities ($578,409)  
Interest paid ($87,048)  
Dec 20 annual “burn rate” $678,559  
   

 
Fresh Factory has reserved 12-months of General and Administrative expenses in cash to address any potential, unforeseen 
expenditures that may arise following the completion of the Transaction and the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares. 
Given the additional costs associated with being a reporting issuer, management of Fresh Factory believes this amount 
represents a reasonable allocation.  

(5) Includes legal, accounting, and regulatory fees. 
 
The Company has a negative operating cash flow for the year ended May 31, 2021. The Company has allocated a 
certain percentage of the proceeds from the Subscription Receipt Offering to fund negative cash flow from its most 
recently completed financial year.   To the extent that the Company has negative operating cash flow in future periods, 
it may need to allocate a portion of its cash reserves to fund such negative cash flow. The Company may also be 
required to raise additional funds through the issuance of equity or debt securities. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to generate a positive cash flow from its operations, that additional capital or other types of 
financing will be available when needed or that these financings will be on terms favourable to the Company (see 
“Risk Factors – the Company has negative cash flow for the year ended May 31, 2021”).  

The Company intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be circumstances 
however, where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Accordingly, while it is 
currently intended by management that the available funds will be expended as set forth above, actual expenditures 
may in fact differ from these amounts and allocations (see “Risk Factors”). 
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Business Objectives and Milestones 

The Company’s primary business objectives and milestones over the next 12 months are the following: 

Objectives Timeline Expected Cost 

Capital Investments to Expand 
Capacity 

 

18 Months $3,500,000 

Sales & Marketing to drive 
Customer Growth 
 

12 Months $1,500,000 

 
Capital Investments to Expand Capacity 
The Resulting Issuer expects to significantly increase its capacity through the purchase of additional manufacturing 
equipment including a $2,200,000 investment in a high-pressure pasteurization (HPP) machine and $500,000 in 
equipment related to increasing throughput and capacity of the company’s bottle and cup lines. The Resulting Issuer 
expects to invest $800,000 in HVAC equipment, racking, and other related build out costs for a new facility The 
Resulting Issuer expects to execute a lease for a new facility (expanding from approximately 50,000 square feet to 
100,000 square feet) by calendar year 2022.  In total, the Resulting Issuer expects to invest $3,500,000 to expand 
capacity through the acquisition of new equipment and the build-out of a new facility by the end of calendar year 
2022. 
 
Sales & Marketing to Drive Customer Growth 
The Resulting Issuer expects to invest significantly in brands they own and will take the form of marketing and sales 
expenses that may include promotion, demos, and digital advertising. The Resulting Issuer expects to invest $500,000 
into the Company’s Field + Farmer and Element Pressed brands over the next 18 months.  The investment is expected 
to take the form of hiring additional marketing resources to drive social engagement across various channels and 
increase trade related spending in the form of sales and promotions.  In addition, the Resulting Issuer intends to launch 
an accelerator program to support and invest in emerging food and beverage brands.  The Resulting Issuer intends to 
invest $1,000,000 into the accelerator program and will hire a full-time manager by the end of 2021.  The investment 
will take the form of investments in various emerging food & beverage brands that it works with in the 
accelerator.  The accelerator is expected to launch by the spring of 2022 and the Resulting Issuer expects to work with 
3-5 brands a year.    

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS  

The Company has not, since its inception, declared or paid any dividends on its Common Shares. The declaration of 
dividends on the Subordinate Voting Shares is within the discretion of the Board and will depend on the assessment 
of, among other factors, capital requirements, earnings, and the operating and financial condition of the Resulting 
Issuer. At the present time, the Resulting Issuer’s anticipated capital requirements are such that the Resulting Issuer 
intends to follow a policy of retaining all available funds and any future earnings in order to finance technology 
advancement, business development and corporate growth. The Company and the Resulting Issuer do not intend to 
declare or pay cash dividends on the Subordinate Voting Shares within the foreseeable future. See “Risk Factors”. 

 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

The Company 

The following table sets forth the selected financial information for the years ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2020 
and for the three months ended August 31, 2021 has been derived from the Company Financial Statements, prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and attached as Schedule A to this Prospectus. The selected financial information should be 
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read in conjunction with the Company MD&A and the Company Financial Statements contained elsewhere in this 
Prospectus.  

 For the three months 
ended  

(unaudited) 

August 31, 2021 

($) 

 

For the year ended 
May 31, 2021 

(audited) 
($) 

For the year ended May 
31, 2020 
(audited) 

($) 

Statement of Operations 
Data 

   

Total revenues $nil $nil $nil 

Total expenses 13,361 41,944 16,653 

Loss and comprehensive loss 13,361 41,944 16,653 

Net loss per share (basic and 
diluted) 

0.00 0.01 16,653 

    

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 11,600,089(1) 22,046 33,005 

Total assets 11,600,089(1) 22,046 33,005 

Current liabilities 11,622,883(1) 31,479 59,575 

Total liabilities 11,622,883(1) 31,479 59,575 

(1) Including US$8,984,823 cash held in escrow pursuant to the Subscription Receipt Financing, as converted 
to CAD$11,336,209 as at the date of the interim financial statements of the Company for the three months ended 
August 31, 2021.  
 

Fresh Factory  

The following table sets forth the selected financial information for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the six 
months ended June 30, 2021 has been derived from the Fresh Factory Financial Statements and accompanying notes 
thereto, prepared in accordance with IFRS and attached as Schedule C to this Prospectus. The selected financial 
information should be read in conjunction with the Fresh Factory MD&A and the Fresh Factory Financial Statements 
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.  

 For the year ended 
December 31, 2020 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the six 
months ended 
June 30, 2021 

(US$) 
(unaudited) 

Statement of Operations Data    

Total revenues 8,269,620  6,849,237  6,095,630  

Cost of sales 6,412,290 5,749,718 4,854,685 

Total expenses 2,365,146    2,871,034 1,437,476  
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 For the year ended 
December 31, 2020 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the year ended 
December 31, 2019 

(US$) 
(audited) 

For the six 
months ended 
June 30, 2021 

(US$) 
(unaudited) 

Loss and comprehensive loss (937,819)  (2,093,504)  (1,352,971)  

Loss per share (basic and diluted) (0.39)  (0.87)  (0.56)  

    

Balance Sheet Data    

Current assets 1,889,513  1,242,215 2,631,461  

Total assets   5,839,343  3,887,356  6,614,016  

Current liabilities 4,812,412  1,998,837  6,980,692  

Total liabilities 6,836,727  3,946,921  8,964,371  

 

Resulting Issuer 

The following table contains certain unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information for the Resulting Issuer 
as at and for the period ended August 31, 2021 and gives effect to completion of the Transaction as if it had occurred 
as of August 31, 2021. This information should be read together with the Pro Forma Financial Statements of the 
Company, attached as Schedule E, along with the Company Financial Statements and the Fresh Factory Financial 
Statements contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.   

 As at August 31, 2021 

(US$) 
(unaudited) 

Balance Sheet Data  

Current assets $13,888,005 

Total assets $17,870,560 

Current liabilities $1,836,104 

Total liabilities $3,819,783 

Deficit $(13,768,098) 

 
 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  

The Company 

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis for the Company is attached to this Prospectus as Schedule B. The 
Company’s MD&A provides an analysis of the Company’s financial results for the years ended May 31, 2021 and 
May 31, 2020, which should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company for the corresponding 
periods, and the notes thereto respectively. 

Certain information included in the Company’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking and based 
upon assumptions and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 
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materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those 
expected. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further details.  

Fresh Factory  

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis for Fresh Factory is attached to this Prospectus as Schedule D. Fresh 
Factory’s MD&A provides an analysis of Fresh Factory’s financial results for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 
the six months ended June 30, 2021, which should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of Fresh Factory 
for the corresponding period, and the notes thereto respectively. 

Certain information included in Fresh Factory’s Management’s Discussion and Analysis is forward-looking and based 
upon assumptions and anticipated results that are subject to uncertainties. Should one or more of these uncertainties 
materialize or should the underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary significantly from those 
expected. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for further details.  

 

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL  

The Company 

Prior to the Completion of the Transaction, the Company was authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common 
Shares without par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares (“Preferred Shares”) without par value. Prior 
to the Consolidation and the Change of Articles, there were 5,957,000 Common Shares and no Preferred Shares issued 
and outstanding. 

 

Resulting Issuer 

Immediately prior to closing of the Transaction, and pursuant to the Company Merger Resolution, the Company 
completed the Change of Articles to redesignate the Common Shares as Subordinate Voting Shares and create the 
Proportionate Voting Shares, and to remove the Common Shares and Preferred Shares as authorized share classes. 
The Proportionate Voting Shares will not be listed on the CSE and will be held by Applicable U.S. Shareholders. 

 

Subordinate Voting Shares 

Each post-Consolidation Common Share was reclassified into one Subordinate Voting Share (“Subordinate Voting 
Shares”). Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares are entitled to notice of and to attend at any meeting of the 
shareholders of the Resulting Issuer, except a meeting of which only holders of another particular class or series of 
shares of the Resulting Issuer will have the right to vote. At each such meeting, holders of Subordinate Voting Shares 
will be entitled to one vote in respect of each Subordinate Voting Share held. 

As long as any Subordinate Voting Shares remain outstanding, the Resulting Issuer will not, without the consent of 
the holders of the Subordinate Voting Shares by separate special resolution, prejudice or interfere with any right 
attached to the Subordinate Voting Shares. 

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will not be entitled to a right of first refusal to subscribe for, purchase or receive 
any part of any issue of Subordinate Voting Shares, or bonds, debentures or other securities of the Resulting Issuer. 

Holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive, as and when declared by the directors of the Resulting 
Issuer, dividends in cash or property of the Resulting Issuer. No dividend will be declared or paid on the Subordinate 
Voting Shares unless the Resulting Issuer simultaneously declares or pays, as applicable, equivalent dividends (on an 
as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share basis) on the Proportionate Voting Shares. 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Resulting Issuer, whether voluntary or involuntary, or 
in the event of any other distribution of assets of the Resulting Issuer among its shareholders for the purpose of winding 
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up its affairs, the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares will, subject to the prior rights of the holders of any shares of 
the Resulting Issuer ranking in priority to the Subordinate Voting Shares, be entitled to participate rateably along with 
all other holders of Proportionate Voting Shares (on an as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share basis) and 
Subordinate Voting Shares. 

No subdivision or consolidation of the Subordinate Voting Shares shall occur unless, simultaneously, the Subordinate 
Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares are subdivided or consolidated in the same manner, so as to maintain 
and preserve the relative rights of the holders of the shares of each of the said classes. 

In the event that an offer is made to purchase Proportionate Voting Shares: 

1) if there is a published market for the Proportionate Voting Shares, and the offer is one which is required to 
be made to all or substantially all of the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares in a province or territory of 
Canada to which the requirement applies pursuant to (i) applicable securities laws or (ii) the rules of any 
stock exchange on which the Proportionate Voting Shares of the Resulting Issuer are listed, unless an 
identical offer concurrently is made to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares; or 

2) if the Proportionate Voting Shares are not then listed, and the offer is one which would have been required 
to be made to all or substantially all the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares in a province or territory of 
Canada pursuant to (i) applicable securities laws or (ii) the rules of any stock exchange had the Proportionate 
Voting Shares been listed, then each Subordinate Voting Share shall become convertible at the option of the 
holder into Proportionate Voting Shares at the inverse of the Conversion Ratio (as defined below) then in 
effect at any time while the offer is in effect until one day after the time prescribed by applicable securities 
legislation for the offeror to take up and pay for such shares as are to be acquired pursuant to the offer. The 
conversion right may only be exercised in respect of Subordinate Voting Shares for the purpose of depositing 
the resulting Proportionate Voting Shares under the offer, and for no other reason. In such event, the Resulting 
Issuer shall deposit or shall cause its transfer agent to deposit under the offer the resulting Proportionate 
Voting Shares, on behalf of the holder. Should the Proportionate Voting Shares issued upon conversion and 
tendered in response to the offer be withdrawn by shareholders or not taken up by the offeror, or should the 
offer be abandoned, withdrawn or terminated by the offeror or the offer otherwise expires without such 
Proportionate Voting Shares being taken up and paid for, the Proportionate Voting Shares resulting from the 
conversion shall be reconverted into Subordinate Voting Shares at the Conversion Ratio then in effect, and 
the Resulting Issuer shall send or cause the transfer agent to send to the holder a share certificate or 
acknowledgement representing the Subordinate Voting Shares. 

Proportionate Voting Shares 

Holders of Proportionate Voting Shares will be entitled to notice of and to attend at any meeting of the shareholders 
of the Resulting Issuer, except a meeting of which only holders of another particular class or series of shares of the 
Resulting Issuer will have the right to vote. At each such meeting, holders of Proportionate Voting Shares will be 
entitled to one vote in respect of each Subordinate Voting Share into which such Proportionate Voting Share could be 
converted as of the record date (initially 100 votes per Proportionate Voting Share). 

As long as any Proportionate Voting Shares remain outstanding, the Resulting Issuer will not, without the consent of 
the holders of the Proportionate Voting Shares by separate special resolution, prejudice or interfere with any right 
attached to the Proportionate Voting Shares. Consent of the holders of a majority of the outstanding Proportionate 
Voting Shares by separate ordinary resolution shall be required for any action that authorizes or creates shares of any 
class having preferences superior to or on a parity with the Proportionate Voting Shares. 

Holders of Proportionate Voting Shares will not be entitled to a right of first refusal to subscribe for, purchase or 
receive any part of any issue of Subordinate Voting Shares, Proportionate Voting Shares, or bonds, debentures or other 
securities of the Resulting Issuer. 

The holders of the Proportionate Voting Shares will be entitled to receive such dividends, out of any cash or other 
assets of the Resulting Issuer legally available therefor, pari passu (on an as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share 
basis, assuming conversion of all Proportionate Voting Shares into Subordinate Voting Shares at the Conversion Ratio 
as of the record date fixed for the determination of the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares entitled to receive such 
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dividend) as to dividends and any declaration or payment of any dividend on the Subordinate Voting Shares. No 
dividend will be declared or paid on the Proportionate Voting Shares unless the Resulting Issuer simultaneously 
declares or pays, as applicable, equivalent dividends (on an as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share basis) on the 
Subordinate Voting Shares. 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Resulting Issuer, whether voluntary or involuntary, or 
in the event of any other distribution of assets of the Resulting Issuer among its shareholders for the purpose of winding 
up its affairs, the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares will, subject to the prior rights of the holders of any shares 
of the Resulting Issuer ranking in priority to the Proportionate Voting Shares, be entitled to participate rateably along 
with all other holders of Proportionate Voting Shares (on an as-converted to Subordinate Voting Share basis) and 
Subordinate Voting Shares. 

No subdivision or consolidation of the Subordinate Voting Shares or Proportionate Voting Shares shall occur unless, 
simultaneously, the Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares are subdivided or consolidated in the 
same manner, so as to maintain and preserve the relative rights of the holders of the shares of each of the said classes. 

The Proportionate Voting Shares will not be transferrable except: (i) to (A) an initial holder of Proportionate Voting 
Shares, (B) in respect of a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares that is an individual, the Members of Immediate 
Family of such individual and any person controlled, directly or indirectly, by any such holder an affiliate or person 
controlled, directly or indirectly, and (C) in respect of a holder of Proportionate Voting Shares that is not an individual, 
an affiliate of that holder or the Members of the Immediate Family of the individual that controls such holder (each, a 
“Permitted Holder”); and (ii) in compliance with U.S. securities laws. Subject to the conversion limitation described 
below, any Proportionate Voting Shares sold or transferred to a person who is not a Permitted Holder shall be 
automatically converted to Subordinate Voting Shares, unless otherwise determined by the directors. 

Each Proportionate Voting Share shall have a restricted right to convert into 100 Subordinate Voting Shares (the 
“Conversion Ratio”), subject to adjustments for certain customary corporate changes. The ability to convert the 
Proportionate Voting Shares is subject to a restriction that the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares and 
Proportionate Voting Shares held of record, directly or indirectly, by residents of the United States (as determined in 
accordance with Rules 3b-4 and 12g3-2(a) under the U.S. Exchange Act), may not exceed forty percent (40%) of the 
aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares issued and outstanding after giving 
effect to such conversions and to a restriction on beneficial ownership of Subordinate Voting Shares exceeding certain 
levels (See Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation below). In addition, the Proportionate Voting Shares will 
automatically convert into Subordinate Voting Shares in certain circumstances, including upon the registration of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares under the U.S. Securities Act. 

In the event that an offer is made to purchase Subordinate Voting Shares: 

1) if there is a published market for the Subordinate Voting Shares, and the offer is one which is required to be 
made to all or substantially all the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares in a province or territory of Canada 
pursuant to (i) applicable securities legislation or (ii) the rules of a stock exchange on which the Subordinate 
Voting Shares are then listed, unless an identical offer concurrently is made to purchase Proportionate Voting 
Shares; or 

2) if the Subordinate Voting Shares are not then listed, and the offer is one which would have been required to 
be made to all or substantially all the holders of Subordinate Voting Shares in a province or territory of 
Canada pursuant to (i) applicable securities legislation or (ii) the rules of a stock exchange had the 
Subordinate Voting Shares been listed, then each Proportionate Voting Share shall become convertible at the 
option of the holder into Subordinate Voting Shares at the Conversion Ratio then in effect, at any time while 
the offer is in effect until one day after the time prescribed by applicable securities legislation for the offeror 
to take up and pay for such shares as are to be acquired pursuant to the offer. The conversion right may be 
exercised in respect of Proportionate Voting Shares for the purpose of depositing the resulting Proportionate 
Voting Shares pursuant to the offer. Should the Subordinate Voting Shares issued upon conversion and 
tendered in response to the offer be withdrawn by shareholders or not taken up by the offeror, or should the 
offer be abandoned or withdrawn, the Subordinate Voting Shares resulting from the conversion shall be 
automatically reconverted, without further intervention on the part of the Resulting Issuer or on the part of 
the holder, into Proportionate Voting Shares at the inverse of the Conversion Ratio then in effect. 
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Foreign Private Issuer Protection Limitation 

The Resulting Issuer will use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain its status as a “foreign private issuer” (as 
determined in accordance with Rule 3b-4 under the U.S. Exchange Act. Accordingly, the Resulting Issuer shall not 
effect any conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares, and the holders of Proportionate Voting Shares shall not have 
the right to convert any portion of the Proportionate Voting Shares to the extent that after giving effect to all permitted 
issuances after such conversions of Proportionate Voting Shares, the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares 
and Proportionate Voting Shares held of record, directly or indirectly, by residents of the United States (as determined 
in accordance with Rules 3b-4 and 12g3-2(a) under the U.S. Exchange Act (“U.S. Residents”)) would exceed forty 
percent (40%) (the “40% Threshold”) of the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate 
Voting Shares issued and outstanding after giving effect to such conversions (the “FPI Protective Restriction”). The 
Board may by resolution increase the 40% Threshold to an amount not to exceed 50% and in the event of any such 
increase all references to the 40% Threshold herein, shall refer instead to the amended threshold set by such resolution. 

In order to effect the FPI Protective Restriction, each holder of Proportionate Voting Shares will be subject to the 40% 
Threshold based on the number of Proportionate Voting Shares held by such holder as of the date of the initial issuance 
of the Proportionate Voting Shares and thereafter at the end of each of the Resulting Issuer's subsequent fiscal quarters 
(each, a “Determination Date”), calculated as follows: 

X = (A x 100) - B x (C/D) 

Where on the Determination Date: 

X = Maximum Number of Subordinate Voting Shares available for issue upon conversion of Proportionate 
Voting Shares by a holder. 

A = The Number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares issued and outstanding on 
the Determination Date. 

B = Aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares held of record, 
directly or indirectly, by U.S. Residents on the Determination Date. 

C = Aggregate number of Proportionate Voting Shares held by holder on the Determination Date. 

D = Aggregate number of all Proportionate Voting Shares on the Determination Date. 

For purposes of these limitations, the Board of Directors (or a committee thereof) shall designate an officer of the 
Resulting Issuer to determine as of each Determination Date: (A) the 40% Threshold and (B) the FPI Protective 
Restriction. Within thirty (30) days of the end of each Determination Date (a “Notice of Conversion Limitation”), 
the Resulting Issuer shall provide each holder of record a notice of the FPI Protective Restriction and the impact the 
FPI Protective Restrictive has on the ability of each holder to exercise the right to convert Proportionate Voting Shares 
held by the holder. To the extent that requests for conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares subject to the FPI 
Protective Restriction would result in the 40% Threshold being exceeded, the number of such Proportionate Voting 
Shares eligible for conversion held by a particular holder shall be prorated relative to the number of Proportionate 
Voting Shares submitted for conversion. To the extent that the FPI Protective Restriction applies, the determination 
of whether Proportionate Voting Shares are convertible shall be in the sole discretion of the Resulting Issuer. 

Restricted Securities 

Upon completion of the Transaction, the Resulting Issuer’s share capital consists of two classes of issued and 
outstanding shares: Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares. Generally, the Subordinate Voting 
Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares have the same rights, are equal in all respects and are treated by the Company 
as if they were shares of one class only. Proportionate Voting Shares, or fractions thereof, may at any time, subject to 
the FPI Protective Restriction, at the option of the holder and subject to certain restrictions, be converted into 
Subordinate Voting Shares at a ratio of 100 Subordinate Voting Shares per Proportionate Voting Share. Prior to 
conversion, each Proportionate Voting Share, or fraction thereof, carries 100 votes per share (compared to one vote 
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per Subordinate Voting Share) and is entitled to dividends and liquidation distributions in an amount equal to 100 
times the amount distributed in respect of each Subordinate Voting Share. 

Although the Company intends to apply for certain exemptions (see “Exemption From National Instruments”), the 
Subordinate Voting Shares may be considered “restricted securities” within the meaning of such term under applicable 
Canadian securities laws. As such, in connection with the approval of the Merger Agreement, the Company 
Shareholders and the Fresh Factory Shareholders have been asked to approve, among other things, the Change of 
Articles and the exchange of Fresh Factory Shares for Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares of 
the Resulting Issuer, as applicable, to comply with the requirements of Section 12.3 of NI 41-101 prior to the Closing 
Date. See “Description of the Securities”. 

 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION  

The following table sets forth the Resulting Issuer’s capitalization after giving effect to the Transaction. 

This table should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this 
Prospectus. 

Description of the 
Security 

Securities Authorized Prior to giving effect 
to the Transaction(1) 

After giving effect to the 
Transaction 

Common Shares Unlimited 5,957,000 0 

Preferred Shares Unlimited 0 0 

Subordinate Voting Shares Unlimited 0 10,928,711(2) 

Proportionate Voting 
Shares 

Unlimited 0 364,195(3) 

Note: 
(1) All issued and outstanding Common Shares were consolidated on the basis of 3.404 Common Shares for each one (1) 

post-Consolidation Common Share prior to completion of the Transaction, such that there were 1,749,958 Common 
Shares outstanding at the Effective Time. 

(2) Consists of (i) 1,749,958 post-Consolidated Common Shares redesignated as Subordinate Voting Shares pursuant to the 
Change of Articles, (ii) 4,035 Subordinate Voting Shares issued to former Fresh Factory Shareholders pursuant to the 
Merger Agreement, (iii) 62,650 Subordinate Voting Shares issued to Besar Xhelili, director of the Resulting Issuer, in 
connection with a board services agreement entered into with the Resulting Issuer, (iv) 127,245 Finder’s Shares issued 
in connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering, and (v) 8,984,823 Subordinate Voting Shares issued upon the 
conversion of the Subscription Receipts. 

(3) Issued to former Fresh Factory Shareholders in connection with the Merger Agreement. 

 

Fully Diluted Share Capital 

The following table sets out the anticipated fully diluted share capital of the Resulting Issuer after giving effect to the 
Transaction: 

Shares to be Issued Number of Securities as at 
the date of this Prospectus 

% of total issued and 
outstanding(4) 

Subordinate Voting Shares held by former holders 
of Common Shares upon closing of the Transaction 

1,749,958 (1) 15.5% 

Subordinate Voting Shares issued on closing of the 
Transaction 

193,930 (2) 1.7% 
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Shares to be Issued Number of Securities as at 
the date of this Prospectus 

% of total issued and 
outstanding(4) 

Subordinate Voting Shares issued on conversion of 
outstanding Subscription Receipts 

8,984,823 79.6% 

Proportionate Voting Shares issued on closing of 
the Transaction 

364,195 (3) 3.2% 

Total Resulting Issuer Shares 11,292,906 100% 

   

Subordinate Voting Shares to be issued on exercise 
of Finder’s Warrants 

118,580 1.1% 

Subordinate Voting Shares to be issued on exercise 
of Performance Warrants 

2,000,000 18.3% 

Subordinate Voting Shares to be issued on exercise 
of Options 

2,790,000 25.5% 

Subordinate Voting Shares to be issued on 
conversion of Proportionate Voting Shares 

36,419,500 76.9%(5) 

Total Resulting Issuer Shares reserved for 
issuance 

41,328,080  

   

Fully diluted securities 52,256,791 (6)  

Notes: 
(1) On a post-Consolidation basis.  All issued and outstanding Common Shares were consolidated on a on the basis of one new 

Common Share for each 3.404 outstanding Common Shares prior to the Transaction. 
(2) For further details see “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”. Consists of (i) 62,650 Subordinate Voting Shares 

were issued to Besar Xhelili, director of the Resulting Issuer, in connection with a board services agreement entered into with 
the Resulting Issuer (ii), 127,245 Finder’s Shares issued to an eligible arm’s length finder in connection with the Subscription 
Receipt Offering, and (iii) 4,035 Subordinate Voting shares to former Fresh Factory Shareholders, pursuant to the Merger 
Agreement. 

(3) 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares, convertible into 36,419,500 Subordinate Voting Shares, were issued to former Fresh 
Factory Shareholders in connection with the Transaction.  

(4) Based on a total of 11,292,949 Resulting Issuer Shares issued and outstanding, including 10,928,711 Subordinate Voting 
Shares and 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares. 

(5) Percentage of the total Resulting Issuer Shares, on a partially diluted basis, based on a total of 47,348,211 Resulting Issuer 
Shares outstanding upon conversion of the Proportionate Voting Shares. 

(6) On an as converted to Subordinate Voting Shares basis. Consists of (i) 10,928,711 Subordinate Voting Shares, (ii) 36,419,500 
Subordinate Voting Shares issuable upon the conversion of the Proportionate Voting Shares, (iii) 118,580 Subordinate Voting 
Shares issuable upon the exercise of the Finder’s Warrants, (iv) 2,000,000 Subordinate Voting Shares issuable upon the 
exercise of the Performance Warrants and (v) 2,790,000 Subordinate Voting Shares issuable upon the conversion of the 
Options. 

 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

The Company 

Prior to the completion of the Transaction, the Company did not have any options outstanding nor did it have an option 
plan.  
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Fresh Factory 

Prior to the completion of the Transaction, Fresh Factory currently did not have any options outstanding nor did it 
have an option plan.  

Resulting Issuer 

In connection with closing the Transaction, the Resulting Issuer adopted a rolling stock option plan (the “Option 
Plan”), which provides for a total of 10% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares, taken together 
with the number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable on conversion of the Proportionate Voting Shares measured 
at the time of grant (the “Outstanding Issue”). 

The purpose of the Option Plan is to allow the Resulting Issuer to grant stock options to directors, officers, employees 
and consultants, as additional compensation, and as an opportunity to participate in the success of the Resulting Issuer. 
The granting of such Options is intended to align the interests of such persons with that of the Resulting Issuer’s 
shareholders. 

2,790,000 Options were granted at the closing of the Transaction.  

Terms of the Plan 

The Option Plan was adopted on November 5, 2021, by the Board of Directors prior to the completion of the 
Transaction.  

A material summary of the terms of the Option Plan is set below: 

Purpose 

The purpose of the Option Plan is to advance the interests of the Resulting Issuer by: 

(a) providing eligible persons, being directors, employees, officers or eligible contractors of the 
Resulting Issuer or its affiliates (collectively, the “Eligible Persons”), with additional incentives 
through equity ownership; 

(b) increasing the proprietary interest of Eligible Persons in the success of the Resulting Issuer; 

(c) encouraging Eligible Persons to remain with the Resulting Issuer or its affiliates; and 

(d) attracting new directors, employees, officers and service providers. 

Eligible Participants  

Options may be granted to Eligible Persons. Subject to the provisions of the Option Plan, the Board has the authority 
to determine the terms, limitations, restrictions and conditions applicable to the vesting or to the exercise of an Option, 
including, without limitation, the nature and duration of the restrictions, if any, to be imposed on the sale or other 
disposition of shares acquired on exercise of an Option. 

Vesting  

The Board will establish vesting and other terms and conditions for an Option at the time each Option is granted. 

Securities Issuable under the Option Plan  

The aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares reserved for issuance for all Options granted under the Option 
Plan and for all other security-based compensation arrangements of the Resulting Issuer must not exceed 10% of the 
Outstanding Issue.  
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The maximum number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to any one person under the Option Plan is 5% of the 
Outstanding Issue less the aggregate number of Subordinate Voting Shares reserved for issuance to such person under 
any other security-based compensation arrangements of the Resulting Issuer. 

The maximum number of Subordinate Voting Shares issuable to insiders under the Option Plan and any other security-
based compensation arrangements of Resulting Issuer is 10% of the Outstanding Issue. The maximum number of 
Subordinate Voting Shares which may be issued to insiders under the Option Plan and any other security-based 
compensation arrangements of the Resulting Issuer within a 12-month period is 10% of the Outstanding Issue. In 
addition, grants of Options to non-employee directors cannot exceed the lesser of (i) 1% of the Outstanding Issue and 
(ii) an annual equity value of $100,000 to each director. 

Exercise Price and Term  

Each Option is confirmed by an option agreement or option grant letter or other form of confirmation (electronic or 
otherwise) as prescribed by the Board from time to time. The Board shall establish the exercise price of an Option at 
the time the Option is granted. The exercise price may not be less than the Market Price (as defined in the Option 
Plan) on the date of grant, being the greater of the closing Market Price of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE 
on: (a) the trading day prior to the date of grant of the Options; and (b) the date of grant of the Options. In the event 
that the Subordinate Voting Shares are not then listed and posted for trading on the CSE or such other stock exchange 
or quotation system on which the Subordinate Voting Shares are listed or quoted from time to time, the Market Price 
shall be the fair market value of such Subordinate Voting Shares as determined by the Board in its sole discretion. 

In the event that any Option expires during, or within 48 hours after, a Resulting Issuer-imposed blackout period on 
the trading of securities of the Resulting Issuer, such expiry becomes the tenth day after the end of the blackout period. 

Cessation or Termination of Options  

Subject to specific exceptions and restrictions outlined in the Option Plan, Options are not assignable and will 
terminate as follows: 

(1) if a participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for any reason other than death or termination for 
cause, their Options will be cancelled:  

(a) 90 days after the participant ceases to be an Eligible Person or otherwise in accordance with the 
terms of the participant’s employment agreement;  

(b) such longer period as may be determined by the Board, but not exceeding the original expiry 
date of the Option; or  

(c) immediately if the Options are unvested at the date the participant ceases to be an Eligible 
Person unless the Board determines otherwise; 

(2) if a participant ceases to be an Eligible Person because their relationship with the Resulting Issuer 
or an affiliate is terminated for cause by the Resulting Issuer or an affiliate, their Options will be 
cancelled immediately after the participant ceases to be an Eligible Person; or 

(3) if a participant ceases to be an Eligible Person as a result of their death, all Options unvested at the 
date of the participant’s death will vest immediately and their Options will be cancelled:  

(a) 180 days after their death; or  

(b) such longer period as may be determined by the Board, but not exceeding the original expiry 
date of the Option to a maximum of 12 months. 

Assignability  

Options are non-assignable and non-transferable by a participant otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and 
distribution and are exercisable only by the participant during the lifetime of the participant and only by the 
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participant’s legal representative after death of the participant (in accordance with the Option Plan). However, Options 
granted to a participant may be assigned to a Permitted Assign (as such term is defined in the Option Plan) of such 
participant, following which such Options will be non-assignable and non-transferable by such permitted assign, 
except to another permitted assign, otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and will be 
exercisable only by such permitted assign during the lifetime of such permitted assign and only by such permitted 
assign’s legal representative after death of such permitted assign. 

Amendment Provisions  

Subject to any applicable regulatory or stock exchange requirements or restrictions in the Option Plan, the Board may 
at any time and without shareholder approval, terminate the Option Plan or amend the provisions of the Option Plan 
or any Options granted under it, including without limitation amendments: 

(1) related to the exercise of Options, including the inclusion of a cashless exercise feature where 
payment is in cash or common shares or otherwise; 

(2) deemed by the Board to be necessary or advisable because of any change in applicable securities 
laws or other laws;  

(3) to the definitions;  

(4) to the change of control provisions;  

(5) relating to the administration of the Option Plan;  

(6) to the vesting provisions of any outstanding Option;  

(7) to postpone or adjust any exercise of an Option or the issuance of any common shares pursuant to 
the Option Plan in order to permit the Resulting Issuer to effect or maintain registration of the Option 
Plan or the common shares issuable pursuant to the Option Plan under the securities laws of any 
applicable jurisdiction, or to determine that the common shares and the Option Plan are exempt from 
such registration; or  

(8) fundamental or otherwise, not requiring shareholder approval under applicable law or the rules of 
an exchange on which the common shares are listed, including amendments of a “clerical” or 
“housekeeping” nature and amendments to ensure that the Options granted under the Option Plan 
will comply with any provisions respecting income tax and other laws in force in any country or 
jurisdiction of which an Eligible Person may from time to time be resident or a citizen. 

The Board may not make any of the following amendments to the Option Plan without first having obtained the 
approval of a majority of shareholders voting at a shareholders meeting:  

(1) an increase in the maximum number of common shares which may be issued under the Option Plan;  

(2) an increase in the ability of the Board to amend the Option Plan without shareholder approval;  

(3) amendments to the definitions of “Eligible Person” and “Permitted Assigns”; 

(4) amendments to the exercise price of any Option issued under the Option Plan where such 
amendment reduces the exercise price of such Option;  

(5) amendments to the term of any Option issued under the Option Plan; or  

(6) amendments to the transfer provisions of the Option Plan.  

In addition, the Board may not amend the Option Plan to increase insider participation limits without first having 
obtained the approval of a majority of shareholders excluding shares voted by insiders who are Eligible Persons. 

In determining the number of Options to be granted to the executive officers, the Resulting Issuer’s Board of Directors 
considers a number of factors including the amount and term of Options previously granted, base salary and annual 
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performance incentives awarded to the executives and commensurate with those offered by other companies in our 
industry; and the exercise price of any outstanding Options to ensure that such grants are in accordance with CSE 
policies.  

The above is a summary description of the material terms of the Options Plan, with such description being qualified 
in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Option Plan. The full text of the Option Plan will be available upon 
written request made directly to the Resulting Issuer at its registered office located at Suite 2200, HSBC Building, 885 
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 3E8.   

 

PRIOR SALES 

The Company 

This table sets out particulars of the Common Shares or securities exercisable for or exchangeable into Common 
Shares that have been issued or sold within the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus. 

Date of Issuance Security Type Number of Securities(1) Issue/Exercise Price 

November 17, 2020 Common Shares 511,000(2) $0.05 

July 23, 2021 Subscription Receipts 6,528,323(3) $1.00 

July 23, 2021 Finders Warrants 48,860(3) $1.00 

August 5, 2021 Subscription Receipts 2,456,500(3) $1.00 

August 5, 2021 Finder’s Warrants 70,070(3) $1.00 

Notes:  
(1) All Common Shares were consolidated on the basis of one new Common Share for each 3.404 outstanding Common Shares 

and redesignated as Subordinate Voting Shares in connection with the Transaction. 
(2) Issued upon the deemed exercised of 511,000 Special Warrants issued on July 6, 2020. 
(3) Issued in connection with the Subscription Receipt Offering. See “General Development of the Business – History – The 

Company”. 

Fresh Factory  

This table sets out particulars of the Fresh Factory Shares or securities exercisable for or exchangeable into Fresh 
Factory Shares that have been issued or sold within the 12 months prior to the date of this Prospectus.  

Date of Issuance Security Type Number of Securities Issue/Exercise Price 

January 29, 2021 Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$200,000 (1) 

March 19, 2021 Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$250,000 (1) 

March 31, 2021 Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$100,000 (1) 

May 25, 2021 Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$300,000 (1) 

July 21, 2021(2) Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$98,591 (1) 

August 2, 2021(2) Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$423,536 (1) 
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August 19, 2021(2) Fresh Factory 
Convertible Note 

$50,000 (1) 

Notes: 
(1) The principal amount of the Fresh Factory Convertible Notes, plus any accrued interest, is convertible at the discretion of the 

holders at a price of US$0.80 per Fresh Factory Common Share. All Fresh Factory Convertible Notes will be converted into 
Fresh Factory Common Shares prior to the Effective time. See “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”. 

(2) Subject to accounting review.  

 

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTIONS ON 
TRANSFER  

Escrow Agreements 

Following completion of the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE, 415,951 Subordinate Voting Shares, 
154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares and 2,640,000 Options are expected to be held in escrow (the “Escrow 
Securities”).  

The Escrow Securities are expected to be held in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement entered into on closing of 
the Transaction among the Resulting Issuer, the Transfer Agent and certain shareholders pursuant to which the Escrow 
Securities will be held in escrow (the “Escrow Agreement”). The Escrow Securities are expected to be held in escrow 
as required by National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings (“NP 46-201”) and CSE policy on 
completion of the listing of the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE. 

The Escrow Securities are expected to be subject to the release schedule specified in NP 46-201 for emerging issuers 
and as set out in the form of escrow required by Policy 2 – Qualifications for Listing of the CSE. Ten (10%) percent 
of the Escrow Securities are expected to be released upon the date of listing on the CSE and an additional 15% are 
expected to be released every 6 months thereafter until all Escrow Securities have been released (36 months following 
the date of listing on the CSE). 

Designation of Class Securities held in 
Escrow(1) 

Percentage of Class(2) 

Subordinate Voting 
Shares 

415,951 3.8% 

Proportionate Voting 
Shares 

154,870 42.5% 

Options 2,640,000 94.6% 

Performance Warrants 500,000 25% 

Notes: 
(1) It is anticipated that the escrow agent under the escrow agreement will be the Transfer Agent. 
(2) Based on 10,928,711 Subordinate Voting Shares and 154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares and 2,000,000 Performance 

Warrants issued and outstanding upon completion of the Transaction. 

The Escrow Securities are held by the following individuals: 

Escrowed 
Securityholder 

Relation to the 
Company 

Escrow Securities Held 

Nathan Laurell (1) CEO and Director 102,010 Proportionate Voting Shares 
56 Subordinate Voting Shares 
600,000 Options 

Jeremy Schupp 2,501 Proportionate Voting Shares 
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 CFO, Corporate 
Secretary and Director 

75 Subordinate Voting Shares 

750,000 Options 
Bill Besenhofer 
 

Chief Operating Officer 
and President 

10,139 Proportionate Voting Shares 
55 Subordinate Voting Shares 
750,000 Options 

Isabella Chia 
 

Senior Vice President of 
Marketing 

148 Proportionate Voting Shares 
13 Subordinate Voting Shares 
300,000 Options 

Jeff Cantalupo (2) 

 
Director 38,718 Proportionate Voting Shares 

100,079 Subordinate Voting Shares 
Lindsay Levin 
 

Director 1,354 Proportionate Voting Shares 
45 Subordinate Voting Shares 
120,000 Options 

Besar Xhelili (3) 

 
Director 316,028 Subordinate Voting Shares(1) 

500,000 Performance Warrants 
120,000 Options 

Notes: 

(1) Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares are registered to Nathan G. Laurell Revocable Trust, a trust 
controlled by Nathan Laurell. 

(2) Proportionate Voting Shares and 79 Subordinate Voting Shares are registered to Listen Ventures II, LP, a limited partnership 
controlled by Jeff Cantalupo. 

(3) 253,378 Subordinate Voting Shares are registered to Arcana Inc., a corporation owned by Besar Xhelili. 

 
Resale Restrictions 
 
Pursuant to the terms of voluntary lock up agreements (the “Lock-Up Agreements”) entered into between Fresh 
Factory and the former Fresh Factory Shareholders, the Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares 
issued pursuant to the Transaction to former Fresh Factory Shareholders are subject to voluntary hold periods 
commencing from the date of Listing (the “Listing Date”), during which time such securities may not be transferred 
without the consent of the Corporation, as follows: 10% of the securities will be released upon the Listing Date, 15% 
of the securities will be released on the date that is six months following the Listing Date, and 25% of the securities 
will be released every six months thereafter, until 100% of the securities are released. As of the date of this Listing 
Statement, the following securities of the Corporation are subject to the Lock-Up Agreements: 

Designation of Class 

Held in Escrow 
Number of Securities Held 

in Escrow 
Percentage of Class 

Proportionate Voting Shares 364,195(1) 100% 

Subordinate Voting Shares 4,035(2) <1% 

Note: 
(1) 154,870 of the Proportionate Voting Shares subject to the Lock-Up Agreements are held by the directors and officers of the 

Resulting Issuer, which are also subject to the Escrow Agreement. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restrictions on Transfer – Escrow Agreement”. 

(2) 323 of the Subordinate Voting Shares subject to the Lock-Up Agreements are held by the directors and officers of the Resulting 
Issuer, which are also subject to the Escrow Agreement. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual 
Restrictions on Transfer – Escrow Agreement”. 

PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS 

The following tables shows the name and information about our voting securities owned by each person or company 
who, as at the completion of the Transaction, own of record, or who, to our knowledge, will own beneficially, directly 
or indirectly, 10% or more of any class of series of our voting securities: 
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Name Number and type of 
securities 

Type of Ownership Percentage of Class 

Nathan Laurell(1) 102,010 Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

Beneficial and of record 28.00% 

56 Subordinate Voting 
Shares 

 

<1% 

600,000 Options 

 

22.7% 

Jeff Cantalupo(2) 38,718 Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

Beneficial and of record 10.6% 

100,079 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Great Point Ventures 
Innovation Holdings 
FarmedHere, LLC(3) 

42,328 Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

Beneficial and of record 11.6% 

82 Subordinate Voting 
Shares 

Beneficial and of record <1% 

Note: 
(3) Based on 10,928,711 issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares upon 

completion of the transaction. Mr. Laurell holds 49.71% of the Subordinate Voting Shares on a partially diluted basis, 
representing: (i) 22.5% of the voting rights attaching to the securities of the Resulting Issuer at the completion of the 
transaction; and (ii) 20.67% on a fully diluted basis. 

(4) Based on 10,928,711 issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares upon 
completion of the transaction. Mr. Cantalupo holds 26.8% of the Subordinate Voting Shares on a partially diluted basis, 
representing: (i) 8.4% of the voting rights attaching to the securities of the Resulting Issuer at the completion of the transaction; 
and (ii) 7.6% on a fully diluted basis.  

(5) Based on 10,928,711 issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and 364,195 Proportionate Voting Shares upon 
completion of the transaction. Great Point Ventures Innovation Holdings FarmedHere, LLC holds 27.9% of the Subordinate 
Voting Shares on a partially diluted basis, representing: (i) 8.9% of the voting rights attaching to the securities of the Resulting 
Issuer at the completion of the transaction; and (ii) 8.1% on a fully diluted basis. 
 

 

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS 

The following table sets out the name, jurisdiction of residence of the Resulting Issuer’s directors and executive 
officers as well as their positions with the Resulting Issuer and principal occupation for the previous five years, and 
the number and percentage of the Subordinate Voting Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares to be owned, directly 
or indirectly, or over which control or direction will be exercised, by each of the Resulting Issuer’s directors and 
executive officers. All officers and employees are required to sign standard confidentiality and non-disclosure 
agreements with the Resulting Issuer. All officers of the Resulting Issuer are employees of the Resulting Issuer and 
all directors that are not officers of the Resulting Issuer are independent contractors of the Resulting Issuer. 
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Name and 
Municipality of 

Residence(1) 

Position to be held 
with the Resulting 

Issuer(2) 

Principal Occupation 
for the Past Five 

Years(3) 

Number of 
Resulting Issuer 

Shares(4) 

Percentage of 
class(5) 

Nathan Laurell 
Chicago, IL 

Chief Executive 
Officer and 

Director 

CEO, The Fresh 
Factory 

102,010 
Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

28.0% 

56 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Jeremy Schupp(6) 

Chicago, IL 

CFO and Corporate 
Secretary and 

Director 

Managing Director, 
New Frontier Holdings 

2,501 
Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

<1% 

75 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Bill Besenhofer 

Palatine, IL 

Chief Operating 
Officer and 
President 

COO, The Fresh 
Factory 

10,139 
Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

2.8% 

55 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Isabella Chia 

Deerfield, IL 

Senior Vice 
President of 
Marketing 

Brand Leader, Mars 148 Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

<1% 

13 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Jeff Cantalupo(6) 

Hinsdale, IL 

Director General Partner, Listen 
Ventures 

38,718 
Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

10.6% 

100,079(7) 
Subordinate 

Voting Shares 

<1% 

Lindsay Levin 

Chicago, IL 

Director Chief Marketing & 
Sales Officer, Fluresh 

1,354 
Proportionate 
Voting Shares 

 

<1% 

45 Subordinate 
Voting Shares 

<1% 

Besar Xhelili(6) 

Thornhill, ON 

Director Principal, Dunfield 
Capital Corp. 

315,628 
Subordinate 

Voting Shares 

 

<1% 

Notes: 
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(1) Information as to municipality of residence, principal occupation, securities beneficially owned or over which a director or 
officer exercises control or direction has been furnished by the respective individuals as of the date of this Prospectus.  

(2) The term of office of each of the directors expires on the earlier of the Company’s next annual general meeting or upon 
resignation. The term of office of the officers expires at the discretion of the directors. 

(3) See “Management and Key Personnel” for additional information regarding the principal occupations of the Resulting Issuer’s 
directors and officers. 

(4) Resulting Issuer Shares to be issued upon completion of the Transaction.  
(5) Based on 10,928,711 issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares and 364,195 issued and outstanding Proportionate 

Voting Shares (assuming completion of the Transaction). 
(6) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(7) 100,000 Subordinate Voting Shares were issued upon the conversion of 100,000 Subscription Receipts. 

Aggregate Ownership of Securities 

As of completion of the Transaction, the directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer as a group, directly or indirectly 
will own 154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares and 415,951 Subordinate Voting Shares, representing approximately 
33.6% of the issued and outstanding of voting rights attaching to the securities of the Resulting Issuer, on an undiluted 
basis. 

 

Biographies  

The following are brief profiles of our executive officers and directors, including a description of each individual’s 
principal occupation within the past five years. 

 

Nathan Laurell (Age 45) – Chief Executive Officer and Director 

Nathan Laurell has over 20 years of experience as an entrepreneur having founded and sold a number of companies 
in finance, energy, and the food industry. He founded Energy.Me (retail energy supplier) and Amp Americas (a 
developer of renewable natural gas projects) where he continues to serve on the board. He has deep experience in 
investing and venture capital having been a General Partner of Great Point Ventures and an active General Partner in 
R2, a real estate development firm. He holds a BS and MS in Electrical and Computer Engineering from the University 
of Illinois. 
 
At the completion of the Transaction, Mr. Laurell will become an employee of the Resulting Issuer and will enter into 
a non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 80-90% 
of their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to effectively fulfill their duties as the Chief Executive Officer and 
Director of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Jeremy Schupp (Age 46) – CFO and Corporate Secretary and Director 

Jeremy has over 20 years of experience in the food, agriculture and energy sectors working for both startups and some 
of the largest companies in the world. At The Fresh Factory, Jeremy is the CFO where he is responsible for the day to 
day accounting activities and forward financial planning for the company. He began his career at Cargill, Inc. before 
progressing to leadership positions at Nestle Food Company and then various energy marketing companies. Jeremy 
most recently was a Managing Director at New Frontier Holdings, a Chicago-based investment office, where he 
managed direct investments in several operating companies in the food and energy sectors. Jeremy is a versatile leader 
who has guided multiple companies through high-growth phases and mergers and acquisitions. 

At the completion of the Transaction, Mr. Schupp will become an employee of the Resulting Issuer and will enter into 
a non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 100% of 
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their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to effectively fulfill their duties as the CFO and Corporate Secretary 
and Director of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Bill Besenhofer (Age 40) – Chief Operating Officer and President 

Bill has over 18 years of experience in operations including executive management building and leading operations 
teams. At The Fresh Factory, he is the Co-Founder and COO where he oversees all daily operations. He began his 
career in Healthcare at Cardinal Health, a Top 20 Fortune 500 multinational integrated health care service company 
as a lean six-sigma black belt with a focus on operational process, improving cost-effectiveness, and optimizing 
performance. Bill most recently was the Operating Partner/COO for GreatPoint Ventures, a San Francisco-based 
venture fund where he maintained operational oversight and managed funds with investments in industry-leading 
companies such as BeyondMeat, Truvian, and VIM Healthcare. Bill is a mentor, facilitator, and motivator who has 
guided multiple portfolio businesses to instill sound processes and achieve challenging goals. 
 
At the completion of the Transaction, Mr. Besenhofer will become an employee of the Resulting Issuer and will enter 
into a non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 
100% of their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to effectively fulfill their duties as the Chief Operating 
Officer and President of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Isabella Chia (Age 39) – Senior Vice President of Marketing 

Isabella started her career in digital advertising at Starcom Worldwide, working on brands such as Kellogg's and P&G. 
From there, she went on to lead Media and Digital Strategy for Mars Wrigley and pivoted into brand management 
while obtaining her MBA from the University of Chicago. At Mars, she led brand and innovation strategy for 
established brands (Juicy Fruit, Skittles, Starburst), and created the Challenger Playbook for Seeds of Change and 
Mars Food.  She now leads Marketing and overall business strategy for the Field + Farmer brand. 
 
At the completion of the Transaction, Ms. Chia will become an employee of the Resulting Issuer and will enter into a 
non-competition or confidentiality agreement with the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 100% of 
their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to effectively fulfill their duties as the Senior Vice President of 
Marketing of the Resulting Issuer. 

 
Jeff Cantalupo (Age 43) – Director 

Jeff began his career helping large brands innovate while at Leo Burnett. He now helps innovators create brands as 
the founder and managing partner of Listen, a consumer-focused venture capital firm. With $100M under management 
across three funds, Listen has invested in over 20 early stage brands. Jeff brings deep experience in the Health and 
Wellness movement having led Listen’s seed investments in both Calm, the world’s largest mental fitness brand and 
Factor, the leading fresh-prepared healthy meals brand where Jeff served as a founding board member through its 
recent exit to Hello Fresh. In addition to Listen, Jeff serves as an Adjunct Professor at Northwestern’s Kellogg School 
of Management teaching Brand Strategy and is active in the community serving as a member of the Economic Club 
of Chicago and Board Member for Ronald McDonald House Charities Chicagoland and Northwest Indiana. 

At the completion of the Transaction, Mr. Cantalupo will enter into a non-competition or confidentiality agreement 
with the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 10% of their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer 
to effectively fulfill their duties as a director of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Lindsay Levin (Age 41) – Director 
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Lindsay is a seasoned CPG marketer turned executive coach focused on helping companies thrive through the 
challenge of change and scale. Lindsay served as Chief Marketing Officer at RXBAR, a high-growth snack company 
that was acquired by Kellogg’s for $600M in 2017 as well as the Chief Marketing and Sales Officer at Fluresh, a 
premium vertically-integrated cannabis company. Lindsay also worked at PepsiCo, Stanford University, and Navigant 
Consulting. Lindsay holds a BA from Stanford University and an MBA from Kellogg at Northwestern University. 
Lindsay serves on the Board of several high-growth CPG companies and is a guest lecturer at Kellogg. 
 
At the completion of the Transaction, Ms. Levin will enter into a non-competition or confidentiality agreement with 
the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 10% of their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to 
effectively fulfill their duties as a director of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Besar Xhelili (Age 36) – Director 

Besar Xhelili was called to the bar in 2011, and initially focused on real estate, corporate finance and litigation arising 
from those concentrations. Thereafter, he established the Manor Law Professional Corporation. Contemporaneous 
with establishing and running his new law firm, Mr. Xhelili became heavily involved in the capital markets. He has 
served as a board member of public companies and has assisted multiple companies in their go public process. Mr. 
Xhelili is the co-founder and advisor to Zoglo’s Incredible Food Corp. (CSE:ZOG). A plant based meat alternative 
company based in Canada. Mr. Xhelili is also a director of Dunfield Capital Corp., a capital market advisory company 
focused on origination, advising private companies in their go public process, structuring, fundraising and strategic 
planning. 
 
At the completion of the Transaction, Mr. Xhelili will enter into a non-competition or confidentiality agreement with 
the Resulting Issuer. It is expected that they will devote 10% of their time to the business of the Resulting Issuer to 
effectively fulfill their duties as a director of the Resulting Issuer. 

 

Share Ownership by Directors and Officers 

The Resulting Issuer’s directors and officers as a group, beneficially own, directly and indirectly, or exercise control 
or direction over, 415,951 Subordinate Voting Shares and 154,870 Proportionate Voting Shares, representing 
approximately 59.3% of the issued and outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares on an as-converted basis (63.5% on a 
partially diluted basis, including the exercise of 2,640,000 Options and 500,000 Performance Warrants held by the 
directors and officers of the Resulting Issuer). 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

To the Company’s knowledge, other than as disclosed herein, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of 
the Company or a securityholder anticipated to hold a sufficient number of securities of the Company to affect 
materially the control of the Company, within 10 years of the date of this Prospectus, has been a director, officer or 
promoter of any person or company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other issuer access to 
any exemptions under applicable securities law, for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; or 

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was 
subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

To the Company’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a security 
holder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has: 
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(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by 
a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 
regulatory authority; or 

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body, including a 
self-regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable securityholder 
making a decision in regards to the Company. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

To the Company’s knowledge, no existing or proposed director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a 
securityholder anticipated to hold sufficient securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, 
or a personal holding company of such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of this Prospectus, become 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted 
any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed 
to holder the assets of the director, officer or promoter. 

Conflicts of Interest 

Members of management are, and may in future be, associated with other firms involved in a range of business 
activities. Consequently, there are potential inherent conflicts of interest in their acting as officers and directors of the 
Company. Although the officers and directors are engaged in other business activities, the Company anticipates they 
will devote an important amount of time to our affairs.  

The Company’s officers and directors are now and may in the future become shareholders, officers or directors of 
other companies, which may be formed for the purpose of engaging in business activities similar to the Company’s. 
Accordingly, additional direct conflicts of interest may arise in the future with respect to such individuals acting on 
behalf of us or other entities.  Moreover, additional conflicts of interest may arise with respect to opportunities which 
come to the attention of such individuals in the performance of their duties or otherwise. Currently, the Company does 
not have a right of first refusal pertaining to opportunities that come to their attention and may relate to our business 
operations.  

The Company’s directors and officers are subject to fiduciary obligations to act in the best interest of the Company. 
Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and remedies of the BCBCA, or other applicable corporate 
legislation, securities law, regulations and policies.  See “Risk Factors”. 

 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Prior to obtaining a receipt for this Prospectus from securities regulatory authority in British Columbia, neither the 
Company, Fresh Factory nor the Resulting Issuer were a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction. As a result, certain 
information required by Form 51-102F6 – Statement of Executive Compensation (“Form 51-102F6”) has been omitted 
pursuant to Section 1.3(8) of Form 51-102F6. 

Compensation of Named Executive Officers  

Securities legislation requires the disclosure of the compensation received by each Named Executive Officer of the 
Company. “Named Executive Officer” is defined by securities legislation to mean: (i) the CEO; (ii) the CFO; (iii) 
each of the three most highly compensated executive officers of the Company, including any of its subsidiaries, or the 
three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the CEO and CFO, at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually more than $150,000 for that 
financial year; and (iv) each individual who would be a “Named Executive Officer” under paragraph (iii) but for the 
fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, nor acting in similar 
capacity, at the end of the most recently completed financial year. At the completion of the Transaction, the Company 
will have the following Named Executive Officers (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”): 
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 Nathan Laurell, Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Resulting Issuer;  

 Jeremy Schupp, Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary, and Director of the Resulting Issuer;  

 Bill Besenhofer, Chief Operating Officer and President of the Resulting Issuer; and 

 Isabella Chia, SVP Marketing of the Resulting Issuer. 

 



 

LEGAL_36564979.19 49  
 

Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities 

The Company was not a reporting issuer at any time during its most recently completed financial year. Accordingly, the following table sets forth information with 
respect to the anticipated compensation of each Named Executive Officer and director of the Resulting Issuer for the 12-month period subsequent to becoming a 
reporting issuer: 

 
The anticipated compensation set out above is based on current conditions in the industry and on the associated approximate allocation of time for each NEO and 
director, and is subject to adjustments based on changing market conditions and corresponding changes to required time commitments. Following the listing of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE, the Company will review its compensation policies and may adjust them if warranted by factors such as market conditions. 

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities 

 

Name and Principal 
Position 

Year Salary, consulting fee, 
retainer or 
commission 

($) 

Bonus 
($) 

Committee or 
meeting fees 

($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Long-term 
incentive plans 

($) 

Value of all other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Nathan Laurell  

CEO and Director 

2021 US$90,000 Nil - - - - US$90,000 

Jermey Schupp 

CFO, Corporate 
Secretary, and 
Director 

2021 US$159,937.44 Nil - - - - US$159,937.44 

Bill Besenhofer 

COO and President,  

2021 US$159,937.44 Nil - - - US$15,398.20 US$175,875.64 

Isabella Chia 

SVP Marketing 

2021 US$190,000 Nil - - - US$15,938.20 US$205,938.20 
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Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities 

The Company was not a reporting issuer at any time during its most recently completed financial year. The following 
table discloses all anticipated compensation securities the Company expects to grant or issue to each Named Executive 
Officer and director once the Company becomes a reporting issuer: 

Compensation Securities 

Name and Position 

Type of 
compensation 

security 

Number of 
compensation securities 

and percentage of 
class(1)(2) 

Issue 
conversion of 
exercise price 

(US$) Expiry Date 

Nathan Laurell 
Chief Executive 

Officer and 
Director  

 Options 600,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Jeremy Schupp 

CFO and Corporate 
Secretary and 

Director 

 Options 750,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Bill Besenhofer 
Chief Operating 

Officer and 
President 

 Options 750,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Isabella Chia 

Senior Vice 
President of 
Marketing 

 Options 300,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Lindsay Levin 

Director 

 Options 120,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Besar Xhelili 

Director 

 Options 120,000 $1.00 Three years from the date of 
grant 

Notes: 
(1) Effective at the time of the final prospectus, and based on 2,790,000 options granted at the completion of the Transaction. 

There are 1,944,825 options reserved for issuance. 
(2) Each Option is subject to a vesting period over three years. 1/3 of the Options will vest on December 31, 2021. The remaining 

Options will vest every three months thereafter in equal installments over the next two years, ending on December 31, 2023.   

Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans 

See “Options to Purchase Securities”. 

Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements  

On closing of the Transaction, or shortly thereafter, the Resulting Issuer will enter into non-disclosure agreements, 
non-solicit agreements, and intellectual property agreement with all of its executive officers.  

See “Stock Options and other Compensation Securities” above. 
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Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 

The Company does not have a compensation committee or a formal compensation policy. The Company relies solely 
on the directors to determine the compensation of the Named Executive Officers. In determining compensation, the 
directors consider industry standards and the Company’s financial situation, but the Company does not have any 
formal objectives or criteria. The performance of each executive officer is informally monitored by the directors, 
having in mind the business strengths of the individual and the purpose of originally appointing the individual as an 
officer.  

In establishing compensation for executive officers, the Board as a whole seeks to accomplish the following goals:  

 To recruit and subsequently retain highly qualified executive officers by competitive offering overall 
compensation; 

 To motivate executives to achieve important corporate and personal performance objectives and reward them 
when such objectives are met; and 

 To align the interests of executive officers with the long-term interests of shareholders through participation 
in the Option Plan. 

When considering the appropriate executive compensation to be paid to our officers, the Board as a whole have regard 
to a number of factors including: (i) recruiting and retaining executives critical to the success of the Company and the 
enhancement of shareholder value; (ii) providing fair and competitive compensation; (iii) balancing the interests of 
management and the Company’s shareholders; (iv) rewarding performance, both on an individual basis and with 
respect to operations generally; and (v) available financial resources. 

The Board as a whole did not use any formal peer group evaluation to determine executive compensation. 

 

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION 

Lindsay Levin has been awarded 80,000 Fresh Factory Common Shares which will be converted into 1,356 
Proportionate Voting Shares on closing of the Transaction. In addition, Lindsay will enter into a board services 
agreement with the Resulting Issuer and receive 120,000 Options vesting over a period of three years (see Executive 
Compensation – Compensation Securities). 

Besar Xhelili will enter into a board services agreement with the Resulting Issuer, pursuant to which they will be 
issued 62,650 Subordinate Voting Shares upon completion of the Transaction. Mr. Xhelili will also receive 120,000 
Options vesting over a period of three years (see Executive Compensation – Compensation Securities). 

The Company contemplates that each independent director, if any, will be entitled to participate in any security based 
compensation arrangement or other plan adopted by the Resulting Issuer with the approval of the Board and/or the 
Resulting Issuer ’s shareholders, as may be required by applicable law or CSE policies.  

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 

The Company does not carry directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for any of our directors or officers. In 
accordance with the Merger Agreement, the Company anticipates obtaining directors’ and officers’ liability insurance 
prior to closing of the Transaction. 

 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Other than as disclosed below, as at the date of this Prospectus none of the directors and executive officers of the 
Company or Fresh Factory, directors and officers for the Resulting Issuer, or associates of such persons is indebted to 
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the Company, Fresh Factory or another entity where the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, 
letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company or Fresh Factory. 

On May 29, 2020, Fresh Factory received a $500,000 Economic Impact Disaster Loan “EIDL” loan as part of the 
COVID-19 relief efforts in the US. The term of the loan is 30 years with an interest rate of 3.75% with interest deferral 
through May 29, 2022. Nathan Laurell has provided a personal guarantee on the loan. The personal guarantee was a 
requirement of securing the loan.  

On August 2, 2021, Nathan Laurell loaned Fresh Factory USD$300,000, which, in addition to various expenses 
incurred by Mr. Laurell that have accrued, but have not been reimbursed, is to be repaid by Fresh Factory upon closing 
of the Transaction from the proceeds of the Transaction. The term of the loan is 90 days with an interest rate of 8%. 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE  

Audit Committee  

Upon the Company becoming a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction in Canada, the Company will form the audit 
committee (the “Audit Committee”). The Audit Committee will be comprised as follows: 

Member Independence Financially Literacy 

Besar Xhelili Independent(1) Financially Literate 

Jeff Cantalupo Independent(1) Financially Literate 

Jeremy Schupp Non-Independent(1) (2) Financially Literate 

Notes: 
(1) Within the meaning of National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees (“NI 52-110”). 
(2) Jeremy Schupp is the CFO and Corporate Secretary of the Resulting Issuer and therefore considered under NI 52-110 to be 

non-independent. 

A description of the education and experience of each Audit Committee member that is relevant to the performance 
of their responsibilities as an Audit Committee member may be found above under the heading “Executive Officers 
and Directors”. 

Audit Committee’s Charter  

The full text of the Audit Committee’s charter is attached as Schedule F to this Prospectus. 

Mandate and Responsibilities of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee’s mandate and responsibilities include: (i) reviewing and recommending for approval to the 
Board the financial statements, accounting policies that affect the statements, annual MD&A and associated press 
releases; (ii) being satisfied that adequate procedures are in place for the review of the Company’s public disclosure 
of financial information extracted or derived from the Company’s Financial Statements and periodically assessing 
those procedures; (iii) establishing and maintaining complaint procedures regarding accounting, internal accounting 
controls, or auditing matters and the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; (iv) overseeing the work of the external auditor engaged for 
the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing such other audit, review or attest services for the 
Company, including the resolution of disagreements between management and the external auditor regarding financial 
reporting; (v) pre-approving all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or its subsidiary entities by the 
external auditor; (vi) reviewing and monitoring the processes in place to identify and manage the principal risks that 
could impact the financial reporting of the Company; and (vii) reviewing and approving the Company’s hiring policies 
regarding partners, employees, and former partners and employees of the present and former external auditor of the 
Company.  
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The Audit Committee is to meet at least quarterly to review financial statements and MD&A and to meet with the 
Company’s external auditors at least once a year. 

Audit Committee Oversight 

On October 2, 2018 the sole shareholder of the Company elected to waive the appointment of an auditor pursuant to 
section 203(2) of the BCBCA.  

The Resulting Issuer intends to ensure that all recommendations of the Audit Committee of the Resulting Issuer to 
nominate or compensate an external auditor will be adopted by the Board. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions 

At no time since Fresh Factory’s the date of formation on December 14, 2017 or since the Company’s date of 
incorporation on October 2, 2018 has either company relied on the exemption in section 2.4 of NI 52-110 (De Minimis 
Non-audit Services), or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted under Part 8 of NI 52-110. It is not 
anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will rely on any of the above exemptions.  

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 

The audit committee of the Company and Fresh Factory have not adopted specific policies and procedures for the 
engagement of non-audit services but all such services are subject to the prior approval of their respective audit 
committees. It is not anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will adopt specific policies and procedures for the Audit 
Committee. 

External Auditor Service Fees by Category  

The aggregate audit fees incurred by the Company for the year ended May 31, 2021 and by Fresh Factory for the 
period ended December 31, 2020 are set out in the table below. Following closing of the Transaction, the Resulting 
Issuer intends to use Fresh Factory’s auditor MNP LLP (see “Auditors, Transfer Agent and Registrars”). 

Entity Financial Year 
Ended 

Audit Fees(1) 

 

Audit Related 
Fees(2) 

Tax Fees(3) All Other 
Fees(4) 

The Company(5) May 31, 2021 $10,000 $0 $0 $0 

Fresh Factory(6) December 31, 2020 US$73,750 $0 

 

US$7,150 US$36,000 

Total  US$81,750 $0 US$7,150 US$36,000 

Notes: 
(1) “Audit Fees” includes fees necessary to perform the annual audit of Fresh Factory’s financial statements. Audit Fees include 

fees for review of tax provisions and for accounting consultations on matters reflected in the financial statements. Audit Fees 
also include audit or other attest services required by legislation or regulation, such as comfort letters, consents, reviews of 
securities filings and statutory audits. 

(2) “Audit-Related Fees” include services that are traditionally performed by the auditor. These audit-related services include 
employee benefit audits, due diligence assistance, accounting consultations on proposed transactions, internal control reviews 
and audit or attest services not required by legislation or regulation. 

(3) “Tax Fees” include fees for all tax services other than those included in “Audit Fees” and “Audit-Related Fees”. This category 
includes fees for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice. Tax planning and tax advice includes assistance with tax audits 
and appeals, tax advice related to mergers and acquisitions, and requests for rulings or technical advice from tax authorities. 

(4) “All Other Fees” include review of the Prospectus and all other non-audit services. 
(5) Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP is the auditor of the Company. 
(6) MNP LLP is the auditor of Fresh Factory. Subsequent to the period ended December 31, 2020, MNP incurred $18,000 for 

June 30, 2021 interim financial statements review and provided an estimated fee of between $15,000 to $18,000 for the 
Prospectus and pro forma financial statements. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  

Corporate governance relates to the activities of the Board of Directors, the members of which are elected by and are 
accountable to the shareholders, and takes into account the role of the individual members of management who are 
appointed by the Board and who are charged with the day-to-day management of the Company. The Board is 
committed to sound corporate governance practices, which are both in the interest of its shareholders and contribute 
to effective and efficient decision making. The Board is of the view that the Company’s general approach to corporate 
governance, summarized below, is appropriate and substantially consistent with objectives reflected in the guidelines 
for improved corporate governance in Canada adopted by the Canadian Securities Administrators (the “Governance 
Policy”). 

Board of Directors 

The Board will be composed of five directors. 

The Governance Policy suggests that the board of directors of every listed company should be constituted with a 
majority of individuals who qualify as “unrelated”, or “independent”, directors. An “unrelated” director is a director 
who is independent of management and is free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could 
or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with the director’s ability to act with a view to the best interests 
of the Company, other than interests and relationships arising from shareholding.  In addition, where a company has 
a significant shareholder, the Governance Policy suggests that the Board of Directors should include a number of 
directors who do not have interests in either the company or the significant shareholder. 

The Company will have three “unrelated” directors within the meaning of the Governance Policy: Jeff Cantalupo, 
Lindsay Levin and Besar Xhelili. The remaining directors are not considered “unrelated” within the meaning of the 
Governance Policy: Jeremy Schupp and Nathan Laurell. In assessing the Governance Policy and making the foregoing 
determinations, the circumstances of each director have been examined in relation to a number of factors.  

Directors are expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve and to spend the 
time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their responsibilities. 

Board Mandate 

The Board will facilitate independent supervision of management through meetings of the Board and through frequent 
informal discussions among independent members of the Board and management. In addition, the Board will have 
access to the Company’s external auditors, legal counsel and to any of the Company’s officers.  

The Board will have a stewardship responsibility to supervise the management of and oversee the conduct of the 
business of the Company, provide leadership and direction to management, evaluate management, set policies 
appropriate for the business of the Company and approve corporate strategies and goals.  

The day-to-day management of the business and affairs of the Company will be delegated by the Board to the senior 
officers of the Company. The Board will give direction and guidance through the President to management and will 
keep management informed of its evaluation of the senior officers in achieving and complying with goals and policies 
established by the Board.  

The Board will recommend nominees to the shareholders for election as directors, and immediately following each 
annual general meeting will appoint an Audit Committee.  

The Board will exercise its independent supervision over management by its policies that (a) periodic meetings of the 
Board be held to obtain an update on significant corporate activities and plans; and (b) all material transactions of the 
Company are subject to prior approval of the Board. To facilitate open and candid discussion among its independent 
directors, such directors will be encouraged to communicate with each other directly to discuss ongoing issues 
pertaining to the Company. 
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Position Description 

Because the Board is a small, working board, it has not developed written position descriptions and does not have a 
process for assessing the performance of the directors or the chair of the Board committees.  It is not anticipated that 
the board of the Company will perform formal assessments of its members in the 12 months following completion of 
the Transaction.  

Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets out the directors, officers and promoters of the Company that are, or have been within the 
last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other issuers that are or were reporting issuers in any Canadian 
jurisdiction:  

Name of Director, 
Officer or 
Promoter 

Name of Reporting 
Issuer Exchange Position Term 

Besar Xhelili  Cannara Biotech Inc. TSXV Director December 2018 – March 2019 

 
Orientation and Continuing Education 

The Board has not adopted formal policies respecting continuing education for Board members.  Board members are 
encouraged to communicate with management, legal counsel, auditors and consultants of the Company, to keep 
themselves current with industry trends and developments and changes in legislation with management’s assistance, 
and to attend related industry seminars and visit the Company’s operations. Board members will have full access to 
the Company’s records.  It is not anticipated that the board of the Company will adopt formal guidelines in the 12 
months following completion of the Transaction.  

Ethical Business Conduct 

The Board has not adopted formal guidelines to encourage and promote a culture of ethical business conduct but does 
promote ethical business conduct by nominating board members it considers ethical, by avoiding or minimizing 
conflicts of interest and by having a sufficient number of its board members independent of corporate matters.  It is 
not anticipated that the board of the Company will adopt formal guidelines in the 12 months following completion of 
the Transaction. 

The Board has found that the fiduciary duties placed on individual directors by governing corporate legislation and 
the common law, and the restrictions placed by the CBCA on an individual director’s participation in decisions of the 
Board in which the director has an interest, have helped to ensure that the Board operates independently of 
management and in the best interests of the Company.    

Under corporate legislation, a director is required to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of 
a company and exercise the care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable 
circumstances. In addition, if a director of a company also serves as a director or officer of another company engaged 
in similar business activities to the first company, that director must comply with the conflict of interest provisions of 
the BCBCA, as well as the relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that directors exercise 
independent judgment in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a 
material interest. Any interested director would be required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and would 
not be entitled to vote at meetings of directors that evoke such a conflict. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Company will not have a stand-alone nomination committee. The full Board has responsibility for identifying 
potential Board candidates. The Board assesses potential Board candidates to fill perceived needs on the Board for 
required skills, expertise, independence and other factors.  Members of the Board and representatives of the industry 
are consulted for possible candidates.  It is not anticipated that the nomination committee of the Company will adopt 
a formal process to determine new nominees in the 12 months following completion of the Transaction. 
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Compensation  

The Board will conduct reviews with regard to directors’ and officers’ compensation at least once a year. For 
information regarding the steps taken to determine compensation for the directors and the executive officers, see 
“Executive Compensation” herein.  

Other Board Committees  

The Board has no other committees other than the Audit Committee.  It is not anticipated that the Board of the 
Company will establish any committee other than its Audit Committee in the 12 months following completion of the 
Transaction. 

Assessments  

The Board will monitor the adequacy of information given to directors, communication between the Board and 
management and the strategic direction and processes of the Board and committees.  On an ongoing annual basis, the 
Board will assess the performance of the Board as a whole, each of the individual directors and each committee of the 
Board in order to satisfy itself that each is functioning effectively. 

 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

This Prospectus qualifies the distribution of the Qualified Securities, consisting of the Subordinate Voting Shares 
issued upon the deemed exercise of the previously issued Subscription Receipts. The Subscription Receipts were sold 
to subscribers at a price of $1.00 per Special Warrant for gross aggregate proceeds of $8,984,823. 
 
The Company has applied to list the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE. In order to obtain a listing, the Resulting 
Issuer must fulfill all of the listing requirements of the CSE, including obtaining a final receipt for this Prospectus 
from the British Columbia Securities Commission, obtaining distribution of its Subordinate Voting Shares to a 
minimum number of public shareholders and meeting certain financial and other requirements.  

As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company and Fresh Factory do not have any of their securities listed or quoted, 
have not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and do not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on 
the Toronto Stock Exchange, a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States.  

 

RISK FACTORS 

The Company’s business and stated business objectives are the business and stated business objectives of Fresh 
Factory (see “Description of the Business”). All references to the Company’s business and stated business objectives 
include the business and stated business objectives of Fresh Factory. To the extent that the Company’s business and 
stated business objectives differ from that of Fresh Factory, further information is provided. 

An investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk and should be considered speculative. An investment in 
the Company should only be undertaken by those persons who can afford the total loss of their investment. You should 
carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, as well as other information contained in this 
Prospectus, including the financial statements and accompanying notes, appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus, before 
investing in the Company. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones the Company faces. Additional 
risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Company or that the Company believes to be immaterial may also 
adversely affect the Company’s business. If any of the following risks occur, the Company’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be seriously harmed and you could lose all or part of your investment. 

Risks Relating to the Company’s Business 

Limited Operating History 
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We have a limited history of operations and are considered a start-up company. As such, we are subject to many risks 
common to such enterprises, including under-capitalization, cash shortages, limitations with respect to personnel, 
financial and other resources and lack of revenues. There is no assurance that we will be successful in achieving a 
return on our shareholders’ investments and the likelihood of our success must be considered in light of our early stage 
of operations. 

The Company has negative cash flow for the year ended May 31, 2021 and three months ended August 31, 2021. 

The Company has a negative operating cash flow for the year ended May 31, 2021 and three months ended August 
31, 2021. To the extent that the Company has negative operating cash flow in future periods, it may need to allocate 
a portion of its cash reserves to fund such negative cash flow. The Company may also be required to raise additional 
funds through the issuance of equity or debt securities. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to 
generate a positive cash flow from its operations, that additional capital or other types of financing will be available 
when needed or that these financings will be on terms favourable to the Company. The Company’s actual financial 
position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations of the Company’s management. 

The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations of 
the Company’s management 

The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from management’s 
expectations. The Company has experienced some changes in its operating plans and certain delays in its plans. As a 
result, the Company’s revenue, net income and cash flow may differ materially from the Company’s projected 
revenue, net income and cash flow. The process for estimating the Company’s revenue, net income and cash flow 
requires the use of judgment in determining the appropriate assumptions and estimates. These estimates and 
assumptions may be revised as additional information becomes available and as additional analyses are performed. In 
addition, the assumptions used in planning may not prove to be accurate, and other factors may affect the Company’s 
financial condition or results of operations. 

Uncertainty about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Company is in the development stage and is currently seeking additional capital, mergers, acquisitions, joint 
ventures, partnerships, and other business arrangements to expand its product offerings in the plant-based and clean-
label food and beverage products/industry and grow its revenue. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
is dependent upon its ability in the future to grow its revenue and achieve profitable operations and, in the meantime, 
to obtain the necessary financing to meet its obligations and repay its liabilities when they become due. External 
financing, predominantly by the issuance of equity and debt, will be sought to finance the operations of the Company; 
however, there can be no certainty that such funds will be available at terms acceptable to the Company. These 
conditions indicate the existence of material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 

The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from the expectations of 
the Company’s management. 

The Company’s actual financial position and results of operations may differ materially from management’s 
expectations. As a result, the Company’s revenue, net income, and cash flow may differ materially from the 
Company’s projected revenue, net income, and cash flow. The process for estimating the Company’s revenue, net 
income and cash flow requires the use of judgment in determining the appropriate assumptions and estimates. These 
estimates and assumptions may be revised as additional information becomes available and as additional analyses are 
performed. In addition, the assumptions used in planning may not prove to be accurate, and other factors may affect 
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 

Risks related to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The current outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) that was first reported from Wuhan, China in December 
2019, and the spread of this virus could continue to have a material adverse effect on global economic conditions 
which may adversely impact the Company’s business. The World Health Organization declared a global emergency 
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on January 30, 2020 with respect to the outbreak and characterized it as a pandemic on March 11, 2020. The extent to 
which the outbreak impacts the Company’s business will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain 
and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the severity of the outbreak and 
the actions to contain the outbreak or treat its impact, among others. Moreover, the actual and threatened spread of the 
coronavirus globally could also have a material adverse effect on the regional economies in which the Company 
intends to operate, continue to negatively impact stock markets, adversely impact the Company’s ability to raise 
capital, and cause continued interest rate volatility. The Company’s facilities continue to be operational, and 
management is working closely with local regulatory bodies to ensure that the Company continues to meet and exceed 
the standards in markets in which the Company operates. While it is difficult to predict the impact of the coronavirus 
outbreak on the Company’s business, measures taken by the governments in Canada and the United States and 
voluntary measures undertaken by the Company with a view to the safety of the Company’s employees, may adversely 
impact the Company’s business, for instance by impeding the labour required to produce, market, and distribute the 
Company’s products and disrupting the Company’s critical supply chains. Shelter-in-place orders and social 
distancing practices designed to limit the spread of COVID-19 may affect the Company’s business. 

In particular, the outbreak in the United States, which has resulted in restrictions including quarantines, closures, 
cancellations and travel restrictions, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business including 
operating, manufacturing supply chain, research and development, regulatory submissions and project development 
delays and disruptions, labour shortages, travel and shipping disruption and shutdowns, interruptions in product supply 
or restrictions on the export or shipment of the Company’s products and reduced customer demand. The Company 
may incur expenses or delays relating to such events outside of the Company’s control, which could have a material 
adverse impact on the Company’s business, operating results, and financial condition. Any of these developments, 
and others, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. In addition, while food products industry 
has been declared an essential service in many provinces and states, including the states in which the Company 
operates, there is no assurance that the Company’s operations will continue to be deemed essential and/or the Company 
will continue to be permitted to operate in the future. 

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the number of employees working remotely has increased significantly, which 
has also increased demands on information technology resources and systems and increased the risk of phishing and 
other cybersecurity attacks. 

The magnitude, duration, and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic are difficult to predict and could affect the 
significant estimates and judgments used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Adverse weather conditions could impose costs on the Company’s business. 

The Company’s various plant-based food product inputs are vulnerable to adverse weather conditions, including 
windstorms, floods, droughts, fires, pestilence, and temperature extremes, which are quite common but difficult to 
predict. Additionally, severe weather conditions may occur with higher frequency or may be less predictable in the 
future due to the effects of climate change. Unfavourable growing conditions can reduce both crop size and crop 
quality. In extreme cases, entire harvests may be lost in some geographic areas. These factors can increase costs, 
decrease revenues and lead to additional charges to earnings, which may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Shipping and transportation delays. 

The Company imports various product inputs and exports various products which are dependent upon third-party 
shipping and logistics companies and facilities. The Company also ships its products to its customers domestically. If 
there are interruptions of delays in the shipping and delivery of the Company’s product inputs or products it sells (e.g. 
due to labour stoppages) which may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. 

Risks relating to competition in the fresh and plant-based food industry 
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We face intense competition in the plant-based food industry as new entrants and more traditional food companies vie 
for market share in this rapidly evolving market. Most of our competitors are, and many of our potential competitors 
may be, larger, and may have greater brand recognition and access to greater financial, marketing and other resources. 
Therefore, these competitors may be able to devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their products, 
generate greater brand recognition or adopt more aggressive pricing policies and distribution methods than we can. 
As a result, we may lose market share, which could reduce our revenue and adversely affect our results of operations.  

The Company’s competitors may seek to emulate facets of our business strategy or product offerings, which could 
result in a reduction of any competitive advantage that the Company may possess, and our business could suffer. There 
is no assurance that the Company will continue to compete successfully against existing or future competitors. 

Current and new competitors may have better capitalization, a longer operating history, more expertise, greater brand 
recognition and loyalty, facilities devoted to innovation and nutrition science, complementary product and service 
offerings, a larger customer base, operations dedicated towards identifying consumer preferences, strong industry 
relationships with both customers and distributors and an ability to develop higher quality equipment or products, at 
the same or a lower cost. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to customer requirements and devote 
greater resources towards price-based promotional activities better than the Company can. These competitors may 
also be able to adapt more quickly to new or emerging technologies and standards and may be able to deliver services 
that are comparable or superior to that of the Company’s services at a far more reduced rate. The Company’s 
competitors may also merge or form strategic partnerships. Such pressures may also restrict the Company’s ability to 
increase prices in response to commodities (ingredients and equipment, for example), wages and other applicable cost 
increases. The Company cannot provide assurances that it will be able to compete successfully against current and 
future competitors. Competitive pressures faced by the Company could have a material adverse effect on its business, 
operating results, and financial condition. 

The Company’s products are subject to regulations governing their labeling, marketing and advertising. 

If regulators determine that the labeling of any of the Company’s products is not in compliance with applicable law 
or regulations in the United States or other jurisdictions, the Company could be subject to civil remedies or penalties, 
such as fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, warning letters, restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the 
products, or refusals to permit the import or export of products, as well as potential criminal sanctions. 

The Company could also become subject to third-party claims, because of any violations of, or liabilities under, such 
requirements, including any competitor or consumer challenges relating to compliance with such requirements. For 
example, in connection with the marketing and advertisement of the Company’s products, the Company could be the 
target of claims relating to false or misleading advertising. Such claims could include challenges to our label or 
labeling claims that, if successful, could require us to make labeling changes and/or pay monetary damages. 

Regulatory authorities, such as the Food and Drug Administration and the United States Department of Agriculture, 
or similar foreign regulatory authorities such as Health Canada or authorities in the UK, the EU or the EU member 
states, could take action to impact our ability to use certain terms to describe or advertise our brand and products. In 
addition, a food may be deemed misbranded if its labeling is false or misleading in any particular way, and authorities 
or other regulators could interpret the use of such terms or any similar phrase(s) to describe our plant-based and clean-
label food and beverage products as false or misleading or likely to create an erroneous impression regarding their 
composition. Should regulatory authorities take action with respect to the use of certain terms to describe or advertise 
our products, such that we are unable to use those terms with respect to our plant-based or clean-label food and 
beverage products, we could be subject to enforcement action or recall of our products marketed with these terms, we 
may be required to modify our marketing strategy, and our business, prospects, results of operations or financial 
condition could be adversely affected. Competitors may also try to bring legal action against us and any resulting 
litigation could be costly and disruptive to our ability to market in the affected jurisdictions.  

Any change in labeling or packaging requirements for our products may lead to an increase in costs or interruptions 
in production, either of which could adversely affect our operations and financial condition. New or revised 
government laws and regulations could result in additional compliance costs and, in the event of non-compliance, civil 
remedies, including fines, injunctions, withdrawals, recalls or seizures and confiscations, as well as potential criminal 
sanctions, any of which may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 
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Risks relating to laws and regulatory requirements 

The Company subject to employment, health and safety, cyber and data security, privacy, environmental, tax, 
advertising, competition and other laws, and regulation by government agencies such as such as the Food and Drug 
Administration and the United States Department of Agriculture who regulate various aspects of the Company’s 
products, including food safety standards, preventive controls plans, traceability and current good manufacturing 
practices. The Company strives to maintain compliance with all laws and regulations. Nevertheless, there can be no 
assurance that the Company is in compliance with all such laws and regulations, have all necessary permits and 
licenses, and will be able to comply with such laws and regulations, or obtain such permits and licenses in the future. 
Failure by the Company to comply with applicable laws and regulations and permits and licenses could subject the 
Company to civil remedies, including fines, injunctions, recalls or seizures, as well as potential criminal sanctions, 
which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. If the 
Company, or third parties involved in the supply chain of the Company’s products, cannot successfully manufacture, 
package, label, store, advertise or distribute products that conform to the specifications of applicable regulators, the 
Company may be subject to adverse inspectional findings or enforcement actions, which could materially impact our 
ability to market the Company’s products, could result in our inability to manufacture the Company’s products, or 
could result in a recall of the Company’s products that have already been distributed. 

The regulatory environment in which the Company operates could change significantly in the future. Enforcement of 
existing laws and regulations, changes in legal requirements and/or evolving interpretations of existing regulatory 
requirements may result in increased compliance costs and create other obligations, financial or otherwise, that could 
adversely affect the Company’s business, financial condition or results of operations. In particular, any change in laws 
and regulations, including laws and regulations applicable to the manufacture, composition, ingredients, packaging, 
labeling, distribution, advertising, sale, quality and safety requirements for the Company’s products may lead to an 
increase in costs or interruptions in production, either of which could adversely affect the Company’s operations and 
financial condition. 

Risks relating to limited or disrupted supply of key ingredients 

A number of the ingredients in the Company’s products, such as various fruits and vegetables, are vulnerable to 
adverse weather conditions and natural disasters, such as floods, droughts, frosts, earthquakes, hurricanes and 
pestilence. Adverse weather conditions and natural disasters can lower crop yields and reduce crop size and quality, 
which in turn could reduce the available supply of, or increase the price of quality ingredients. The Company also 
competes with other food producers in the procurement of ingredients, and as consumer demand for plant-based and 
clean label products increases, this competition may increase. Moreover, the Company strives to use organic 
ingredients which are more limited in supply than conventional product ingredients. If supplies of quality ingredients 
are reduced or there is greater demand for such ingredients, the Company may not be able to obtain sufficient supply 
on favourable terms, or at all, which could impact the Company’s ability to supply products to distributors and retailers 
and may adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

In addition to ingredients, we also purchase significant amounts of packaging for our products. Price fluctuations in 
the Company’s key ingredients and packaging supplies could increase the cost of goods sold and the Company may 
not be able to implement product price increases to cover any increased costs, or any price increases implemented 
may result in lower sales volumes. If the Company is not successful in managing the Company’s raw material costs, 
and unable to increase the Company’s prices to cover increased costs or if such price increases reduce sales volumes, 
then such increases in costs will adversely affect the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Risks associated with scaling production and ability to manage supply chain 
 
The Company’s ability to effectively scale production processes and effectively manage our supply chain requirements 
has risk. The Company must accurately forecast demand for the Company’s products and inventory needs to ensure 
the Company has adequate available production capacity and to effectively manage the Company’s inventory. 
Insufficient or delayed supply of products threatens the Company’s ability to meet customer demands while over 
capacity threatens our ability to generate profit. If the Company does not accurately align production capabilities and 
inventory supply with demand, the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations may be 
materially adversely affected. 
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Risks relating to food safety and consumer health, including product liability 

The Company is subject to risks that affect the food industry in general, including the risks posed by food spoilage, 
accidental contamination, foodborne illness, product tampering, consumer product liability, and the potential costs 
and disruptions of a product recall. Unexpected side effects, illness, injury or death related to allergens, food-borne 
illnesses or other food safety incidents involving our products could result in the discontinuance of sales of these 
products or otherwise result in increased operating costs, regulatory enforcement actions, lawsuits or harm to our 
reputation. The Company may manage these risks by maintaining strict and rigorous controls and processes in its 
production processes and distribution system. However, the Company cannot assure that such systems will eliminate 
the risks related to food safety. Any product safety issue could subject the Company to product liability and negligence 
claims, including consumer class action lawsuits, adverse publicity and government scrutiny, investigation or 
intervention, resulting in increased costs and decreased sales. Any claims brought against the Company may exceed 
or be outside the scope of the Company’s existing or future insurance policy coverage or limits. Any of these events 
could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Risks related to real or perceived quality or health issues with the Company’s products 

The Company believes that its consumers rely on it to provide them with high-quality plant-based products. Therefore, 
real or perceived quality or food safety concerns or failures to comply with applicable food regulations and 
requirements, whether or not ultimately based on fact and whether or not involving the Company (such as incidents 
involving our competitors), could cause negative publicity and reduced confidence in the Company, its brand or 
products, or the industry as a whole, which could in turn harm its reputation and sales, and could materially adversely 
affect our business, financial condition and operating results. Although we believe we have a rigorous quality control 
process, there can be no assurance that the Company’s products will always comply with the standards set for such 
products, and although the Company strives to keep its products free of pathogenic organisms, they may not be easily 
detected and cross-contamination can occur. 

The Company has no control over its products once purchased by consumers. Accordingly, consumers may prepare 
the products in a manner that is inconsistent with directions or store products for long periods of time, which may 
adversely affect the quality and safety of such products. If consumers do not perceive the Company’s products to be 
safe or of high quality, then the value of the Company’s brand would be diminished, and its business, results of 
operations and financial condition would be adversely affected. 

Any loss of confidence on the part of consumers in the ingredients used in the Company’s products or in the safety 
and quality of its products would be difficult and costly to overcome. Any such adverse effect could be exacerbated 
by its position in the market as a purveyor of high-quality plant-based and clean label products and may significantly 
reduce its brand value. Issues regarding the safety of any of our products, regardless of the cause, may have a 
substantial and adverse effect on the Company’s brand, reputation and operating results. 

The growing use of social and digital media by the Company, our consumers and third parties increases the speed and 
extent that information or misinformation and opinions can be shared. Negative publicity about the Company, its 
brands or its products on social or digital media could seriously damage our brands and reputation. If we do not 
maintain the favorable perception of the Company’s brands, its sales and profits could be negatively impacted. 

Environmental and health and safety laws. 

The Company is subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it 
operates or is planning to operate. Such regulations govern, among other things, emissions of pollutants into the air, 
wastewater discharges, waste disposal, the investigation and remediation of soil and groundwater contamination, and 
the health and safety of the Company’s employees. For example, the Company’s products and the raw materials used 
in its production processes are subject to numerous environmental laws and regulations. The Company may be 
required to obtain environmental permits from governmental authorities for certain of its current or proposed 
operations. The Company may not have been, nor may it be able to be at all times, in full compliance with such laws, 
regulations and permits. If the Company violates or fails to comply with these laws, regulations or permits, the 
Company could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. 
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As with other companies engaged in similar activities or that own or operate real property, the Company faces inherent 
risks of environmental liability at its current and historical production sites. Certain environmental laws impose strict 
and, in certain circumstances, joint and several liability on current or previous owners or operators of real property for 
the cost of the investigation, removal or remediation of hazardous substances as well as liability for related damages 
to natural resources. In addition, the Company may discover new facts or conditions that may change its expectations 
or be faced with changes in environmental laws or their enforcement that would increase its liabilities. Furthermore, 
its costs of complying with current and future environmental and health and safety laws, or the Company’s liabilities 
arising from past or future releases of, or exposure to, regulated materials, may have a material adverse effect on its 
business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

Labelling. 

In recent years, a number of plant-based and dairy alternative companies have been the subject of investigations 
relating to the use of words such as dairy in connection with plant-based products. In certain instances, the matter was 
resolved through the use of a hyphenated modifier such as “plant-based” or “dairy-free” but in others, revisions to the 
labelling of products was required in order to distinguish the products at issue from the conventional understanding 
of meat and cheese products. While the Company currently believes that its product labels and marketing materials 
are not misleading or deceptive, there is a risk that the applicable regulators will take up enforcement action against 
the Company. Any such review could divert resources from the Company’s management and result in increased 
compliance costs and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. 

If the Company is unable to develop and market new products, it may not be able to keep pace with market 
developments. 

The plant-based and clean label beverage industry, which is a portion of the Company’s business, is in its early stages 
and it is likely that the Company and its competitors will seek to introduce new products in the future. In attempting 
to keep pace with any new market developments, the Company will need to expend significant amounts of capital in 
order to successfully develop and generate revenues, from new products. The Company may not be successful in 
developing new products, bringing such products to market, or gaining market acceptance for its products, which 
together with capital expenditures made in relation to such product development, may have a material adverse effect 
on the Company’s business, financial condition, and results of operations. 

There is no assurance that the Company will successfully develop its products currently in the product development 
process. 

As described further in the “Business Objectives and Milestones” section, the Company has various products being 
brought to the commercialization stage, with each product facing different significant events it must achieve for its 
successful development. A failure to complete, successfully and timely, the required commercial manufacturing, or 
any required product development process, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s profitability and 
financial condition.  

There is no assurance that the Company will retain any relevant licenses nor obtain new licenses or approvals that 
may be required for the Company’s business and future plans. 

Compliance related to food safety, Global Food Safety Initiative, Hazard Analysis Critical Control Point, and Good 
Manufacturing Practice standards, may be required for the facilities used in handling and processing food products. 
Certifications, once issued, are subject to ongoing compliance and reporting requirements. Failure to comply with the 
requirements would have a material adverse impact on the business, financial condition, and operating results of the 
Company.  

The Company cannot predict the time required to secure all appropriate regulatory approvals for its products, or the 
extent of testing, documentation and periodic reporting that may be required by governmental authorities. Any delays 
in obtaining, or failure to obtain or retain the necessary regulatory approvals will significantly delay the development 
of the Company’s markets and products and could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations 
and financial condition of the Company.  
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There is no assurance that the Company will maintain its material customer base. 

The loss of any major customer, a significant decrease in business from any such customer, or a reduction in customer 
revenue due to adverse changes in the terms of contractual agreements or other factors could adversely affect the 
Company’s timing and volume of current sales, operations, production output and financial condition. Moreover, the 
Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin 
or in a timely fashion, or at all. Revenue from individual customers may fluctuate occasionally based on, among other 
things, the commencement and completion of projects, the timing of which may be impacted by market volatility. 
Despite the Company’s plans to diversify the Company’s customer base through the growth of its product sales and 
marketing team, there can be no assurance that the Company’s customers will maintain or increase their sales volumes 
or orders for the products supplied by the Company or that the Company will be able to maintain or increase its 
existing customer base.  

Limited Number of Distributors. 

The Company uses a limited number of distributors for its sales, and if it experiences the loss of one or more 
distributors and cannot replace them in a timely manner, results of operations may be adversely affected. The Company 
expects that most of its sales will be made through a core number of distributors for the foreseeable future. Since these 
distributors act as intermediaries between the Company and the retail grocers, the Company does not have short-term 
or long-term commitments or minimum purchase volumes in its contracts with them that ensure future sales of its 
products. If the Company loses one or more of its significant distributors and cannot replace the distributor in a timely 
manner or at all, its business, results of operation and financial condition may be materially adversely affected. 

Reliance on Third-Party Suppliers. 

Given that the Company relies on a limited number of third-party suppliers, it may not be able to obtain raw materials 
on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities to produce its products or meet the demand for its products. The Company’s 
financial performance depends in large part on its ability to arrange for the purchase of raw materials in sufficient 
quantities at competitive prices. The Company is not assured of continued supply or pricing of raw materials. Any of 
the Company’s suppliers could discontinue or seek to alter their relationship with the Company. 

Events that adversely affect the Company’s suppliers of raw materials could impair its ability to obtain raw material 
inventory in the quantities that it desires. Such events include problems with the Company’s suppliers’ businesses, 
finances, labor relations, ability to import raw materials, costs, production, insurance, and reputation, as well as natural 
disasters, fires, or other catastrophic occurrences. 

The Company continuously seeks alternative sources of materials to use in its products, but it may not be successful 
in diversifying the raw materials it uses in its products. 

If the Company needs to replace an existing supplier, there can be no assurance that supplies of raw materials will be 
available when required on acceptable terms, or at all, or that a new supplier would allocate sufficient capacity to the 
Company in order to meet its requirements, fill its orders in a timely manner or meet its strict quality standards. If the 
Company is unable to manage its supply chain effectively and ensure that its products are available to meet consumer 
demand, its operating costs could increase, and its profit margins could decrease. Any significant increase in the price 
of raw materials that cannot be passed on to the customers could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
results of operations or financial condition. 

Third-Party Supplier Compliance. 

Failure by the Company’s suppliers of raw materials or co-packers to comply with food safety, environmental or other 
laws and regulations, or with the specifications and requirements of its products, may disrupt its supply of products 
and adversely affect its business. 

If suppliers or partners fail to comply with food safety, environmental or other laws and regulations, or face allegations 
of non-compliance, their operations may be disrupted. In the event of actual or alleged noncompliance, the Company 
might be forced to find alternative suppliers or partners and it may be subject to lawsuits related to such non-
compliance. As a result, the Company’s supply of raw materials or finished products could be disrupted or its costs 
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could increase, which would adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, 
actions the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any disruption or potential disruption in its supply of raw 
materials or finished products, including increasing inventory in anticipation of a potential supply or production 
interruption, may adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition. 

The Company may be subject to product recalls for product defects self-imposed or imposed by regulators. 

Manufacturers and distributors of products are sometimes subject to the recall or return of their products for a variety 
of reasons, including product defects, such as contamination, unintended harmful side effects or interactions with other 
substances, packaging safety and inadequate or inaccurate labeling disclosure. If any of the Company’s products are 
recalled due to an alleged product defect or for any other reason, the Company could be required to incur the 
unexpected expense of the recall and any legal proceedings that might arise in connection with the recall. The 
Company may lose a significant amount of sales and may not be able to replace those sales at an acceptable margin 
or at all. In addition, a product recall may require significant management attention. Although the Company has 
detailed procedures in place for testing its products, there can be no assurance that any quality, potency, or 
contamination problems will be detected in time to avoid unforeseen product recalls, regulatory action, or lawsuits. 
Additionally, if one of the Company significant brands were subject to recall, the image of that brand and the Company 
could be harmed. A recall for any of the foregoing reasons could lead to decreased demand for the Company’s products 
and could have a material adverse effect on the results of operations and financial condition of the Company. 
Additionally, product recalls may lead to increased scrutiny of the Company’s operations regulatory agencies, 
requiring further management attention and potential legal fees and other expenses. 

Quality Control. 

Whether real or perceived, reports of inadequate quality control (with respect to products and their manufacturing) 
can have multiple consequences. The Company’s sales and results related to these products could be severely affected; 
this impact may extend beyond the products involved and include other offerings under the same brand name; rapid 
digital dissemination of information through news reports and social media may also spread to other geographic areas 
than the ones initially involved; in addition to the immediate financial impact, the reputation of the Company, its 
product offerings as well as its quality control protocols may be adversely affected over the long term, thereby 
exacerbating the financial risk for the Company. 

The quality and safety of the Company’s products are critical to the success of the Company’s business and operations. 
As such, it is imperative that the Company and their service providers’ quality control systems operate effectively and 
successfully. Quality control systems can be negatively impacted by the design of the quality control systems, the 
quality training program, and adherence by employees to quality control guidelines. 

Product Liability. 

As a manufacturer and distributor of products designed to be ingested by humans, the Company faces an inherent risk 
of exposure to product liability claims, regulatory action, and litigation if its products are alleged to have caused 
significant loss or injury. In addition, the manufacture and sale of the Company’s products involve the risk of injury 
to consumers due to tampering by unauthorized third parties or product contamination. Previously unknown adverse 
reactions resulting from human consumption of the Company’s products alone or in combination with other among 
others, that the Company’s products caused injury or illness, include inadequate instructions for use or include 
inadequate warnings concerning possible side effects or interactions with other substances. A product liability claim 
or regulatory action against the Company could result in increased costs, could adversely affect the Company’s 
reputation with its clients and consumers generally, and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results 
of operations and financial condition of the Company. 

There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to obtain or maintain product liability insurance on 
acceptable terms or with adequate coverage against potential liabilities. Such insurance is expensive and may not be 
available in the future on acceptable terms, or at all. The inability to obtain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable 
terms or to otherwise protect against potential product liability claims could prevent or inhibit the commercialization 
of the Company’s potential products. As of the current date, the Company carries a US$7 million umbrella insurance 
policy that covers product liability. 
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Holding Company. 

The Company is a holding company and essentially all its assets are the capital stock of its material subsidiaries. As a 
result, investors in the Company are subject to the risks attributable to its subsidiaries. Consequently, the Company’s 
cash flows and ability to complete current or desirable future enhancement opportunities are dependent on the earnings 
of its subsidiaries and investments and the distribution of those earnings to Company. The ability of these entities to 
pay dividends and other distributions will depend on their operating results and will be subject to applicable laws and 
regulations which require that solvency and capital standards be maintained by such companies and contractual 
restrictions contained in the instruments governing their debt. In the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, or 
reorganization of any of the Company’s material subsidiaries, holders of indebtedness and trade creditors may be 
entitled to payment of their claims from the assets of those subsidiaries before the Company. 

The Company expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations related to its investment in infrastructure, 
growth, regulatory compliance, and operations. 

The Company expects to incur significant ongoing costs and obligations related to its investment in infrastructure and 
growth and for regulatory compliance, which could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s results of 
operations, financial condition, and cash flows. In addition, future changes in regulations, more vigorous enforcement 
thereof or other unanticipated events could require extensive changes to the Company’s operations, increased 
compliance costs or give rise to material liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results 
of operations and financial condition of the Company. The Company’s efforts to grow its business may be costlier 
than the Company expects, and the Company may not be able to increase its revenue enough to offset its higher 
operating expenses. The Company may incur significant losses in the future for a number of reasons, and unforeseen 
expenses, difficulties, complications and delays, and other unknown events. If the Company is unable to achieve and 
sustain profitability, the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares may significantly decrease. 

The Company may be subject to additional regulatory burden resulting from its public listing on the CSE. 

The Company has not been subject to the continuous and timely disclosure requirements of Canadian securities laws 
or other rules, regulations, and policies of the CSE. The Company is working with its legal, accounting, and financial 
advisors to identify those areas in which changes should be made to the Company’s financial management control 
systems to manage its obligations as a public company listed on the CSE. These areas include corporate governance, 
corporate controls, disclosure controls and procedures and financial reporting and accounting systems. The Company 
has made, and will continue to make, changes in these and other areas, including the Company’s internal controls over 
financial reporting. However, the Company cannot assure holders of Company’s shares that these and other measures 
that the Company might take will be sufficient to allow us to satisfy the Company’s obligations as a public company 
listed on the CSE on a timely basis. In addition, compliance with reporting and other requirements applicable to public 
companies listed on the CSE will create additional costs for the Company and will require the time and attention of 
management. The Company cannot predict the amount of the additional costs that the Company might incur, the 
timing of such costs or the impact that management’s attention to these matters will have on the Company’s business. 

There is no assurance that the Company will turn a profit or generate immediate revenues. 

There is no assurance as to whether the Company will be profitable, earn revenues, or pay dividends. The Company 
has incurred and anticipates that it will continue to incur substantial expenses relating to the development and operation 
of its business. 

The payment and amount of any future dividends will depend upon, among other things, the Company’s results of 
operations, cash flow, financial condition, and operating and capital requirements. There is no assurance that future 
dividends will be paid, and, if dividends are paid, there is no assurance with respect to the amount of any such 
dividends. 

The Company may not be able to effectively manage its growth and operations, which could materially and 
adversely affect its business. 
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The Company has grown by acquisition. If the Company implements it business plan as intended, it may in the future 
experience rapid growth and development in a relatively short period of time. The management of this growth will 
require, among other things, continued development of the Company’s financial and management controls and 
management information systems, stringent control of costs, the ability to attract and retain qualified management 
personnel and the training of new personnel. The Company intends to utilize outsourced resources, and hire additional 
personnel, to manage its expected growth and expansion. Failure to successfully manage its possible growth and 
development could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business and the value of the Subordinate Voting 
Shares. 

Acquisition and Integration Strategies 

As part of its business strategy, the Company may pursue strategic acquisitions. There can be no assurance that we 
will find additional attractive acquisition candidates or succeed at effectively maintaining the integration of any 
businesses acquired in the future. 

Acquisitions involve a number of risks, including: (i) the possibility that the Company, as a successor owner, may be 
legally and financially responsible for liabilities of prior owners; (ii) the possibility that the Company may pay more 
than the acquired company or assets are worth; (iii) the additional expenses associated with completing an acquisition 
and amortizing any acquired intangible assets; (iv) the difficulty of integrating the operations and personnel of an 
acquired business; (v) the challenge of implementing standard controls, procedures and policies throughout an 
acquired business; (vi) the inability to integrate, train, retain and motivate key personnel of and acquired business; and 
(vii) the potential disruption of the Company's ongoing business and the distraction of management from its day-to-
day operations. 

These risks and difficulties, if they materialize, could disrupt the Company’s ongoing business, distract management, 
result in the loss of key personnel, increase expenses and otherwise have an adverse effect on the Company's business, 
results of operations and financial performance. 

The Company may be unable to adequately protect its proprietary and intellectual property rights 

The Company’s ability to compete may depend on the superiority, uniqueness and value of any intellectual property 
and technology that it may develop. To the extent the Company is able to do so, to protect any proprietary rights of 
the Company, the Company intends to rely on a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, 
confidentiality agreements with its employees and third parties, and protective contractual provisions. Despite these 
efforts, any of the following occurrences may reduce the value of any of the Company’s intellectual property: 

 the market for the Company’s products and services may depend to a significant extent upon the goodwill 
associated with its trademarks and trade names; 

 patents in the food industry may involve complex legal and scientific questions and patent protection may 
not be available for some or any of the Company’s products or processes; the Company’s applications for 
trademarks and copyrights relating to its business may not be granted and, if granted, may be challenged or 
invalidated; 

 issued patents, trademarks and registered copyrights may not provide the Company with competitive 
advantages; the Company’s efforts to protect its intellectual property rights may not be effective in preventing 
misappropriation of any its products or intellectual property; 

 the Company’s efforts may not prevent the development and design by others of products or marketing 
strategies similar to or competitive with, or superior to those the Company develops; 

 another party may assert a blocking patent and the Company would need to either obtain a license or design 
around the patent in order to continue to offer the contested feature or service in its products; or 
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 the expiration of patent or other intellectual property protections for any assets owned by the Company could 
result in significant competition, potentially at any time and without notice, resulting in a significant reduction 
in sales. The effect of the loss of these protections on the Company and its financial results will depend, 
among other things, upon the nature of the market and the position of the Company’s products in the market 
from time to time, the growth of the market, the complexities, and economics of manufacturing a competitive 
product and regulatory approval requirements but the impact could be material and adverse. 

The Company may be forced to litigate to defend its intellectual property rights, or to defend against claims by third 
parties against the Company relating to intellectual property rights. 

The Company may be forced to litigate to enforce or defend its intellectual property rights, to protect its trade secrets 
or to determine the validity and scope of other parties’ proprietary rights. Any such litigation could be very costly and 
could distract its management from focusing on operating the Company’s business. The existence and/or outcome of 
any such litigation could harm the Company’s business.  

The Company may become subject to litigation, including for possible product liability claims, which may have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s reputation, business, results from operations, and financial condition. 

The Company may be named as a defendant in a lawsuit or regulatory action. The Company may also incur uninsured 
losses for liabilities which arise in the ordinary course of business, or which are unforeseen, including, but not limited 
to, employment liability and business loss claims. Any such losses could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations, sales, cash flow or financial condition. 

Risks relating to information technology systems and cybersecurity 
 
We rely on our information technology systems to manage our business, including customer, employee, product, 
inventory, supply chain and financial data. We also use mobile devices, online message platforms and other online 
activities to communicate with employees and other stakeholders. The failure of our information technology 
systems to operate effectively could adversely affect our business. In addition, our information technology systems 
are subject to damage or interruption from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer 
viruses, cyber-attacks, phishing attacks, denial-of-service attacks, social engineering attacks, ransomware attacks, 
security breaches, catastrophic events such as fires, floods, earthquakes, tornadoes, hurricanes, pandemics, acts of 
war or terrorism, and usage errors by our employees. If our information technology systems are damaged or cease 
to function properly, we may have to make a significant investment to fix or replace them. 
 
We may also suffer loss of critical data, compromise to the integrity or confidentiality of data and information, 
including but not limited to employee, customer and supplier information in our systems or networks, disruption to 
the systems or networks of third parties on which we rely, and interruptions or delays in our operations. We rely on 
third-party technology cloud providers and may be subject to risks of such service providers ceasing business 
operations, changing their business models, reducing functionality or experiencing cyber-attacks or system outages. 
Any significant loss of data or failure to maintain reliable data could have a material adverse effect on our business 
and results of operations.  
 
Many jurisdictions have adopted privacy and data security laws or regulations that require notification to consumers 
or employees if the security of their personal information is breached, among other requirements. Any compromise 
of our security or accidental loss or theft of customer or employee data in our possession could result in a violation 
of applicable privacy and other laws, significant legal and financial exposure and damage to our reputation, which 
could adversely impact our business, financial condition, results of operations and the price of our Subordinate 
Voting Shares. 
 
Risks relating to climate change 
 
Physical risks resulting from climate change can be event-driven (acute) or long-term (chronic) shifts in climate 
patterns that may have negative impacts on our business, including direct damage to assets such as our facilities 
and indirect impact to our supply chain. As climate change accelerates, its impacts are becoming more widespread 
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and unpredictable. The incidence and impact of severe weather-related events, long term changes in weather 
patterns that lead to extreme weather and natural disasters including flooding and drought, may have a negative effect 
on agricultural productivity, which may result in decreased availability or less favourable pricing for some or many 
of the ingredients in our products such as such as legumes and vegetables. Furthermore, evolving regulatory and 
legal frameworks to tackle climate change today and in the future may lead to adverse impacts to our business. 
These may include, but are not limited to, costs related to compliance, resources, and transportation. 
 
Risks associated with consumer trends 
 
The Company’s business is focused on providing wholesome and nutritious plant-based products and clean label 
products. Consumer demand could change based on a number of possible factors, including dietary habits and 
nutritional values, concerns regarding the health effects of ingredients and shifts in preference for various product 
attributes that we may not be able to accurately predict or respond to. If consumer demand for our products 
decreases, our business and financial condition would suffer. Consumer trends could change based on a number of 
possible factors, including economic factors and social trends. A significant shift in consumer demand away from 
our products could reduce sales, which would harm our business and financial condition. 
 
Market conditions. 

Recent market events and conditions and economic disruptions have in the past impacted capital investment initiatives 
and sales cycles and will continue to impact the performance of the global economy and inevitably the Company 
moving forward.  

Adverse and uncertain economic market conditions, particularly in the locations in which the Company operates, may 
impact customer and consumer demand for its products and its ability to manage commercial relationships with its 
customers, suppliers, and creditors. Consumers may shift purchases to lower-priced or other perceived value offerings 
during economic downturns, which may adversely affect the result of operations. More importantly, consumers may 
also reduce the number of plant-based food products that they purchase where there are conventional alternatives, 
given that plant-based food products generally have higher retail prices than do their conventional counterparts. 
Additionally, consumers may choose to purchase private label products rather than branded products, which generally 
have lower retail prices than do their branded counterparts. Distributors and retailers may become more conservative 
in response to these conditions and seek to reduce their inventories. The Company’s results of operations depend upon, 
among other things, its ability to maintain and increase sales volumes with existing customers, its ability to attract 
new customers, the financial condition of its customers and its ability to provide products that appeal to consumers at 
the right price. A prolonged period of adverse market conditions may impede the Company’s ability to grow. 

The Company relies heavily on sales of fresh produce and quality natural and organic products, and product supply 
disruptions may have an adverse effect on profitability and operating results.   

The Company has a significant focus on perishable products, including fresh produce and natural and organic products. 
Although the Company has not experienced difficulty to date in maintaining the supply of produce and fresh, natural 
and organic products that meet the Company’s quality standards, there is no assurance that these products will be 
available to meet the Company’s needs in the future. The availability of such products at competitive prices depends 
on many factors beyond the Company’s control, including the number and size of farms that grow natural or organic 
crops that meet the Company’s quality, welfare and production standards, tariffs and import regulations or restrictions 
on foreign-sourced products and the ability of the Company’s vendors to maintain organic, non-genetically modified 
or other applicable third-party certifications for such products. Produce is also vulnerable to adverse weather 
conditions and natural disasters, such as floods, droughts, storms, frosts, wildfires, earthquakes, hurricanes, pestilences 
and other extreme or abnormal environmental conditions (including the potential effects of climate change). Adverse 
weather conditions and natural disasters can lower crop yields and reduce crop size and quality, which in turn could 
reduce the available supply of, or increase the price of, fresh produce. 

If the Company is unable to attract and retain key personnel, it may not be able to compete effectively in the food 
ingredient market. 
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The Company’s success has depended and continues to depend upon its ability to attract and retain key management, 
including the Company’s CEO, CFO, COO, and technical experts. The Company will attempt to enhance its 
management and technical expertise by continuing to recruit qualified individuals who possess desired skills and 
experience in certain targeted areas. The Company’s inability to retain employees and attract and retain sufficient 
additional employees or engineering and technical support resources could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations, sales, cash flow or financial condition. Shortages in qualified personnel or 
the loss of key personnel could adversely affect the financial condition of the Company, results of operations of the 
business and could limit the Company’s ability to develop and market its food-related products. The loss of any of the 
Company’s senior management or key employees could materially adversely affect the Company’s ability to execute 
the Company’s business plan and strategy, and the Company may not be able to find adequate replacements on a 
timely basis, or at all. The Company does not maintain key person life insurance policies on any of the Company’s 
employees. 

The size of the Company’s target market is difficult to quantify, and investors will be reliant on their own estimates 
on the accuracy of market data. 

Because the plant-based and clean label segment of the food industry is in an early stage with uncertain boundaries, 
there is a lack of information about comparable companies available for potential investors to review in deciding about 
whether to invest in the Company and, few, if any, established companies whose business model the Company can 
follow or upon whose success the Company can build. Accordingly, investors will have to rely on their own estimates 
in deciding about whether to invest in the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company’s estimates are 
accurate or that the market size is sufficiently large for its business to grow as projected, which may negatively impact 
its financial results. The Company regularly purchases and follows market research. 

The Company’s industry is experiencing rapid growth and consolidation that may cause the Company to lose key 
relationships and intensify competition. 

The plant-based and clean label segment of the food industry and businesses ancillary to and directly involved with 
plant-based food businesses are undergoing rapid growth and substantial change, which has resulted in an increase in 
competitors, consolidation, and formation of strategic relationships. Acquisitions or other consolidating transactions 
could harm the Company in several ways, including by losing strategic partners if they are acquired by or enter into 
relationships with a competitor, losing customers, revenue and market share, or forcing the Company to expend greater 
resources to meet new or additional competitive threats, all of which could harm the Company’s operating results. As 
competitors enter the market and become increasingly sophisticated, competition in the Company’s industry may 
intensify and place downward pressure on retail prices for its products and services, which could negatively impact 
its profitability. The Company continues to sell shares for cash to fund operations, capital expansion, mergers and 
acquisitions that will dilute the current shareholders. 

There is no guarantee that the Company will be able to achieve its business objectives. The continued development of 
the Company will require additional financing. The failure to raise such capital could result in the delay or indefinite 
postponement of current business objectives or the Company going out of business. There can be no assurance that 
additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the terms of such financing 
will be favourable to the Company. 

If additional funds are raised through issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders could 
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior 
to those of holders of Subordinate Voting Shares. The Company’s articles permit the issuance of an unlimited number 
of Subordinate Voting Shares, and shareholders will have no pre-emptive rights in connection with such further 
issuance. The directors of the Company have discretion to determine the price and the terms of issue of further 
issuances. Moreover, additional Subordinate Voting Shares will be issued by the Company on conversion of 
Proportionate Voting Shares, on the exercise of options under the Stock and Incentive Plan and upon the exercise of 
outstanding share purchase warrants. In addition, from time to time, the Company may enter into transactions to 
acquire assets or the shares of other companies. These transactions may be financed wholly or partially with debt, 
which may temporarily increase the Company’s debt levels above industry standards. Any debt financing secured in 
the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational 
matters, which may make it more difficult for the Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business 
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opportunities, including potential acquisitions. The Company may require additional financing to fund its operations 
to the point where it is generating positive cash flows. Negative cash flow may restrict the Company’s ability to pursue 
its business objectives. 

The Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants 
resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company. 

The Company is exposed to the risk that its employees, independent contractors and consultants may engage in 
fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent 
conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to the Company that violate government regulations. It is not always 
possible for the Company to identify and deter misconduct by its employees and other third parties, and the precautions 
taken by the Company to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged 
risks or losses or in protecting the Company from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming 
from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against the Company, 
and it is not successful in defending itself or asserting its rights, those actions could have a significant impact on the 
Company’s business, including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary 
fines, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of the 
Company’s operations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

The Company will be reliant on information technology systems and may be subject to damaging cyberattacks. 

The Company has entered into agreements with third parties for hardware, software, telecommunications, and other 
information technology (“IT”) services in connection with its operations. The Company’s operations depend, in part, 
on how well it and its suppliers protect networks, equipment, IT systems and software against damage from several 
threats, including, but not limited to, cable cuts, damage to physical plants, natural disasters, intentional damage and 
destruction, fire, power loss, hacking, computer viruses, vandalism and theft. The Company’s operations also depend 
on the timely maintenance, upgrade and replacement of networks, equipment, IT systems and software, as well as pre-
emptive expenses to mitigate the risks of failures. Any of these and other events could result in information system 
failures, delays and/or increase in capital expenses. The failure of information systems or a component of information 
systems could, depending on the nature of any such failure, adversely impact the Company’s reputation and results of 
operations. 

The Company has not experienced any material losses to date relating to cyber-attacks or other information security 
breaches, but there can be no assurance that the Company will not incur such losses in the future. The Company’s risk 
and exposure to these matters cannot be fully mitigated because of, among other things, the evolving nature of these 
threats. As a result, cyber security and the continued development and enhancement of controls, processes and 
practices designed to protect systems, computers, software, data and networks from attack, damage or unauthorized 
access is a priority. As cyber threats continue to evolve, the Company may be required to expend additional resources 
to continue to modify or enhance protective measures or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. 

The Company’s officers and directors may be engaged in a range of business activities resulting in conflicts of 
interest. 

Although certain officers and board members of the Company are expected to be bound by anti-circumvention 
agreements limiting their ability to enter into competing and/or conflicting ventures or businesses, the Company may 
be subject to various potential conflicts of interest because some of its officers and directors (and consequently, some 
of the officers and directors of Fresh Factory and the Resulting Issuer) may be engaged in a range of business activities. 
In addition, the Company’s executive officers and directors may devote time to their outside business interests, so 
long as such activities do not materially or adversely interfere with their duties to the Company. In some cases, the 
Company’s executive officers and directors may have fiduciary obligations associated with these business interests 
that interfere with their ability to devote time to the Company’s business and affairs and that could adversely affect 
the Company’s operations. These business interests could require significant time and attention of the Company’s 
executive officers and directors. 
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In addition, the Company may also become involved in other transactions which conflict with the interests of its 
directors and the officers who may from time-to-time deal with persons, firms, institutions, or companies with which 
the Company may be dealing, or which may be seeking investments similar to those desired by it. The interests of 
these persons could conflict with those of the Company. In addition, from time to time, these persons may be 
competing with the Company for available investment opportunities. Conflicts of interest, if any, will be subject to 
the procedures and remedies provided under applicable laws. In particular, if such a conflict of interest arises at a 
meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from voting for or against the 
approval of such participation or such terms. In accordance with applicable laws, the directors of the Company are 
required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company. 

In certain circumstances, the Company’s reputation could be damaged. 

Any negative publicity concerning marketing practices, food regulation, plant-based market trends or consumer 
dissatisfaction relating directly to Company or relating to the food industry as a whole may damage the Company’s 
corporate reputation and brand image, undermine customer confidence and reduce long-term demand for its plant-
based food products. 

Damage to the Company’s reputation can be the result of the actual or perceived occurrence of any number of events 
and could include any negative publicity (such as the above examples), whether true or not. The increased usage of 
social media and other web-based tools used to generate, publish, and discuss user-generated content and to connect 
with other users has made it increasingly easier for individuals and groups to communicate and share opinions and 
views regarding the Company and its activities, whether true or not. Although the Company believes that it operates 
in a manner that is respectful to all stakeholders and that it takes care in protecting its image and reputation, the 
Company does not ultimately have direct control over how it is perceived by others.  

The success of the Company’s sales and marketing initiatives and practices may be subject to risk, including 
uncertainties about consumer acceptance (towards marketing collateral, activities, programs like influencer marketing 
campaigns, etc. being published), current inventory levels and the ability to communicate key brand and corporate 
messages to digital audiences. The success of these initiatives is also subject to potential restrictions on product 
marketing via extensive government regulations and product specific policies as well as materials published and 
expressed by special interest groups or lobbies. Furthermore, consumers and competitors may challenge certain 
marketing materials and practices by claiming, among other things, false and misleading advertising. A significant 
claim of judgment against the Company could result in monetary damages and could limit the Company’s ability to 
maintain sales and marketing practices and negatively impact its profitability. Even if such a claim is unsuccessful or 
unwarranted, the negative publicity surrounding such assertions could negatively impact the Company’s business 
operations. 

Reputational loss may result in decreased investor confidence, increased challenges in developing and maintaining 
community relations and an impediment to the Company’s overall ability to advance its projects, thereby having a 
material adverse impact on financial performance, financial condition, cash flows and growth prospects. This will be 
of particular risk to the Company due its current intention to have online sales as a significant channel for future 
distribution of some CPG products. 

No guarantee on the use of available funds by the Company. 

The Company currently intends to allocate the net proceeds received from the Subscription Receipt Offering as 
described in “Use of Proceeds” in this Prospectus. The Company cannot specify with certainty the particular uses of 
the proceeds. The Company has broad discretion in the application of its proceeds. Accordingly, a purchaser of 
Subordinate Voting Shares will have to rely upon the judgment of management with respect to the use of proceeds, 
with only limited information concerning management’s specific intentions. The Company’s management may spend 
a portion or all the proceeds in ways that the Company’s shareholders might not desire, that might not yield a 
favourable return and that might not increase the value of a purchaser’s investment. The failure by management to 
apply these funds effectively could harm the Company’s business. Pending use of such funds, the Company might 
invest the proceeds in a manner that does not produce income or that loses value. 

Currency fluctuations and exchange rate risk. 
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The Company’s revenues and expenses are expected to be primarily denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore may 
be exposed to significant currency exchange fluctuations. The Company also requires raw materials only available 
outside Canada or the United States making it vulnerable to changes in currency exchange rates with other countries. 
Recent events in the global financial markets have been coupled with increased volatility in the currency markets. 
Fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar, or between either of the foregoing 
and the Indian rupee or the Thai baht, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, and operating results. The Company may, in the future, establish a program to hedge a portion of its foreign 
currency exposure with the objective of minimizing the impact of adverse foreign currency exchange movements. 
However, even if the Company develops a hedging program, there can be no assurance that it will effectively mitigate 
currency risks. 

Foreign governments may restrict the Company’s ability to exchange local currencies for more marketable currencies 
and may limit the Company’s ability to pay dividends, to pay non-local currency accounts payable or to obtain 
currencies (other than the local currency) which may be more desirable to hold. Foreign governments may also 
simultaneously restrict the Company’s ability to increase prices in inflationary environments where local currencies 
are under significant pressure. Without the ability to increase prices to offset the impact of local currency devaluation, 
the Company’s ability to manage foreign exchange risk may be further limited. 

The Company could be liable for fraudulent or illegal activity by its employees, contractors and consultants 
resulting in significant financial losses to claims against the Company 

The Company is exposed to the risk that its employees, independent contractors and consultants may engage in 
fraudulent or other illegal activity. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent 
conduct or disclosure of unauthorized activities to the Company that violates: (i) government regulations; (ii) 
manufacturing standards; (iii) federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations; or (iv) laws that 
require the true, complete and accurate reporting of financial information or data. It is not always possible for the 
Company to identify and deter misconduct by its employees and other third parties, and the precautions taken by the 
Company to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses 
or in protecting the Company from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure 
to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against the Company, and it is not 
successful in defending itself or asserting its rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, 
including the imposition of civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, monetary fines, contractual damages, 
reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of the Company’s operations, any of which 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Need for Additional Financing 

The Company’s future capital requirements depend on many factors, including its ability to market products 
successfully, cash flows from operations, locating and retaining talent, and competing market developments.  The 
Company’s business model requires spending money (primarily on, licensing, advertising and marketing) in order to 
generate revenue.  Based on the Company’s current financial situation, the Company may have difficulty continuing 
its operations at the current level, or at all, if it does not raise additional financing in the near future.   

In order to execute the Company’s business plan, the Company will require some additional equity and/or debt 
financing to undertake capital expenditures. There can be no assurance that additional financing will be available to 
the Company when needed or on terms which are acceptable. The Company’s inability to raise financing to support 
on-going operations or to fund capital expenditures could limit the Company’s operations and may have a material 
adverse effect upon future profitability. The Company may require additional financing to fund its operations to the 
point where it is generating positive cash flows. 

If additional funds are raised through further issuances of equity or convertible debt securities, existing shareholders 
could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities issued could have rights, preferences and privileges 
superior to those of holders of Common Shares. Any debt financing secured in the future could involve restrictive 
covenants relating to capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more 
difficult for the Resulting Issuer to obtain additional capital or to pursue business opportunities, including potential 
acquisitions. If adequate funds are not obtained, the Resulting Issuer may be required to reduce, curtail, or discontinue 
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operations. There is no assurance that the Company’s future cash flow, if any, will be adequate to satisfy its ongoing 
operating expenses and capital requirements.  

If we have a material weakness in our internal controls over financial reporting, investors could lose confidence 
in the reliability of our financial statements, which could result in a decrease in the value of our securities 

One or more material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting could occur or be identified in the 
future. In addition, because of inherent limitations, our internal controls over financial reporting may not prevent or 
detect misstatements, and any projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of internal controls to future periods are 
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of 
compliance with our policies or procedures may deteriorate. If we fail to maintain the adequacy of our internal 
controls, including any failure or difficulty in implementing required new or improved controls, our business and 
results of operations could be harmed, we may not be able to provide reasonable assurance as to our financial results 
or meet our reporting obligations and there could be a material adverse effect on the price of our securities. (See 
“Selected Financial Information” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis”). 

Risks Relating to the Subordinate Voting Shares 

The Company cannot assure you that a market will continue to develop or exist for the Subordinate Voting Shares 
or what the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares will be. 

The Company has applied to list the Subordinate Voting Shares on the CSE. However, there is currently no market 
through which the Subordinate Voting Shares may be sold. The purchasers may not be able to resell the securities 
purchased under this Prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the securities in the secondary market, the transparency 
and availability of trading prices, the liquidity of the securities and the extent of issuer regulation. The Company 
cannot assure that a market will continue to develop or be sustained once the Company’s Subordinate Voting Shares 
are listed on the CSE. If a market does not continue to develop or is not sustained, it may be difficult for investors to 
sell the Subordinate Voting Shares at an attractive price or at all. The Company cannot predict the prices at which the 
Subordinate Voting Shares will trade. 

The market price for the Company’s shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control. 

The market price for the Company’s shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to numerous 
factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following: 

 actual or anticipated fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results of operations; 

 recommendations by securities research analysts; 

 changes in the economic performance or market valuations of companies in the industry in which the 
Company operates; 

 addition or departure of the Company’s executive officers and other key personnel; 

 release or expiration of lock-up or other transfer restrictions on outstanding Subordinate Voting Shares; 

 sales or perceived sales of additional Subordinate Voting Shares; 

 significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital 
commitments by or involving us or the Company’s competitors; 

 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to us; fluctuations 
to the costs of vital production materials and services; 
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 changes in global financial markets and global economies and general market conditions, such as interest 
rates and pharmaceutical product price volatility; 

 operating and share price performance of other companies that investors deem comparable to the Company 
or from a lack of market comparable companies; 

 news reports relating to trends, concerns, technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and 
other related issues in the Company’s industry or target markets; and 

 regulatory changes in the industry. 

Financial markets have recently experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected 
the market prices of equity securities of companies and that have often been unrelated to the operating performance, 
underlying asset values or prospects of such companies. Accordingly, the market price of the Subordinate Voting 
Shares may decline even if the Company’s operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. 
Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be 
other than temporary, which might result in impairment losses. There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations 
in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility and market turmoil continue, the Company’s 
operations could be adversely affected and the trading price of the Subordinate Voting Shares might be materially 
adversely affected. 

The Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends. 

The Company’s current policy is to retain earnings to finance the development and enhancement of its products and 
to otherwise reinvest in the Company. Therefore, the Company does not anticipate paying cash dividends on the 
Company’s shares in the foreseeable future. The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time by 
the Company’s board in the context of its earnings, financial condition, and other relevant factors. Until the time that 
the Company pays dividends, which the Company might never do, Company shareholders will not be able to receive 
a return on their Subordinate Voting Shares unless they sell them. 

The Company expects to be subject to taxation in both Canada and the United States, which could have a material 
adverse effect on certain investors or on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. 

We are a Canadian corporation, and as a result generally would be classified as a non-United States corporation under 
the general rules of U.S. federal income taxation. IRC Section 7874, however, contains rules that can cause a non-
United States corporation to be taxed as a United States corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Under 
Section 7874 of the Code, a corporation created or organized outside of the United States will nevertheless be treated 
as a United States corporation for U.S. federal tax purposes, which is referred to as an inversion, if each of the 
following three conditions are met: (i) the non-United States corporation acquires, directly or indirectly, or is treated 
as acquiring under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, substantially all of the assets held, directly or indirectly, by 
a United States corporation, (ii) after the acquisition, the former stockholders of the acquired United States corporation 
hold at least 80% (by vote or value) of the shares of the non-United States corporation by reason of holding shares of 
the acquired United States corporation, and (iii) after the acquisition, the non-United States corporation’s expanded 
affiliated group does not have substantial business activities in the non-United States corporation’s country of 
organization or incorporation when compared to the expanded affiliated group’s total business activities. 

Pursuant to Section 7874 of the Code, we are classified as a United States corporation for United States federal income 
tax purposes and are subject to United States federal income tax on our worldwide income. Regardless of any 
application of Section 7874 of the Code; however, we expect to be treated as a Canadian resident company for purposes 
of the Tax Act, as amended. As a result, we are subject to taxation both in Canada and the United States, which could 
have a material adverse effect on investors or on our financial condition or results of operations. 

Additionally, the U.S. gift, estate, and generation-skipping transfer tax rules generally will apply to a non-U.S. 
shareholder of Subordinate Voting Shares as a result of the Company being treated as a U.S. corporation for U.S. tax 
purposes. 
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EACH SHAREHOLDER SHOULD SEEK TAX ADVICE, BASED ON SUCH SHAREHOLDER’S PARTICULAR 
CIRCUMSTANCES, FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR. 

Future sales of Subordinate Voting Shares by existing shareholders could reduce the market price of the 
Subordinate Voting Shares. 

Sales of a substantial number of Subordinate Voting Shares in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, 
or the market perception that the holders of a large number of Subordinate Voting Shares intend to sell Subordinate 
Voting Shares, could reduce the market price of the Subordinate Voting Shares. Additional Subordinate Voting Shares 
may be available for sale into the public market, subject to applicable securities laws, which could reduce the market 
price for Subordinate Voting Shares. Holders of Options, Finder’s Warrants and Performance Warrants will have an 
immediate income inclusion for tax purposes when they exercise their Options, Finder’s Warrants and Performance 
Warrants (that is, tax is not deferred until they sell the underlying Subordinate Voting Shares). As a result, these 
holders may need to sell Subordinate Voting Shares purchased on the exercise of Options, Finder’s Warrants and 
Performance Warrants in the same year that they exercise their options. This might result in a greater number of 
Subordinate Voting Shares being sold in the public market, and fewer long-term holds of Subordinate Voting Shares 
by the Company’s management and employees. 

 

CERTAIN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

The Company encourages each security holder to consult with its own tax or professional advisor to under the tax 
considerations generally applicable with purchasing or owning Subordinate Voting Shares.  

 

PROMOTERS  

Nathan Laurell, the CEO and a director of the Company may be considered a “promoter” of the Company as such 
term is defined in the Securities Act (British Columbia) in connection with his role in facilitating the Company’s 
acquisition of Fresh Factory and organizing the Company’s business. For a description of the voting and equity 
securities of the Company held by the promoter see “Directors and Executive Officers” and for a description of all 
compensation received and to be received by the promoter see “Executive Compensation”. 

Other than as disclosed in this section or elsewhere in this Prospectus, no person who was a promoter of the Company 
or Fresh Factory: 

 received anything of value directly or indirectly from the Company or Fresh Factory or a subsidiary of either 
within the last two years;  

 sold or otherwise transferred any asset to the Company or Fresh Factory or a subsidiary of either within the 
last two years;  

 has been a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that during the past 10 
years was the subject of a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the company access to 
any exemptions under securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive days or became 
bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or been subject to or 
instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver or receiver manager 
or trustee appointed to hold its assets;  

 has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation 
or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority within the last two years; 
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 has been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be 
likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision within the last two 
years; or 

has within the past 10 years become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

The Company is not aware of any material legal proceedings involving the Company nor are any such proceedings 
known by the Company to be contemplated. 

 

INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Other than as set forth in this Prospectus, none of (i) the directors or executive officers of the Company, (ii) the 
shareholders who beneficially own or control or direct, directly or indirectly, more than ten (10%) percent of the 
Company’s outstanding voting securities, or (iii) any Associate or Affiliate of the foregoing Persons, in any transaction 
in which the Company has participated within the three years before the date of this Prospectus, that has materially 
affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company.  

 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS  

The auditor of the Company is Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP at its principal address of 1500 – 1140 West 
Pender St., Vancouver, BC, Canada, V6E 4G1. Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP has confirmed that they 
are independent of the Company within the meaning of the “CPABC Code of Professional Conduct” of the Chartered 
Professional Accountants of British Columbia. 

The auditor of Fresh Factory is MNP LLP, located at 111 Richmond Street West, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 
2G4.  

The Resulting Issuer has engaged MNP LLP as its auditor and has retained Olympia Trust Company to act as transfer 
agent for the Company. 

 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS  

The following are material contracts that have been entered into by the Company or its subsidiaries, other than in the 
ordinary course of business, within the past two years and which are currently in force: 

1. Merger Agreement. See “Corporate Structure – Acquisition of Fresh Factory”; and 

2. Subscription Receipt Agreement dated July 23, 2021 between the Company and Olympia Trust Company. 

Copies of the above agreements or redacted versions thereof can be inspected at the Fresh Factory’s head office during 
regular business hours for a period of 30 days after a final receipt is issued for this Prospectus and are also available 
electronically at www.sedar.com. 
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ENFORCEMENT OF JUDGMENTS AGAINST FOREIGN PERSONS 

Following the Transaction, the Company’s operating entities will be those formed or continued under the laws of a 
jurisdiction outside of Canada. The Company’s operations and assets are therefore located outside of Canada, and 
Nathan Laurell, the CEO and a director of the Resulting Issuer, and Jeremy Schupp, the CFO and a director of the 
Resulting Issuer, reside outside of Canada. Although such persons either have an office in Canada or have appointed 
Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP as their agents for service of process in Canada, it may not be possible for 
shareholders to enforce against such persons judgments obtained in Canadian courts predicated on the civil liability 
provisions of applicable securities laws in Canada. 

Shareholders are advised that it may not be possible for them to enforce judgments obtained in Canada against any 
person or company that is incorporated, continued, or otherwise organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or 
resides outside of Canada, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process. Other than as disclosed 
herein, no director, officer, Insider or Promoter of the Company has had any material interest, direct or indirect, in 
any transaction since Company to the date hereof that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially 
affect the Company. 

 

LEGAL MATTERS 

Certain legal matters in connection with this Prospectus have been passed upon by McMillan LLP, on behalf of the 
Company. As of the date hereof, the partners and associates of McMillan LLP, as a group, are anticipated to 
beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, less than one percent of the outstanding securities of the 
Resulting Issuer. 

Certain legal matters in connection with this Prospectus will be passed upon by Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP, on 
behalf of Fresh Factory. As at the date hereof, the partners and associates of Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP , as a 
group, are anticipated to beneficially own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, less than one percent of the 
outstanding securities of the Resulting Issuer. 

EXEMPTIONS FROM SECURITIES LEGISLATION 

In connection with the filing of this Prospectus, the Company intends to apply to the Canadian provincial securities 
regulatory authorities for exemptions from the provisions of NI 41-101, Part 10 of NI 51-102, and OSC Rule 56-501 
–Restricted Shares (“OSC Rule 56-501”) with respect the use of, as applicable, “restricted security” (as defined in NI 
41-101 and NI 51-102) and “restricted share” (as defined in OSC Rule 56-501) terms and disclosure with respect the 
Subordinate Voting Shares or Proportionate Voting Shares and for future issuances of Subordinate Voting Shares or 
Proportionate Voting Shares. Absent such exemptive relief, upon final receipt of this Prospectus, the Company may 
not be able to use the word “common” to refer to the Subordinate Voting Shares in prospectuses, continuous disclosure 
documents, dealer, and adviser documents, right offering circulars and offering memoranda and may be prohibited 
from issuances of Subordinate Voting Shares or Proportionate Voting Shares under certain circumstances. There can 
be no assurance that such exemptions will be granted.  

 

EXPERTS 

No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a report, valuation, statement or opinion made 
by such person or company and who is named in this Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of this 
Prospectus, or a report, valuation, statement or opinion described in this Prospectus, has received or shall receive a 
direct or indirect interest in any securities or other property of the Company or any associate or affiliate of the 
Company.  The following are persons or companies whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made 
in this Prospectus as having prepared or certified a part of that document or report described in the Prospectus: 

 MNP LLP is the external auditor of Fresh Factory and reported on Fresh Factory’s audited financial 
statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and for the three month interim period ended 
March 31, 2021, attached as Schedule C 
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 Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP, is the external auditor of the Company and reported on the 
Company’s audited financial statements as at and for the years ended May 31, 2021 and May 31, 2021 and 
for the three month interim period ended August 31, 2021., attached as Schedule A; 

Dale, Matheson, Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP are independent auditors with respect to the Company within the meaning 
of the relevant rules and related interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any 
applicable legislation or regulation.  

MNP LLP are independent auditors with respect to Fresh Factory within the meaning of the relevant rules and related 
interpretations prescribed by the relevant professional bodies in Canada and any applicable legislation or regulation.  

Certain legal matters in respect of this Prospectus have been passed upon on behalf of the Company by McMillan LLP 
and on behalf of Fresh Factory by Cassels, Brock & Blackwell LLP. As of the date hereof, the partners and associates 
of McMillan LLP, as a group, own, directly or indirectly, in the aggregate, less than one percent of the outstanding 
securities of the Company. 

 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

To management’s knowledge, there are no other material facts relating to the Transaction that are not otherwise 
disclosed in this Prospectus or are necessary for the Prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material 
facts relating to the Transaction. 

Financial Statement Disclosure 

SCHEDULE “A” THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD.(PREVIOUSLY 1181718 B.C. LTD.) AUDITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2021 AND MAY 31, 2020 AND 
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE MONTH PERIOD ENDED AUGUST 31, 2021 

SCHEDULE “B” THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD.(PREVIOUSLY 1181718 B.C. LTD.) MANAGEMENT’S 
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS FOR THE YEARS ENDED MAY 31, 2021 AND MAY 31, 2020 AND 
UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE MONTH PERIOD ENDED AUGUST 31, 2021 

SCHEDULE “C” THE FRESH FACTORY, PBC AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE SIX 
MONTH PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021 

SCHEDULE “D”  THE FRESH FACTORY, PBC MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS FOR THE 
FRESH FACTORY, PBC AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE SIX MONTH 
PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2021  

SCHEDULE “E” THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD.(PREVIOUSLY 1181718 B.C. LTD.) AND THE FRESH 
FACTORY, PBC PRO FORMA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT MAY 31, 2021 
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SCHEDULE A 
 

THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD.(PREVIOUSLY 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT AND FOR THE YEARS 

ENDED MAY 31, 2021 AND MAY 31, 2020 AND UNAUDITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE THREE MONTH PERIOD 

ENDED AUGUST 31, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Directors of 1181718 B.C. Ltd.: 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of 1181718 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”), which comprise the statements of 
financial position as at May 31, 2021 and 2020, and the statements of changes in shareholders’ deficit, loss and 
comprehensive loss and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at May 31, 2021 and 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which describes events or conditions that indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 

 

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, BC  

November 5, 2021 
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1181718 B.C. LTD. 
 
Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Notes May 31, 2021 May 31, 2020 
    
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash   $             22,046 $            33,005 
  $             22,046 $            33,005 

    
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit    
Current liabilities:    

Trade payables 5 $               8,032 $            10,476 
Accrued liabilities  23,447 1,220 
Share subscriptions 4 - 47,880 

  31,479 59,576 
    
Shareholders’ deficit:    

Common shares 4 59,081 1 
Deficit  (68,514) (26,570) 

  (9,433) (26,569) 
  $            22,046 $           33,005 

 
Nature and continuance of business (Note 1) 
Proposed business transaction (Note 9) 
 
 
 
Approved on behalf of the board of directors: 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
 
  

“Hari Varshney”  “Satnam Brar” 
Hari Varshney, Director   Satnam Brar, Director 
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1181718 B.C. LTD.  
 
Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

   Share capital    
   

Notes Shares   Amount 
 Special 

Warrants  Deficit  Total Equity 

Balance, May 31, 2019  1 $ 1 $ – $ (9,917) $ (9,916) 

Net loss for the year  – – – (16,653)  (16,653) 

Balance, May 31, 2020  1 1 – (26,570)  (26,569) 

Common shares issued for cash 4 5,446,000 33,530 – –  33,530 

Special warrants issued for cash 4 – – 25,550 –  25,550 

Common shares issued on 
conversion of special warrants 4 511,000 25,550 (25,550) –  – 

Net loss for the year  – – – (41,944)  (41,944) 

Balance, May 31, 2021  5,957,001 $ 59,081 $ – $ (68,514) $ (9,433) 

 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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1181718 B.C. LTD.  
 
 Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
 For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Notes  2021  2020 

      

Expenses:      

Office and miscellaneous  $ 854 $ 653 
Professional fees   33,740  3,400 
Rent 5  7,350  12,600 

Net and comprehensive loss  $ (41,944) $ (16,653) 
Loss per common share 
– basic and diluted  

 
$ (0.01) $ 

 
(16,653) 

Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding 
– basic and diluted   5,476,820  1 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1181718 B.C. LTD.  
 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  2021  2020 

Cash provided by: 
Operating activities 

    

Net loss for the year $ (41,944) $ (16,653) 

Changes in non-cash working capital:     

Trades payables and accrued liabilities    19,603 3,296 

Other payables   182 - 

  (22,159) (13,357) 

     

Financing activities     

 Subscription receivables  -  900 

 Proceeds from share issuances  5,800  - 

 Proceeds (Repayment) from special warrants issuances  5,400  (1,300) 

  11,200  (400) 

     

Change in cash   (10,959)  (13,757) 

     

Cash, beginning of year  33,005  46,762 

     

Cash, ending of year $ 22,046 $ 33,005 

 
Non-cash transactions: 
 Issuance of common shares from previously received      
     share subscriptions 

 
$ 

 
27,730 

 
$ 

 
- 

 Issuance of common shares from previously received  
     subscriptions for special warrants 

 
 

 
20,150 

  
- 

 $        47,880 $  

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
  
 



1181718 B.C. LTD. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF BUSINESS 
 

1181718 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company” or “1181718”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British 
Columbia on October 2, 2018.  On October 27, 2021, the Company changed its name to “The Fresh Factory 
BC Ltd.” in connection with the closing of a reverse take-over (“RTO”) transaction (Note 9). 
 
The Company’s head office and principal address is Suite 2050-1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver BC, 
V6E 3P3. The registered and records office is suite 1500-1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6E 
4N7.  
 
On May 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with The Fresh Factory PBC ("Fresh 
Factory") pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of Fresh 
Factory.  Fresh Factory, a public benefit corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, is 
a US-based food production and distribution company that produces high-quality plant-based and clean-label 
food and beverages. 
 
On July 30, 2021, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, Fresh Factory Merger Sub Inc. 
(“Merger Sub”), under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware in connection with the 
Transaction.  . 
 
On August 16, 2021, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement pursuant to which Fresh Factory will 
merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company (Note 9). 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assume that the Company 
will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and discharge liabilities 
in the normal course of operations. Different bases of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is 
not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future. The Company’s continuation as a going 
concern is dependent upon the successful identification of viable business projects, its ability to raise equity 
capital, to obtain loans from related parties, and to attain profitable operations to generate funds and meet 
current and future obligations. These conditions cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company reported a net loss of $41,944 (2020 
- $16,653). These uncertainties cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 
developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 
leading to an economic downturn. While the impact of COVID-19 is expected to be temporary, the current 
circumstances are dynamic and the impacts of COVID-19 on business operations cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by adverse 
consequences that may be brought about by the pandemic’s impact on its business, results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows in the future. 
 

  



1181718 B.C. LTD. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

These financial statements were authorized for issue on November 5, 2021 by the directors of the Company.  
 
Statement of compliance 

 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  
 
Basis of presentation 
 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical 
costs, modified where applicable. These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars unless 
otherwise noted. 

 
Significant estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. The Company’s management reviews these estimates and 
underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis, based on experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates are 
adjusted for prospectively in the period in which the estimates are revised. 
 
Estimates and assumptions where there is significant risk of material adjustments to assets and liabilities in 
future accounting periods include the fair value measurements for financial instruments and the recoverability 
and measurement of deferred tax assets. 
 
Significant judgments  
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, 
apart from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments 
applying to the Company’s financial statements include the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and whether there are events or conditions that may give rise to significant uncertainty. 

 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Share capital 
 
Common shares issued for non-monetary consideration are recorded at their fair value on the measurement 
date and classified as equity. The measurement date is defined as the earliest of the date at which the 
commitment for performance by the counterparty to earn the common shares is reached or the date at which 
the counterparty’s performance is complete. 
 
Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of common shares and share purchase options are 
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

  



1181718 B.C. LTD. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

Income taxes  
 

Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognized in profit or loss except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.  Current tax expense is the expected tax 
payable on taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at period end, 
adjusted for amendments to tax payable with regards to previous years. 

 
Deferred tax is recorded using the asset and liability method, providing for temporary differences, between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Temporary differences are not provided for relating to goodwill not deductible for tax 
purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting or taxable loss, and 
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or 
settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date. 

 
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which the asset can be utilized. To the extent that the Company does not consider it 
probable that a deferred tax asset will be recovered, it provides a valuation allowance against that excess. 
 
Earnings (loss) per share 
  
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) available to common shareholders 
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the reporting period.  Diluted earnings (loss) 
per share is computed similar to basic earnings (loss) per share except that the weighted average shares 
outstanding are increased to include additional shares for the assumed exercise of stock options and 
warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that outstanding stock options 
and warrants were exercised and that the proceeds from such exercises were used to acquire common stock 
at the average market price during the reporting periods. If these computations prove to be anti-dilutive, 
diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share. 

 
Financial instruments – recognition and measurement 
 
The following is the Company’s accounting policy for financial instruments under IFRS 9: 
 
(i) Classification 
 
The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit and 
loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of debt 
instruments is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their 
contractual cash flow characteristics.  Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL.  
 
 
 
 



1181718 B.C. LTD. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 
Financial instruments – recognition and measurement (cont’d) 

 
For other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or 
derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measure them at FVTPL. 

 
(ii) Measurement  
 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus transaction 
costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment. 

 
Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL 
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise.  
 
Debt investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains 
and losses are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”). On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss 
 
Equity investments at FVOCI 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss 
unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
 
(iii) Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost 
 
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured 
at amortized cost.  At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal 
to the twelve month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is 
required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(iv) Derecognition  
 
Financial assets 
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial 
assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks and rewards 
of ownership to another entity.  

 
Financial liabilities 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 
or expire.  The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability are modified 
such that the terms and / or cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially different, in which case a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.   
 
Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in profit or loss. 
 
The Company classifies cash as FVTPL, and trade payable and due to related parties at amortized cost. 
 
Recent accounting pronouncements 

 
Accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future 
effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 

4. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
a. Authorized 
 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 

b. Issued and outstanding  

During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company has the following activities: 
i) The Company issued 5,026,000 common shares at a price of $0.005 per common share for gross 

proceeds of $25,130. 
ii) The Company issued 420,000 common shares at a price of $0.02 per common share for gross 

proceeds of $8,400. 
iii) The Company issued 511,000 common shares on the conversion of the special warrants. (Note 4(c)). 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2020, the Company did not have any transactions affecting share capital. 
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4. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d) 
 
c. Special warrants 

 
During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company received subscription receipts for 511,000 special 
warrants (“Special Warrants”) at a price of $0.05 per Special Warrant for total gross proceeds of $25,550.  
Each Special Warrant will entitle the holder to receive one common share of the Company (each a 
“Share”) on the date (“Conversion Date”) that is the earlier of (i) the third business day after a receipt for 
a final prospectus (the “Prospectus”) qualifying the distribution of Shares issuable upon the conversion of 
the Special Warrants, and (ii) 4 months and one day after the issue date of the Special Warrants. No 
Special Warrant may be exercised prior to the Conversion Date, and the Special Warrants will 
automatically convert on the Conversion Date.  The Special Warrants are subject to a hold period of the 
later of: 
 
(i) Four months and a day following the issuance of the Special Warrants; and  
(ii) The date the Company becomes a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada. 
On November 17, 2020, upon expiry of the four month and one day hold period, the Special Warrants 
automatically converted to common shares. (Note 4(b)). 
 

5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors and officers.  

 
On October 2, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with Vandana Ventures Inc. 
(“Vandana”), a company controlled by a spouse of a director of the Company, for a portion of its corporate 
office located in Vancouver, B.C. on a month to month basis in exchange for $1,000 per month plus applicable 
taxes. The contract was terminated on December 31, 2020. 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company paid or accrued $7,350 (2020 - $12,600) for rent to 
Vandana. 
 
As at May 31, 2021, $7,350 (2020 – $9,975) was due to Vandana for outstanding rent and included in trade 
payables. 
 

6. INCOME TAXES 
 
A reconciliation of income taxes at statutory rates with the reported taxes is as follows: 

 

 

 2021 2020 
Loss for the year $     (41,944)  $    (16,553) 

Statutory rate 27% 27% 

Expected income tax recovery at statutory rate (11,325) (4,469)   

Change in valuation allowance 11,325 4,469 

Income tax recovery  $               – $                 – 
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6. INCOME TAXES (cont’d) 
 

The Company has accumulated non-capital losses of approximately $68,514 which may be deducted in the 
calculation of taxable income in future years. The losses expire from 2039-2041. 

 
7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

As at May 31, 2021, the fair value of cash held by the Company was based on level 1 inputs of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 
below:  
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  The 
Company believes it has no significant credit risk.   
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to 
meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time. The Company achieves this by maintaining sufficient cash 
and seeking equity financing when needed.  

 
As at May 31, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $9,433 (2020 – $26,571). The Company 
will require additional funding to complete its proposed business transaction (Note 9).  Liquidity risk is 
assessed as high. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in the market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk. 
 
(b) Foreign currency risk 
The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to foreign 
currency risk. 
 
(c) Price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potentially adverse impact on the Company’s ability to obtain equity financing due to movements in individual 
equity prices. The Company closely monitors individual equity movements to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 
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8. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Capital is comprised of the Company’s shareholders’ equity and any debt that it may issue. As at May 31, 
2021, the Company had a shareholder deficit of $9,433 (2020 - $26,569) and current liabilities of $31,479 
(2020 - $59,576). The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial strength and to 
protect its ability to meet its future liabilities, to continue as a going concern, to maintain creditworthiness and 
to maximize returns for shareholders over the long term. Protecting the ability to pay current and future 
liabilities includes maintaining capital above minimum regulatory levels, current financial strength rating 
requirements and internally determined capital guidelines and calculated risk management levels.  There 
were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended May 31, 2021. 
The Company has no long term debt and is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 
9. PROPOSED QUALIFYING TRANSACTION 

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory will merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory 
as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.   
 
The Company’s common shares (“1181718 Shares”) are not currently listed on any stock exchange.  Prior to 
completion of the Transaction, the Company completed a share capital reorganization (the “1181718 Capital 
Reorganization”) to redesignate the 1181718 Shares as subordinate voting shares (“1181718 SV Shares”) 
and create a new class of proportionate voting shares (“1181718 MV Shares”) on such terms that are mutually 
agreed upon to ensure that upon completion of the Transaction and the Company becoming a “reporting 
issuer” (as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws) satisfies the requirements to be a “foreign 
private issuer” for the purposes of applicable United States securities laws. References herein to 1181718 
Shares includes 1181718 SV Shares and 1181718 MV Shares as the context requires. 
 
Share Consolidation 
 
In October 2021, the Company completed a consolidation of the common shares of the Company on the 
basis of one new common share (Post Consolidation Common Share) for each 3.404 outstanding common 
shares, resulting 1,749,958 Post Consolidation Common Shares being issued to existing shareholders. 
 
Transaction and Consideration 

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory shareholders will acquire an aggregate of 4,036 1181718 
SV Shares and 364,195 1181718 MV Shares in consideration of the amalgamation between Fresh Factory 
and Merger Sub under the General Corporation Law (Delaware), pursuant to which Fresh Factory will merge 
with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity (“Mergeco”), resulting in Merger Sub 
being cancelled and all the property of each of Merger Sub and Fresh Factory continuing on as to the property 
of Mergeco. 
 
The Company entered into an advisory agreement for a term of one year with a party arranged by 1181718 
who shall receive 2,000,000 performance warrants, each exercisable to acquire a Post Consolidation 
Common Share at a price of US$1.00 per share for a period of two years.  50% of the performance warrants 
become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or above US$2.00 for 5 consecutive trading days and 
the remaining 50% of the performance warrants become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or 
above US$3.00 for 5 consecutive trading days. 
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9. PROPOSED QUALIFYING TRANSACTION (cont’d) 
 

Concurrent Financing  
 

The Company completed a concurrent private placement (the “Concurrent Financing”) of 8,984,823 
subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) of the Company at a price of US$1.00 per Subscription Receipt 
for aggregate gross proceeds of US$8,984,823 (CAD$11,336,209).  The proceeds were placed in escrow 
with an escrow agent until satisfaction of certain release conditions, which will include, without limitation, 
receipt of the conditional listing approval of the Exchange (the “Release Conditions”).  Each Subscription 
Receipt will be exchanged for one Post Consolidation Common Share upon the satisfaction of the Release 
Conditions. Upon the Company satisfying the Release Conditions, a finder’s fee totaling $118,930 and 
118,930 1181718 Share purchase warrants (“Finders Warrant”) will be paid on a portion of the Concurrent 
Financing.  Each Finders Warrant is exercisable at US$1.00 for a period of 12 months from date of issuance. 
 
The Concurrent Financing described above will rely on the Prospectus and/or registration exemptions 
pursuant to NI 45-106 or other applicable laws, rules and regulations such that all Fresh Factory Shares and 
1181718 Shares will be issued on a prospectus-exempt basis.  
 
All funds raised in connection with the Concurrent Financing described above (the “Private Placement 
Proceeds”) will not be available to Fresh Factory until the completion of the Transaction.  
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THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 
 

 Notes August 31, 2021 May 31, 2021 
  (unaudited) (audited) 
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash  $          130,974 $             22,046 
Cash held in escrow 8 11,336,209 - 
Deferred charges  132,906 - 

  $     11,600,089 $             22,046 

    
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit    
Current liabilities:    

Trades payables 5 $          134,030 $               8,032 
Accrued liabilities  152,644 23,447 
Share subscriptions 8 11,336,209 - 

  11,622,883 31,479 
    
Shareholders’ deficit:    

Common shares 4 59,081 59,081 
Deficit  (81,875) (68,514) 

  (22,794) (9,433) 
  $     11,600,089 $            22,046 

 
Nature and continuance of business (Note 1) 
Proposed business transaction (Note 8) 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Deficit 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 

   Share capital    

   

Notes Shares*   Amount 

 Special 

Warrants  Deficit  Total Equity 

Balance, May 31, 2020  1 $ 1 $ – $ (26,570) $ (26,570) 

Common shares issued for cash 4 1,599,840 33,530 – –  33,530 

Special warrants issued for cash 4 – – 25,550 –  25,550 

Net loss for the period  – – – (6,236)  (6,236) 

Balance, August 31, 2020  1,599,841 33,531 25,550 (32,806)  26,274 

Common shares issued on conversion 

of special warrants 4 150,117 25,550 (25,550) –  – 

Net loss for the period  – – – (35,708)  (35,708) 

Balance, May 31, 2021  1,749,958 59,081 – (68,514)  (9,433) 

Net loss for the period  – – – (13,361)  (13,361) 

Balance, August 31, 2021  1,749,958 $ 59,081 $ – $ (81,875) $ (22,794) 

 
*Shares have been retroactively restated to reflect a 3.404 to 1 share consolidation that was completed on 
October 27, 2021 (Note 8). 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim condensed financial statements.
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THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
 
 Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
 For the three months ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 (Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 

  Three Months Ended August 31, 

 Notes  2021  2020 

      

Expenses:      

Foreign exchange loss  $ 8,465 $ - 

Office and miscellaneous   149  86 

Professional fees   4,747  3,000 

Rent   -  3,150 

Net and comprehensive loss  $ (13,361) $ (6,236) 

Loss per common share 
– basic and diluted  

 
$ (0.01) $ 

 
(0.02) 

Weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding 
– basic and diluted   1,749,958  264,868 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 
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THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
 
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
For the three months ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 

 Three Months Ended August 31, 

  2021  2020 

Cash provided by: 
Operating activities 

    

Net loss for the period $ (13,361) $ (6,236) 

Changes in non-cash working capital:     

Receivables   - 800 

Trades payables and accrued liabilities    255,195 (1,700) 

  241,834 (7,136) 

     

Investing activities     

 Deferred charges  (132,906)  - 

  (132,906)  - 

     

Financing activities     

 Proceeds from subscription receipts issuances  11,336,209  - 

 Proceeds from issuance of shares  -  5,000 

 Proceeds from issuance of special warrants  -  5,400 

  11,336,209  10,400 

     

Change in cash and cash equivalents  11,445,137  3,264 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period  22,046  33,005 

     

Cash and cash equivalents, ending of period $ 11,467,183 $ 36,269 

 
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of: 
Cash $ 130,974 $ 36,269 

Cash held in escrow  11,336,209  - 

 $ 11,467,183 $ 36,269 

 
Non-cash transactions: 
 Issuance of common shares from previously received      
     share subscriptions 

 
$ 

 
- 

 
$ 

 
33,530 

 $        - $ 33,530 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements. 

  
 
  
 



THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the three months ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
(Unaudited – Prepared by Management) 
 

 

7 | P a g e  
 

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF BUSINESS 
 

The Fresh Factory BC Ltd. (formerly 1181718 B.C. Ltd.) (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of 
the Province of British Columbia on October 2, 2018.  On October 27, 2021, the Company changed its name 
to “The Fresh Factory BC Ltd.” in connection with the closing of a reverse take-over (“RTO”) transaction (Note 
9). 
 
The Company’s head office and principal address is Suite 2050-1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver BC, 
V6E 3P3. The registered and records office is suite 1500-1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, BC, V6E 
4N7.  
 
On May 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with The Fresh Factory PBC ("Fresh 
Factory") pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of Fresh 
Factory (the “Transaction”).  Fresh Factory, a public benefit corporation incorporated under the laws of the 
State of Delaware, is a US-based food production and distribution company that produces high-quality plant-
based and clean-label food and beverages. 
 
On July 30, 2021, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, Fresh Factory Merger Sub Inc. 
(“Merger Sub”), under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware in connection with the 
Transaction.  Merger Sub was inactive during the period ended August 31, 2021. 
 
On August 16, 2021, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement pursuant to which Fresh Factory will 
merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company (Note 8). 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which assume that 
the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and 
discharge liabilities in the normal course of operations. Different bases of measurement may be appropriate 
if the Company is not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future. The Company’s continuation 
as a going concern is dependent upon the successful completion of the RTO of Fresh Factory, its ability to 
raise equity capital, to obtain loans from related parties, and to attain profitable operations to generate funds 
and meet current and future obligations. These conditions cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. During the three months ended August 31, 2021, the Company reported a net 
loss of $13,361 (2020 - $6,236).  
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 
developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 
leading to an economic downturn. While the impact of COVID-19 is expected to be temporary, the current 
circumstances are dynamic and the impacts of COVID-19 on business operations cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by adverse 
consequences that may be brought about by the pandemic’s impact on its business, results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows in the future. 
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

These condensed interim financial statements were authorized for issue on November 5, 2021 by the directors 
of the Company.  

 
Statement of compliance 
 
These condensed interim consolidated financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34, “Interim Financial Reporting” using accounting 
policies consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”).  
 
These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies 
consistent with those used in the Company’s May 31, 2021 audited financial statements. It is therefore 
recommended that these condensed interim consolidated financial statements be read in conjunction with the 
Company’s May 31, 2021 audited financial statements. 

 
Basis of presentation 
 
The condensed interim consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared on an accrual 
basis and are based on historical costs, modified where applicable. These condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 

 
Significant estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. The Company’s management reviews these estimates and 
underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis, based on experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates are 
adjusted for prospectively in the period in which the estimates are revised. 
 
Estimates and assumptions where there is significant risk of material adjustments to assets and liabilities in 
future accounting periods include the fair value measurements for financial instruments and the recoverability 
and measurement of deferred tax assets. 
 
Significant judgments  
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, 
apart from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments 
applying to the Company’s financial statements include the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and whether there are events or conditions that may give rise to significant uncertainty. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Recent accounting pronouncements 

 
Accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future 
effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 

4. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
a. Authorized 
 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
 

b. Issued and outstanding  

During the three months ended August 31, 2021, there were no transactions affecting share capital. 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company has the following activities: 
i) The Company issued 1,476,456 common shares at a price of $0.017 per common share for gross 

proceeds of $25,130. 
ii) The Company issued 123,384 common shares at a price of $0.068 per common share for gross 

proceeds of $8,400. 
iii) The Company issued 150,117 common shares on the conversion of the special warrants. (Note 4(c)). 

 
c. Special warrants 

 
During the three months ended August 31, 2021, there were no transactions affecting special warrants. 
 
During  the year ended May 31, 2021,  the Company  received  subscription  receipts for 511,000 pre-
consolidated special warrants (“Special Warrants”) at a price of $0.05 per Special Warrant for total gross 
proceeds of $25,550.  Each Special Warrant will entitle the holder to receive one common share of the 
Company (each a “Share”) on the date (“Conversion Date”) that is the earlier of (i) the third business day 
after a receipt for a final prospectus (the “Prospectus”) qualifying the distribution of Shares issuable upon 
the conversion of the Special Warrants, and (ii) 4 months and one day after the issue date of the Special 
Warrants. No Special Warrant may be exercised prior to the Conversion Date, and the Special Warrants 
will automatically convert on the Conversion Date.  The Special Warrants are subject to a hold period of 
the later of: 
(i) Four months and a day following the issuance of the Special Warrants; and  
(ii) The date the Company becomes a reporting issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada. 
 
On November 17, 2020, upon expiry of the four month and one day hold period, the Special Warrants 
automatically converted to common shares. (Note 4(b)). 
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5. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors and officers.  

 
On October 2, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with Vandana Ventures Inc. 
(“Vandana”), a company controlled by a spouse of a director of the Company, for a portion of its corporate 
office located in Vancouver, B.C. on a month to month basis in exchange for $1,000 per month plus applicable 
taxes. The contract was terminated on December 31, 2020. 
 
During the three months ended August 31, 2021, the Company paid or accrued $Nil (2020 - $3,150) for rent 
to Vandana. 
 
As at August 31, 2021, $7,350 (May 31, 2021 – $7,350) was due to Vandana for outstanding rent and included 
in trades payables. 
 

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
As at August 31, 2021, the fair value of cash held by the Company was based on level 1 inputs of the fair 
value hierarchy. 

 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 
below:  
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  The 
Company believes it has no significant credit risk.   
 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in order to 
meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time. The Company achieves this by maintaining sufficient cash 
and seeking equity financing when needed.  
 
As at May 31, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $22,794 (May 31, 2021 – $9,433). The 
Company will require completion of its proposed business transaction (Note 8) to release funds held in escrow.  
Liquidity risk is assessed as high. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices. 
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d) 
 

(a) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in the market interest rates. The Company’s cash is held in an account with a major Canadian 
financial institution. The funds may be withdrawn at any time without penalty. Cash held in escrow are held 
with an escrow agent pending completion of the proposed business combination. 
 
(b) Foreign currency risk 
The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to foreign 
currency risk. 

 
(c) Price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potentially adverse impact on the Company’s ability to obtain equity financing due to movements in individual 
equity prices. The Company closely monitors individual equity movements to determine the appropriate 
course of action to be taken by the Company. 

 
7. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
Capital is comprised of the Company’s shareholders’ equity and any debt that it may issue. As at August 31, 
2021, the Company had a shareholder deficit of $22,794 (May 31, 2021 - $9,433) and current liabilities of 
$11,622,883 (May 31, 2021 - $31,479). The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain 
financial strength and to protect its ability to meet its future liabilities, to continue as a going concern, to 
maintain creditworthiness and to maximize returns for shareholders over the long term. Protecting the ability 
to pay current and future liabilities includes maintaining capital above minimum regulatory levels, current 
financial strength rating requirements and internally determined capital guidelines and calculated risk 
management levels.  There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the 
period ended August 31, 2021. The Company has no long term debt and is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. 

 
8. PROPOSED QUALIFYING TRANSACTION 

 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory will merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory 
as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.   
 
The Company’s common shares (“1181718 Shares”) are not currently listed on any stock exchange.  Prior to 
completion of the Transaction, the Company completed a share capital reorganization (the “1181718 Capital 
Reorganization”) to redesignate the 1181718 Shares as subordinate voting shares (“1181718 SV Shares”) 
and create a new class of proportionate voting shares (“1181718 MV Shares”) on such terms that are mutually 
agreed upon to ensure that upon completion of the Transaction and the Company becoming a “reporting 
issuer” (as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws) satisfies the requirements to be a “foreign 
private issuer” for the purposes of applicable United States securities laws. References herein to 1181718 
Shares includes 1181718 SV Shares and 1181718 MV Shares as the context requires. 
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8. PROPOSED QUALIFYING TRANSACTION (cont’d) 
 

Share Consolidation 
 
On October 27, 2021, the Company completed a consolidation of the common shares of the Company on the 
basis of one new common share (Post Consolidation Common Share) for each 3.404 outstanding common 
shares, resulting in 1,749,958 Post Consolidation Common Shares being issued to existing shareholders.  
 
All shares and per share references in these financial statements have been retroactively restated accordingly 
unless noted otherwise. 

 
Transaction and Consideration 

 

Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory shareholders will acquire an aggregate of 4,036 1181718 
SV Shares and 364,195 1181718 MV Shares in consideration of the amalgamation between Fresh Factory 
and Merger Sub under the General Corporation Law (Delaware), pursuant to which Fresh Factory will merge 
with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity (“Mergeco”), resulting in Merger Sub 
being cancelled and all the property of each of Merger Sub and Fresh Factory continuing on as to the property 
of Mergeco. 

 

The Company entered into an advisory agreement for a term of one year with a party arranged by 1181718 
who shall receive 2,000,000 performance warrants, each exercisable to acquire a Post Consolidation 
Common Share at a price of US$1.00 per share for a period of two years.  50% of the performance warrants 
become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or above US$2.00 for 5 consecutive trading days and 
the remaining 50% of the performance warrants become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or 
above US$3.00 for 5 consecutive trading days. 
 
Concurrent Financing  

 
The Company completed a concurrent private placement (the “Concurrent Financing”) of 8,984,823 
subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) of the Company at a price of US$1.00 per Subscription Receipt 
for aggregate gross proceeds of US$8,984,823 (CAD$11,336,209).  The proceeds were placed in escrow 
with an escrow agent until satisfaction of certain release conditions, which will include, without limitation, 
receipt of the conditional listing approval of the Exchange (the “Release Conditions”).  Each Subscription 
Receipt will be exchanged for one Post Consolidation Common Share upon the satisfaction of the Release 
Conditions. Upon the Company satisfying the Release Conditions, a finder’s fee totaling $118,930 and 
118,930 1181718 Share purchase warrants (“Finders Warrant”) will be paid on a portion of the Concurrent 
Financing.  Each Finders Warrant is exercisable at US$1.00 for a period of 12 months from date of issuance. 
 
The Concurrent Financing described above will rely on the Prospectus and/or registration exemptions 
pursuant to NI 45-106 or other applicable laws, rules and regulations such that all Fresh Factory Shares and 
1181718 Shares will be issued on a prospectus-exempt basis.  

 
All funds raised in connection with the Concurrent Financing described above (the “Private Placement 
Proceeds”) will not be available to Fresh Factory until the completion of the Transaction.  
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1.1 Date 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of 1181718 B.C. Ltd. (or the “Company”) has been 
prepared by management as of November 5, 2021 and should be read in conjunction with the audited 
financial statements and related notes thereto of the Company for the years ended May 31, 2021 and  
2020, which was prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards using accounting policies 
consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”). 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking information which reflects management's expectations regarding the 
Company’s growth, results of operation, performance and business prospects and opportunities. The use of 
words such as “anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate", "expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, believe”, 
outlook”, “forecast” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  
 
Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but not limited to, the Company’s expectation of future 
activities and results, of its working capital needs and its ability to identify, evaluate and pursue suitable 
business opportunity. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors that may cause actual results of events to differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements. Readers should not put undue reliance on forward-looking information. 
 
Historical results of operations and trends that may be inferred from the following discussions and analysis 
may not necessarily indicate future results from operations. 
 
1.2 Over-all Performance 
 
1181718 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on 
October 2, 2018.   
 
On May 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with The Fresh Factory PBC ("Fresh 
Factory") pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of Fresh 
Factory.  Fresh Factory, a public benefit corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware, 
is a US-based food production and distribution company that produces high-quality plant-based and clean-
label food and beverages. See 1.11 Proposed Transaction 
 
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 
developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 
leading to an economic downturn. While the impact of COVID-19 is expected to be temporary, the current 
circumstances are dynamic and the impacts of COVID-19 on business operations cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by adverse 
consequences that may be brought about by the pandemic’s impact on its business, results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows in the future. 
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1.3 Selected Annual Information 
 

 
Year Ended 

May 31, 2021 
Year Ended 

May 31, 2020 

Date of Incorporation  
(October 2, 2018) to 

May 31, 2019 

Net Loss $  (41,944) $    (16,653) $        (9,917) 
Loss per share $      (0.01) $        (16,653) $        (9,917) 
Total assets $    22,046 $      33,005 $        47,663 
Total long-term liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Cash dividends declared per share for 
each class of share Nil Nil Nil 

 
1.4 Results of Operations 
 
Year ended May 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company reported a net loss of $41,944 compared to a net loss 
of $16,653 during the year ended May 31, 2020, an increase in net loss of $25,291.  The increase in net 
loss was primarily due to an increase in professional fees. 
 
Professional fees increased by $30,340 included an accrual for the Company’s fiscal end audit, and legal 
services for the Company’s private placement financing, annual general meeting, acquisition of Fresh 
Factory and listing application on the CSE.  
 
The increase in professional fees was offset by a decrease in rent of $5,250 due to the cancellation of the 
sublease arrangement effective January 1, 2021.  
 
Three months ended May 31, 2021 
 
During the three months ended May 31, 2021, the Company reported a net loss of $23,976 compared to 
$4,423 during the three months ended May 31, 2020, an increase in net loss of $19,553.  The increase in 
net loss resulted primarily from an increase in professional fees consisting of audit fee accrual and legal 
fees as described above offset by a decrease in rent of $3,150 due to the cancellation of the sublease 
effective January 1, 2021. 
 
1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
Quarterly financials for interim periods preceding the date of this MD&A have been omitted as the 
Company was not a reporting issuer during those periods.  
 
1.6 Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company reported a working capital deficiency of $9,433 at May 31, 2021 compared to a working 
capital deficiency of $26,570 at May 31, 2020, a decrease in working capital deficiency of $17,137.  As at 
May 31, 2021, the Company had cash on hand of $22,046 (2020 - $33,005), trade payables and accrued 
liabilities of $31,297 (2020 - $11,696) and share subscriptions of $Nil (2020 -$47,880). 
 
The Company may continue to have capital requirements in excess of its currently available resources. In 
the event the Company’s plans change, its assumptions change or prove inaccurate, or its capital resources 
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in addition to projected cash flow, if any, prove to be insufficient to fund operations, the Company may be 
required to seek additional financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient 
financing to meet its future capital requirements or that additional financing will be available on terms 
acceptable to the Company in the future.   
 
1.7 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 
  
1.8 Risk and Uncertainties 
 
The Company’s financial performance is likely to be subject to the following risks: 
 
 Although management of the Company is working diligently to complete the business transaction, there 

is no assurance that a definitive agreement will be entered into nor completed. 
 The Company has not generated any significant revenue and has incurred significant losses since 

inception. 
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 
below:  
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  
The Company believes it has no significant credit risk.   

 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in 
order to meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time. The Company achieves this by maintaining 
sufficient cash and seeking equity financing when needed.  
 
As at May 31, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $9,433 (2020 – $26,570). The 
Company will require additional funding to complete its proposed business transaction.  Liquidity risk is 
assessed as high. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in the market interest rates. The Company’s cash is held in an account with a major 
Canadian financial institution. The funds may be withdrawn at any time without penalty. 
 
(b) Foreign currency risk 
The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to 
foreign currency risk. 
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(c) Price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potentially adverse impact on the Company’s ability to obtain equity financing due to movements in 
individual equity prices. The Company closely monitors individual equity movements to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
1.9 Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors and officers.  
 
On October 2, 2020, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with Vandana Ventures Inc. 
(“Vandana”), a company controlled by a spouse of a director of the Company, for a portion of its corporate 
office located in Vancouver, B.C. for a month to month basis, in exchange for $1,000 per month plus 
applicable taxes. The contract was terminated on Dec 31, 2020. 
 
During the year ended May 31, 2021, the Company accrued $7,350 (2020 - $12,600) for rent to Vandana. 
 
As at May 31, 2021, $7,350 (2020 – $9,975) was due to Vandana for outstanding rent and included in 
trades payables. 
 
1.10 Fourth Quarter  
 
The Company entered into a LOI with Fresh Factory.  See 1.11 Proposed Transactions. 
 

The Company accrued $10,000 (2020-$Nil) in audit and accounting fees for the 2020 and 2021 audit 
financial years and legal fees of $13,447 (2020-$1,220) in connection with the Company’s acquisition of 

Fresh Factory and CSE listing application. Please see 1.4 Results of Operations. 
 
1.11 Proposed Transactions  
 
Pursuant to the LOI, the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding common shares in the 
capital of Fresh Factory as described below.  The Company and Fresh Factory are hereinafter collectively 
referred to as the “Parties”. 
 
The Company’s common shares (“1181718 Shares”) are not currently listed on any stock exchange.  Prior 
to completion of the Transaction, the Company will complete a share capital reorganization (the “1181718 
Capital Reorganization”) to redesignate the 1181718 Shares as subordinate voting shares (“1181718 SV 
Shares”) and create a new class of multiple voting shares (“1181718 MV Shares”) on such terms as the 
Parties mutually agree to ensure that upon completion of the Transaction and the Company becoming a 
“reporting issuer” (as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws) satisfies the requirements to be a 
“foreign private issuer” for the purposes of applicable United States securities laws. References herein to 
1181718 Shares includes 1181718 SV Shares and 1181718 MV Shares as the context requires. 
 
The Transaction 
 
The Company will, directly or indirectly, acquire from the shareholders of Fresh Factory 100% of the Fresh 
Factory Shares which are issued and outstanding as of the Closing (as hereinafter defined) (the 
“Transaction”). 

 
It is contemplated that the Transaction will take place by way of a share exchange, merger, plan of 
arrangement, amalgamation or other transaction which will result in Fresh Factory becoming a 100% 
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wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company or otherwise combining its corporate existence with that of the 
Company, with the final structure for the Transaction to be determined on the basis of securities, tax and 
corporate law considerations. 

 
Following execution of the Definitive Agreement, the Company will concurrently file a non-offering long 
form prospectus (the “Prospectus”) with the British Columbia Securities Commission, as principal regulator, 
and such other Canadian securities regulators as the Parties may agree, each acting reasonably; and (ii) 
apply for a listing (the “Listing”) of the 1181718 Shares on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the 
“Exchange”). 
 
Consideration 
 
In consideration for the Transaction, the Company shall, upon completion of the Transaction (the 
“Closing”), issue approximately US$36,000,000 valued 1181718 Shares (including 1181718 SVS Shares, 
1181718 MV Shares, or a combination thereof) (the “Payment Shares”) to the then existing shareholders of 
Fresh Factory (the “Fresh Factory Shareholders”).   
 

The Parties shall enter into an advisory agreement for a term of one year with a party arranged by 
1181718 who shall receive 2,000,000 performance warrants, each exercisable to acquire a 1181718 Share 
at a price of US$1.00 per share for a period of one year.  50% of the performance warrants become 
exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or above US$2.00 for 5 consecutive trading days and the 
remaining 50% of the performance warrants become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or above 
US$3.00 for 5 consecutive trading days. 
 
Concurrent Financing  
 
Subsequent to May 31, 2021, the Company completed a concurrent private placement (the “Concurrent 
Financing”) of 8,984,823 subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) of the Company at a price of 
US$1.00 per Subscription Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of US$8,984,823.  The proceeds will be 
placed in escrow with an escrow agent until satisfaction of certain release conditions, which will include, 
without limitation, receipt of the conditional listing approval of the Exchange (the “Release Conditions”).  
Each Subscription Receipt will be exchanged for one 1181718 Share upon the satisfaction of the Release 
Conditions. Upon the Company satisfying the Release Conditions, a finder’s fee totaling $118,930 and 
118,930 1181718 Share purchase warrants (“Finders Warrant”) will be paid on a portion of the Concurrent 
Financing.  Each Finders Warrant is exercisable at US$1.00 for a period of 12 months from date of 
issuance. 
 
The Concurrent Financing described above will rely on the prospectus and/or registration exemptions 
pursuant to NI 45-106 or other applicable laws, rules and regulations such that all Fresh Factory Shares 
and 1181718 Shares will be issued on a prospectus-exempt basis.  

 
All funds raised in connection with the Concurrent Financing described above (the “Private Placement 
Proceeds”) will not be available to Fresh Factory until the completion of the Transaction.  
 
Closing Conditions 
 
The closing of the Transaction is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following closing conditions: 

 
(a) Board approval and shareholders’ approval (if necessary) of the Transaction and other matters 

contemplated by the LOI to be obtained by the Company; 
 
(b) Board approval and shareholders’ approval (if necessary) of the Transaction and other matters 

contemplated by the LOI to be obtained by Fresh Factory; 
 
(c) Completion of due diligence to the satisfaction of the Parties; 
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(d) All necessary regulatory approvals with respect to the Transaction having been obtained, including but 
not limited to the approval of the Exchange and the other applicable securities regulatory authorities; 

 
(e) The signing of the Definitive Agreement; and 
 
(f) Completion of all matters, and the satisfaction of all conditions (unless waived in writing), under the 

Definitive Agreement required to be completed or satisfied on or before the Closing. 
 
Closing Date 
 
Subject to Exchange approval and assurance acceptable to the Parties, acting reasonably, that a receipt 
for the Prospectus will be issued by the applicable Canadian securities regulator(s), the closing shall be 
completed on the date (the “Closing Date”) that is five (5) business days following the receipt of conditional 
acceptance by the Exchange of the listing and such assurance, or such other date as the Parties may 
mutually agree. 
 
1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Not applicable to venture issuers.  
 
1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 
 
The financial information presented in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. Our significant accounting policies are set out in Note 3 of the financial 
statements of the Company, as at and for the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
 
The Company’s financial instruments at May 31, 2021 are as follows:  

 

 
 

Fair Value 
through Profit or 

Loss Amortized Cost 
Financial assets     

Cash $ 22,046 $ – 
Trades payable  –  8,032 

 
1.15 Other Requirements 
 
Summary of Outstanding Share Data as of November 5, 2021:  
 
Authorized:  Unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
Issued and outstanding: 5,957,000 
  
 
On behalf of the Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support. 
 
“Hari Varshney” 

Hari Varshney 
Director 
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1.1 Date 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of The Fresh Factory BC Ltd. (formerly 1181718 B.C. 
Ltd.) (or the “Company”) has been prepared by management as of November 5, 2021 and should be read in 
conjunction with the condensed interim consolidated financial statements and related notes thereto of the 
Company for the three months ended August 31, 2021  and the audited financial statements and related 
notes thereto of the Company for the years ended May 31, 2021 and  2020, which was prepared in 
accordance with International Accounting Standards using accounting policies consistent with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) 
and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). 
 
This MD&A contains forward-looking information which reflects management's expectations regarding the 
Company’s growth, results of operation, performance and business prospects and opportunities. The use of 
words such as “anticipate”, “continue”, “estimate", "expect”, “may”, “will”, “project”, “should”, believe”, 
outlook”, “forecast” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.  
 
Forward-looking statements in this MD&A include, but not limited to, the Company’s expectation of future 
activities and results, of its working capital needs and its ability to identify, evaluate and pursue suitable 
business opportunity. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and 
other factors that may cause actual results of events to differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements. Readers should not put undue reliance on forward-looking information. 
 
Historical results of operations and trends that may be inferred from the following discussions and analysis 
may not necessarily indicate future results from operations. 
 
1.2 Over-all Performance 
 
The Company was incorporated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia on October 2, 2018.  On 
October 27, 2021, the Company changed its name to “The Fresh Factory BC Ltd.” in connection with the 
closing of a reverse take-over (“RTO”) transaction. 
 
On May 5, 2021, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) with The Fresh Factory PBC ("Fresh 
Factory") pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding securities of Fresh 
Factory (the “Transaction”).  Fresh Factory, a public benefit corporation incorporated under the laws of the 
State of Delaware, is a US-based food production and distribution company that produces high-quality 
plant-based and clean-label food and beverages.  
 
On July 30, 2021, the Company incorporated a wholly owned subsidiary, Fresh Factory Merger Sub Inc. 
(“Merger Sub”), under the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware in connection with the 
Transaction.  Merger Sub was inactive during the period ended August 31, 2021. 

 
On August 16, 2021, the Company entered into a Merger Agreement pursuant to which Fresh Factory will 
merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of the Company. See 1.11 Proposed Transaction 
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In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared coronavirus COVID-19 a global pandemic. This 
contagious disease outbreak, which has continued to spread, and any related adverse public health 
developments, has adversely affected workforces, economies, and financial markets globally, potentially 
leading to an economic downturn. While the impact of COVID-19 is expected to be temporary, the current 
circumstances are dynamic and the impacts of COVID-19 on business operations cannot be reasonably 
estimated at this time. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by adverse 
consequences that may be brought about by the pandemic’s impact on its business, results of operations, 
financial position and cash flows in the future. 
 
1.3 Selected Annual Information 
 

 
Year Ended 

May 31, 2021 
Year Ended 

May 31, 2020 

Date of Incorporation  
(October 2, 2018) to 

May 31, 2019 

Net Loss $  (41,944) $    (16,653) $        (9,917) 
Loss per share $      (0.03) $        (16,653) $        (9,917) 
Total assets $    22,046 $      33,005 $        47,663 
Total long-term liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Cash dividends declared per share for 
each class of share Nil Nil Nil 

 
1.4 Results of Operations 
 
Three months ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 
 
During the three months ended August 31, 2021, the Company reported a net loss of $13,361 compared to 
a net loss of $6,236 during the first quarter ended August 31, 2020, an increase in net loss of $7,125.  The 
increase in net loss was primarily due to a loss on foreign exchange of $8,465 on the share subscription 
proceeds. 
 
Professional fees increased by $1,747 due to legal services for the Company’s annual general and special 
meeting.  
 
The increase in professional fees was offset by a decrease in rent of $3,150 due to the cancellation of the 
sublease arrangement effective January 1, 2021.  
 
1.5 Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
Quarterly financials for interim periods preceding the date of this MD&A have been omitted as the 
Company was not a reporting issuer during those periods.  
 
1.6 Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
The Company reported a working capital deficiency of $22,794 at August 31, 2021 compared to a working 
capital deficiency of $9,433 at May 31, 2021, an increase in working capital deficiency of $13,361.  As at 
August 31, 2021, the Company had cash on hand of $130,974 (May 31, 2021 - $22,046), cash held in 
escrow of $11,336,209 (May 31, 201 - $nil), trade payables and accrued liabilities of $286,674 (May 31, 
2021 - $31,479) and share subscriptions of $11,336,209 (May 31, 2021 -$Nil). 
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The Company may continue to have capital requirements in excess of its currently available resources. In 
the event the Company’s plans change, its assumptions change or prove inaccurate, or its capital resources 
in addition to projected cash flow, if any, prove to be insufficient to fund operations, the Company may be 
required to seek additional financing. There can be no assurance that the Company will have sufficient 
financing to meet its future capital requirements or that additional financing will be available on terms 
acceptable to the Company in the future.   
 
1.7 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
 
The Company does not utilize off-balance sheet arrangements. 
  
1.8 Risk and Uncertainties 
 
The Company’s financial performance is likely to be subject to the following risks: 
 
 Although management of the Company is working diligently to complete the business transaction, there 

is no assurance that a definitive agreement will be entered into nor completed. 
 The Company has not generated any significant revenue and has incurred significant losses since 

inception. 
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 
below:  
 
Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with the counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  
The Company believes it has no significant credit risk.   

 
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient readily available reserves in 
order to meet its liquidity requirements at any point in time. The Company achieves this by maintaining 
sufficient cash and seeking equity financing when needed.  
 
As at August 31, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $22,794 (May 31, 2021 – $9,433). 
The Company will require completion of its proposed business transaction to release funds held in escrow.  
Liquidity risk is assessed as high. 
 
Market risk 
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, and commodity and equity prices. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in the market interest rates. The Company’s cash is held in an account with a major 
Canadian financial institution. The funds may be withdrawn at any time without penalty. Cash held in 
escrow are held with an escrow agent pending completion of the proposed business combination. 
 
 



THE FRESH FACTORY B.C. LTD. 
(Formerly 1181718 B.C. LTD.) 
Management Discussion & Analysis 
For the three months ended August 31, 2021 and 2020 

 

Page | 5 

 

(b) Foreign currency risk 
The Company does not have assets or liabilities in a foreign currency and therefore is not exposed to 
foreign currency risk. 
 
(c) Price risk 
The Company is exposed to price risk with respect to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the 
potentially adverse impact on the Company’s ability to obtain equity financing due to movements in 
individual equity prices. The Company closely monitors individual equity movements to determine the 
appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. 
 
1.9 Transactions with Related Parties 
 
Key management personnel are persons responsible for planning, directing and controlling activities of an 
entity, and include executive and non-executive directors and officers.  
 
On October 2, 2018, the Company entered into a sublease agreement with Vandana Ventures Inc. 
(“Vandana”), a company controlled by a spouse of a director of the Company, for a portion of its corporate 
office located in Vancouver, B.C. for a month to month basis, in exchange for $1,000 per month plus 
applicable taxes. The contract was terminated on December 31, 2020. 
 
During the three months ended August 31, 2021, the Company paid or accrued $Nil (2020 - $3,150) for 
rent to Vandana. 
 
As at August 31, 2021, $7,350 (May 31, 2021 – $7,350) was due to Vandana for outstanding rent and 
included in trades payables. 
 
1.10 Fourth Quarter  
 

None. 
 
1.11 Proposed Transaction 
 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory will merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory 
as the surviving entity and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.   
 
The Company’s common shares (“1181718 Shares”) are not currently listed on any stock exchange.  Prior 
to completion of the Transaction, the Company completed a share capital reorganization (the “1181718 
Capital Reorganization”) to redesignate the 1181718 Shares as subordinate voting shares (“1181718 SV 
Shares”) and create a new class of proportionate voting shares (“1181718 MV Shares”) on such terms that 
are mutually agreed upon to ensure that upon completion of the Transaction and the Company becoming a 
“reporting issuer” (as defined under applicable Canadian securities laws) satisfies the requirements to be a 
“foreign private issuer” for the purposes of applicable United States securities laws. References herein to 
1181718 Shares includes 1181718 SV Shares and 1181718 MV Shares as the context requires. 
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Share Consolidation 
 
On October 27, 2021, the Company completed a consolidation of the common shares of the Company on 
the basis of one new common share (Post Consolidation Common Share) for each 3.404 outstanding 
common shares, resulting in 1,749,958 Post Consolidation Common Shares being issued to existing 
shareholders. All shares and per share references in the financial statements for the three months ended 
August 31, 2021 have been retroactively restated accordingly unless noted otherwise. 
 
Transaction and Consideration 
 
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, Fresh Factory shareholders will acquire an aggregate of 4,036 
1181718 SV Shares and 364,195 1181718 MV Shares in consideration of the amalgamation between 
Fresh Factory and Merger Sub under the General Corporation Law (Delaware), pursuant to which Fresh 
Factory will merge with and into Merger Sub, with Fresh Factory as the surviving entity (“Mergeco”), 
resulting in Merger Sub being cancelled and all the property of each of Merger Sub and Fresh Factory 
continuing on as to the property of Mergeco. 
 
The Company entered into an advisory agreement for a term of one year with a party arranged by 1181718 
who shall receive 2,000,000 performance warrants, each exercisable to acquire a Post Consolidation 
Common Share at a price of US$1.00 per share for a period of two years.  50% of the performance 
warrants become exercisable if/when the stock price closes at or above US$2.00 for 5 consecutive trading 
days and the remaining 50% of the performance warrants become exercisable if/when the stock price 
closes at or above US$3.00 for 5 consecutive trading days. 
 
Concurrent Financing  
 
The Company completed a concurrent private placement (the “Concurrent Financing”) of 8,984,823 
subscription receipts (“Subscription Receipts”) of the Company at a price of US$1.00 per Subscription 
Receipt for aggregate gross proceeds of US$8,984,823 (CAD$11,336,209).  The proceeds were placed in 
escrow with an escrow agent until satisfaction of certain release conditions, which will include, without 
limitation, receipt of the conditional listing approval of the Exchange (the “Release Conditions”).  Each 
Subscription Receipt will be exchanged for one Post Consolidation Common Share upon the satisfaction of 
the Release Conditions. Upon the Company satisfying the Release Conditions, a finder’s fee totaling 
$118,930 and 118,930 1181718 Share purchase warrants (“Finders Warrant”) will be paid on a portion of 
the Concurrent Financing.  Each Finders Warrant is exercisable at US$1.00 for a period of 12 months from 
date of issuance. 
 
The Concurrent Financing described above will rely on the Prospectus and/or registration exemptions 
pursuant to NI 45-106 or other applicable laws, rules and regulations such that all Fresh Factory Shares 
and 1181718 Shares will be issued on a prospectus-exempt basis.  
 
All funds raised in connection with the Concurrent Financing described above (the “Private Placement 
Proceeds”) will not be available to Fresh Factory until the completion of the Transaction.  
 
1.12 Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
Not applicable to venture issuers.  
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1.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption 
 
The financial information presented in this MD&A has been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The significant accounting policies are set out in Note 3 of the financial 
statements of the Company, as at and for the years ended May 31, 2021 and 2020. 
 
1.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
 
The Company’s financial instruments at August 31, 2021 are as follows:  

 

 
 

Fair Value 
through Profit or 

Loss Amortized Cost 
Financial assets     

Cash $ 130,974 $ – 
Cash held in escrow  11,336,209  – 
Trades payable  –  134,030 
Share subscription  –  11,336,209 

 
1.15 Other Requirements 
 
Summary of Outstanding Share Data as of November 5, 2021:  
 
Authorized:  Unlimited number of subordinate voting shares without par value. 
                    Unlimited number of proportionate voting shares without par value. 
 
Issued and outstanding: 1,749,958 subordinate voting shares 
  
On behalf of the Board of Directors, thank you for your continued support. 
 
“Hari Varshney” 

Hari Varshney 
Director 
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Independent Auditor's Report

To the Shareholders of The Fresh Factory, PBC: 

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Fresh Factory, PBC (the "Company"), which
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019
and the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and its financial performance and its cash
flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audits of the financial statements in Canada, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred
a net loss and negative cash flows from operating activities during the year ended 2020 and, as of that date, the
Company had a working capital deficiency and an accumulated deficit. As stated in Note 1, these events or
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these  financial statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material

misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that

are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting

estimates and related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and,

based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the

related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the

disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business

activities within the Company to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are

responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audits and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audits.

Calgary, Alberta
October 31, 2021 Chartered Professional Accountants
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Consolidated statement of financial position 

(United States dollars) 

December 31, December 31,

Notes 2020 2019

Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents $           323,056 $             79,724 

Restricted cash - 125,839 

Trade and other receivables 3 770,469 397,428 

Prepayments 222,299 170,286 

Inventories 4 573,689 468,938 

Current assets 1,889,513 1,242,215 

Property and equipment 5 3,881,591 2,615,753 

Intangible assets 6 68,239 29,388 

Non-current assets 3,949,830 2,645,141 

Total assets $        5,839,343 $        3,887,356 

Liabilities: 

Trade and other payables 7 1,047,178 903,932

Lease liabilities 8 441,592 584,735 

Convertible note payable 10 3,323,642 510,170

Current liabilities 4,812,412 1,998,837

Lease liabilities 8 1,524,315 269,157

Note payable 9 500,000 -

Convertible note payable 10 - 1,678,927

Non-current liabilities 2,024,315 1,948,084

Total liabilities 6,836,727 3,946,921

 Shareholders’ Equity (DEFICIENCY): 

Share capital 13 $      11,577,513 $      11,577,513 

Accumulated deficit (12,574,897) (11,637,078)

Total equity (deficiency) 1 (997,384) (59,565)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 1 $        5,839,343 $        3,887,356 

Going Concern - Note 1  
Subsequent events - Note 20 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Approved by the Board of Directors:

Signed “Nathan Laurell”

Director & CEO
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss 

For the year ended December 31, 

(United States dollars) 

Notes 2020 2019

Revenues $  8,269,620 $ 6,849,237 

Cost of revenues 6,412,290 5,749,718

Gross profit 1,857,330 1,099,519

Operating expenses

Distribution costs 161,655 115,314

Selling, general, and administrative expenses 18 2,365,146 2,871,034 

Operating loss (669,471) (1,886,829)

Interest expense 19 (255,238) (189,525)

Change in fair value of convertible notes (13,110) (17,150)

Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (937,819) $(2,093,504)

Basic and diluted loss per share 14 $      (0.39) $      (0.87)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 

(United States dollars) 

Notes Preferred Shares
Common 

Shares
Accumulated 

Deficit Total

Balance at January 1, 2019 $          9,394,405 $   2,183,108 $    (9,543,574) $  2,033,939

Net loss - - (2,093,504) (2,093,504)

Balance at December 31, 2019 9,394,405 2,183,108 (11,637,078) (59,565)

Net loss - - (937,819) (937,819)

Balance at December 31, 2020 $          9,394,405 $   2,183,108 $  (12,574,897) $  (997,384)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 

For the year ended December, 31 

(United States dollars) 

Notes 2020 2019

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net loss $   (937,819) $     (2,093,504)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash

provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 5,6 670,519 635,120 

Change in fair value of convertible promissory notes 13,110 17,150 

Interest paid 87,048 101,846

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Trade receivables (373,041) 341,151 

Inventories (104,751) (174,484)

Prepayments (52,013) 40,783 

Trade and other payables 143,246 (185,491)

Accrued interest 169,985 84,777 

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES (383,716) (1,232,652)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property and equipment (231,783) (364,247)

Purchase of intangible assets (53,001) (31,900)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITY (284,784) (396,147)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Payment lease liabilities (578,409) (528,442)
Proceeds from issuance of note payable 9 500,000 -
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable 10 951,450 1,431,976 

Interest paid (87,048) (101,846)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES 785,993 801,688

NET CHANGE IN CASH (including restricted cash) 117,493 (827,111)

CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR 205,563 1,032,674 

CASH - END OF YEAR $         323,056 $          205,563 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Notes to consolidated financial statements 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 

Note 1. Business Description and Basis of Presentation 

The Here Foods, PBC was formed as a public benefit corporation on December 14, 2017 in the State of Delaware.  On March 
9, 2020, Here Foods, PBC was renamed to The Fresh Factory, PBC (the “Company”) to reflect the Company's emphasis on 
fresh food. The Company manufactures and distributes food and beverage products through retailers and other distributors 
in the continental United States.  The Company’s operations are located in Carol Stream, Illinois.  The Company’s operations 
are primarily regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration. 

Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(‘IFRS”).  The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements were based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2020.  The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of four wholly owned 
subsidiaries; 87P LLC, MadeHere LLC, Element Creations LLC, The Clean Factory, LLC. All inter-company transactions 
are eliminated. 

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on October 31, 2021.  

Basis of measurement 

These  consolidated  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  on  the  historical  cost  basis  except  for  certain  financial 
instruments  and  equity  instruments,  such  as  convertible  notes  that  have  been  measured  at  fair  value  at  the  initial 
measurement date. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries which are consolidated from 
the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained control, and continue to be consolidated until the date 
that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in full upon consolidation. 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s and subsidiaries functional 
currency.   

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and  discharge  its  liabilities  in  the  normal  course  of  business.  The  Company  incurred  a  net  loss  of  $937,819  (2019  - 
$2,093,504) and negative cash flows from operating activities during 2020 and 2019. As at December 31, 2020, the Company 
has an accumulated deficit of $12.6 million (2019 – ($11.6M)) and  negative working capital of $2,922,899 (2019 - $756,622) 

In order to continue as a going concern, the Company must generate sufficient income and cash flows to repay its obligations, 
finance  working  capital  and fund  capital  investments.  The  future of  the  Company  is dependent  on  its  ability  to  attain 
profitable operations, generate sufficient funds from operations and obtaining new financing. There is no certainty that the 
Company will raise these necessary funds from financing or operations. As a result of these factors, there are material 
uncertainties relating to events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern.  
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Management is of the opinion that in the future, sufficient working capital can be obtained from external financing and 
operating cash flow to settle the Company’s liabilities and commitments as they become due, although there is a risk that 
funding will not be available on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to the Company. Specifically, the Company intends to 
fund operations through the issuance of convertible notes at the same terms as previously issued. In addition, the Company 
intends to pursue an RTO transaction and publicly list on the Canadian Securities Exchange (see Note 20). 

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis was 
not appropriate. Consequently, adjustments would then be necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the 
expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 

Impact of COVID-19 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting measures adopted by governments, businesses and citizens to 
mitigate its spread have thus far had a limited negative impact on the Company. While these measures required the Company 
to shut down its manufacturing operations for one week during May 2020, the Company has since been able to secure 
adequate supplies of raw materials, maintain its workforce and benefited from increased demand for its products and services.    

Note 2. Significant Accounting Policies 

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments and estimates and used assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual 
results will differ materially from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year or in the year of the revision and 
future years if the revision affects both current and future years. 

Estimates 

Critical accounting estimates are those that require management to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain 
at the time the estimate or assumption is made. Critical accounting estimates are also those that could potentially have a 
material impact on the Company’s financial results where a different estimate or assumption is used. The significant areas 
of estimation uncertainty are: 

Expected credit losses (“ECL”) 

The Company's trade and other receivables are typically short-term in nature.  The Company recognizes an amount equal to 
the lifetime ECL based on a probability-weighted matrix. The Company measures loss allowance based on customer-specific 
factors, historical default rates and forecasted economic conditions. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances of forecast economic conditions.  

Revenue recognition 

Where the outcome of performance obligations for contracts can be estimated reliably, revenue is recognized. The 
Company’s revenue is based on sales incentives provided to retailers and estimates of expected returns.  The Company 
estimates sales incentives to be provided to retailers at each measurement date based on historical ratios and adjusts its 
revenues and accounts receivable accordingly. The Company continually reviews the contractual estimation process to 
consider and incorporate frequent changes in food distribution resulting from contract renegotiations and renewals. 

Leases 

Lease terms are based on assumptions regarding extension terms that allow for operational flexibility and future market 
conditions. The incremental borrowing rates are based on estimates including economic environment, term, currency, and 
the underlying risk inherent to the asset. The carrying balance of the right-of-use assets, lease liabilities, and the resulting 
interest expense and depreciation expense, may differ due to changes in the market conditions and lease term. 

Useful life of depreciable assets 

Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date and estimates the expected future utility of 
the assets to the Company.  
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Convertible Notes 

Management estimates the fair value of the convertible notes which requires determining the most appropriate valuation 
model and the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model. 

Taxation 

The calculations for current and deferred taxes require management’s interpretation of tax regulations and legislation in the 
various tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates, which are subject to change. The measurement of deferred tax 
assets and liabilities requires estimates of the timing of the reversal of temporary differences identified and management’s 
assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before they 
expire, which involves estimating future taxable income. 

Judgments  

Judgment is used in situations when there is a choice and/or assessment required by management.  The following are critical 
judgments apart from those involving estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies and that have a significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Determination of Cash Generating Units “CGUs” 

For the purposes of assessing impairment of non-financial assets, the Company must determine Cash generating units 
(“CGU”). Assets and liabilities are grouped into CGUs at the lowest level of separately identified cash flows. Determination 
of what constitutes a CGU is subject to management judgment. The asset composition of a CGU can directly impact the 
recoverability of assets included within the CGU. Management has determined that the Company has one CGU. 

Contingencies 

Management uses judgment to assess the existence of contingencies. By their nature, contingencies will only be resolved 
when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Management also uses judgment to assess the likelihood of the 
occurrence of one or more future events. 

Going concern 

The going concern assessment requires management’s judgment on the ability of the Company to achieve positive cash flow 
from operations and/or obtain necessary equity or other financing. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash 

Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments that have an original maturity of three months or less at the 
date of the purchase. 

Restricted cash includes cash where the availability of funds is restricted to use as collateral for a lease obligation. 

Revenue Recognition 

The Company's revenues generally relate to contracts with retailers and distributors in which the performance obligations 
are to provide food products. The Company recognizes revenues in the period in which its obligations to provide food 
products are satisfied and reports the amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to. The 
Company's performance obligations are generally satisfied upon shipment of the food products. The contractual relationships 
with customers, in most certain cases, also involve a sales incentive and rights of return to retailers.  The Company estimates 
sales incentive to be provided to retailers at each measurement date based on historical ratios and adjusts its revenues and 
accounts receivable accordingly. The Company continually reviews the contractual estimation process to consider and 
incorporate frequent changes in food distribution resulting from contract renegotiations and renewals. 

Accounts receivable are recorded net of sales incentives and rights of return and expected credit losses to reflect accounts 
receivable at net realizable value. Accounts receivable consists of receivables from larger retailers.  Concentration of credit 
risk with respect to other customers is limited because of the larger number of such customers. 

The Company analyzes accounts receivable to ensure the proper aged category and collection assessment. At a consolidated 
level, the Company's policy is to review accounts receivable aging, to determine the appropriate expected credit loss 
provision. Account balances are reviewed for delinquency based on contractual terms. This review is supported by an analysis 
of the actual revenues, sales incentive and rights of return, historical cash collections received and forward-looking 
information.  
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The Company has no contract assets or liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

Incremental contract costs are expensed when incurred when the amortization period of the asset that would have been 
recognized is one year or less. Otherwise, incremental contract costs are recognized as an asset and amortized over time as 
services are provided to a customer.  Contract fulfillment costs are expensed as incurred. 

Inventories 

The cost of inventories includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion (direct labor and production overhead) and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The cost of inventories is assigned by the 
weighted average cost. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in which the 
related revenue is recognized. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net realizable value and all losses of 
inventories are recognized as an expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. 

Financial instruments  

(i) Recognition and derecognition 

 Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade date, being the date on which the Company 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership.  

(ii) Classification  

The Company classified its financial assets in the following measurement categories:  

• Those to be measured subsequently at fair value either through other comprehensive income “OCI” or through profit or 
loss (FVOCI or FVTPL); and  

• Those to be measured at amortized cost.  

The measurement category classification of financial assets depends on the Company’s business objectives for managing the 
financial assets and whether contractual terms of the cash flows are considered solely payments of principal and interest. For 
assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will be recorded either in profit or loss or in OCI depending upon the business 
objective. The Company reclassifies debt instruments when and only when its business objective for managing those assets 
changes. 

(iii) Measurement  

At initial recognition, the Company measures a financial asset at its fair value. In the case of a financial asset not categorized 
as fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial 
asset are included in measurement at initial recognition. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed 
in profit or loss. 

Financial assets held for collection of contractual cash flows that represent solely payments of principal and interest are 
measured at amortized cost. A gain or loss on a debt instrument is recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized 
or impaired. Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade and other receivables are included in this category and are 
recognized at amortized cost.  

The classification of financial liabilities (trade and other payables and notes payable) are initially measured at fair value upon 
initial recognition and are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Transaction costs 
related to the financial liabilities recognized at amortized cost are included in the value of the instruments and amortized 
using the effective interest rate method. The effective interest expense is included in finance costs in the consolidated 
statements of loss. The convertible notes payable are recognized at fair value and remeasured at each reporting period.  
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Derecognition  

A financial asset is derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or when the Company 
has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset. A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 
the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the consolidated statement of loss. 

Impairment  

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its assets carried at 
amortized cost, including other receivables. For trade receivables the Company applies the simplified approach permitted by 
IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. Trade receivables 
are reviewed qualitatively on a case-by-case basis to determine if they need to be written off.  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Expenditures for major betterments and additions 
are charged to the property and equipment accounts, while replacements and maintenance and repairs, which do not improve 
or extend the lives of the respective assets, are charged to expense. Maintenance and repairs expenditures are charged to 
expense as incurred and expenditures for improvements and major renewals are capitalized.  

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Machinery, equipment and furniture 7-10 years 

Leasehold improvements  Lease terms 

Leases  

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. A lease liability is recognized at the commencement of the lease term at the present value of 
the lease payments that are not paid at that date using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. At the commencement 
date, a corresponding right-of-use asset is recognized at the amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease incentives 
received, retirement costs and initial direct costs. Depreciation is recognized on the right-of-use asset over the lease term. 
Interest expense is recognized on the lease liabilities using the effective interest rate method and payments are applied against 
the lease liability. Applicable operating costs, taxes and maintenance expenses are recognized during the period in which 
they were incurred.  

Long-lived assets 

Long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of the assets may not be recoverable through the estimated undiscounted future cash flows derived from such assets. 

For long-lived assets used in operations, impairment losses are only recorded if the asset's carrying amount is not recoverable 
through its undiscounted, probability-weighted future cash flows.  The Company measures the impairment loss based on the 
difference between the carrying amount and the estimated fair value.  When impairment exists, the related assets are written 
down to fair value. 

The Company assessed whether the carrying value of its long-lived assets were impaired at December 31, 2020 and 2019 
and no impairment was identified. 
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Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets acquired outside of a business combination are measured at cost on initial recognition. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever 
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization method and amortization period of an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least annually. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected 
pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are accounted for by changing the amortization 
period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense related to 
intangible assets with finite lives is recognized in the consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Intangible asset category Amortization method Useful life

Domain names straight-line 10 years 

Trademarks straight-line 20 years 

Website straight-line 3 years 

Impairment of non-financial assets  

The Company assesses whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired at each reporting date. If such an 
indication exists or when annual testing for an asset is required, the Company estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amounts of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested annually. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) fair value less costs to sell and its value-in-use. Value-in-use is 
determined by discounting estimated future pre-tax cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market 
assessment of the time value of money and the specific risks of the asset. The recoverable amount of assets that do not 
generate independent cash flows is determined based on the CGU to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is 
recognized if an asset’s carrying amount or that of the CGU to which it is allocated is higher than its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses of individual CGUs are charged against the value of assets in proportion to their carrying amount. For 
assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the Company estimates 
the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. 
The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of amortization and depreciation, had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. Such a reversal is recognized in the consolidated statements of loss. 

Income Taxes 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from, 
or paid to, the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the jurisdictions and the Company operates and generates taxable income.  

Current taxes relating to items recognized directly in OCI or equity are recognized in OCI or equity and not in profit or loss. 
Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations where applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate.  

The Company follows the liability method of accounting for deferred taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for the estimated tax consequences attributable to the temporary differences between the carrying 
value of the assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 • Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction that 
is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or 
loss; and 

 • In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences can be controlled by the parent and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in 
the foreseeable future.  
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, can be utilized except:  

• Where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

• In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are recognized 
only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is 
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are recognized to the extent that it 
has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realized, 
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.  

Deferred taxes relating to items recognized in cumulative translation adjustment or equity is recognized in OCI or equity and 
not in profit or loss. 

 Deferred tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current income 
tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same 
taxation authority. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. 

The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the 
end of the reporting period considering the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured 
using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows 
(where the effect of the time value of money is material). 

Governmental Assistance 

The Company recognizes government grants only when there is reasonable assurance that (a) the Company will comply with 
any conditions attached to the grant and (b) the grant will be received.  The grant is recognized as a deduction from the 
related expense over the period necessary to match them with the related costs, for which they are intended to compensate, 
on a systematic basis. 

Share capital 

Preferred shares and common shares are classified as equity. Transaction costs directly attributable to the issue of shares are 
recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.  

Proceeds from the issue of preferred share purchase warrants and common share purchase warrants (collectively called 
“warrants”) are treated as equity and recorded as a separate component of equity within contributed surplus. Costs incurred 
on the issue of warrants are netted against proceeds. Warrants issued with shares are measured at fair value at the date of 
issue using the Black-Scholes pricing model, which incorporates certain input assumptions including the warrant price, risk-
free interest rate, expected warrant life and expected share price volatility. The fair value is included as a component of equity 
within contributed surplus and is transferred from warrants to preferred shares or common shares, as applicable, on exercise. 
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Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the net income or loss attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. 
The weighted average number of common shares outstanding is increased by the total number of additional common shares 
that would have been issued by the Company assuming exercise of all common share warrants and stock options with exercise 
prices below the average market price for the year. 

Hybrid financial instruments (Convertible Notes) 

The Company recognizes and presents separately the components of a hybrid financial instrument that both creates a financial 
liability of the Company and grants an option to the holder of the instrument to convert it into a variable number of common 
shares of the Company (a liability instrument). The conversion feature does not meet the fixed-for-fixed criteria and therefore 
is an embedded derivative that is assessed separately from the host liability. The conversion feature of the financial instrument 
and the host liability are both measured at fair value on initial recognition and at each reporting period with any changes in 
fair value being recorded within the statement of loss and comprehensive loss.  

Note 3. Trade and other receivables 

Accounts receivable consists of the following as of December 31: 

2020 2019

Accounts receivable $ 869,815 $ 434,970 

Expected credit loss (99,346) (37,542)

$ 770,469 $ 397,428 

The aging of the trade accounts receivable where the Company bears customer credit risk was as follows: 

2020 2019

Current $ 641,955 $ 271,301

1-30 days 95,591 121,659

31-60 days 60,125 20,195

61-90 days 26,864 39

over 90 days 45,280 21,776

$ 869,815 $ 434,970

The Company's accounts receivable are primarily due from retailers, generally located in the United States. Two of the 
Company’s customers accounted for more than 23% and one for 15% of its trade receivable at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.  The Company’s payment terms are net 30 days, with any amounts due thereafter included within the provision 
for ECL. The Company does not require any significant collateral from its customers. 

None of the Company’s customers accounted for more than 10% of its revenues during 2020 and 2019. 
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Note 4.  Inventories 

Inventories at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

2020 2019 

Raw materials $ 208,016 $ 178,884

In Process 111,658 181,718

Finished Goods 254,015 108,336

Balance, end of year $ 573,689 $ 468,938

The Company expensed $468,939 and $294,454 of inventory during 2020 and 2019 respectively, which is included in cost 
of sales.  There was no inventory written down during 2020 and 2019.   

Note 5. Property and equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

Cost

Machinery 
and equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Furniture 
Right-of-
use assets 

Total 

Balance, January 1, 2019 $ 2,190,389 $ 177,131 $ 14,612 $ 660,453 $ 3,042,585

Additions 512,536 7,337 8,579 - 528,452

Balance, December 31, 2019 2,702,925 184,468 23,191 660,453 3,571,037

Additions 219,033 12,750 - 1,690,424 1,922,207

Balance December 31, 2020 $ 2,921,958 $ 197,218 $ 23,191 $ 2,350,877 $ 5,493,244

Accumulated depreciation

Balance, January 1, 2019 $ 234,010 $ 83,841 $ 4,825 $ - $ 322,676

Depreciation 246,805 57,830 3,163 324,810 632,608

Balance, December 31, 2019 480,815 141,671 7,988 324,810 955,284

Depreciation 283,076 43,181 3,321 326,791 656,369
Balance December 31, 2020 $ 763,891 $ 184,852 $ 11,309 $ 651,601 $ 1,611,653

Net book value, December 31, 2019 $ 2,222,110 $ 42,797 $ 15,203 $ 335,643 2,615,753

Net book value, December 31, 2020 $ 2,158,067 $ 12,366 $ 11,882 $ 1,699,276 $ 3,881,591
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Note 6.  Intangible assets 

Intangible assets consist of the following as of December 31, 2020, and 2019: 

Cost

Domain 
names 

Trademarks Website Total 

Balance, January 1, 2019 $ - $ - $ - $ -

Additions 22,000 9,900 - 31,900

Balance, December 31, 2019 22,000 9,900 - 31,900

Additions - - 53,001 53,001

Balance December 31, 2020 $ 22,000 $ 9,900 $ 53,001 $ 84,901

Accumulated amortization

Balance, January 1, 2019 $ - $ - $ - $ -

Amortization 2,194 318 - 2,512

Balance, December 31, 2019 2,194 318 - 2,512

Amortization 2,206 496 11,448 14,150

Balance December 31, 2020 $ 4,400 $ 814 $ 11,448 $ 16,662

Net book value, December 31, 2019 $ 19,806 $ 9,582 $ - $ 29,388

Net book value, December 31, 2020 $ 17,600 $ 9,086 $ 41,553 $ 68,239

Note 7. Trade and other payables 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of following as of December 31: 

2020 2019 

Trade payables $ 921,819 $ 826,260

Customer deposits 81,895 50,289

Compensation payable 43,464 27,383

$ 1,047,178 $ 903,932
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Note 8. Lease liabilities 

The Company leases office and manufacturing space and certain equipment under various leases.    The Company recognized 
lease expense over the term of the lease using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 3.5%, excluding renewal periods, 
unless renewal of the lease is reasonably assured. In addition, the Company pays for taxes, insurance, maintenance and other 
operating expenses which are expensed as incurred.  

The company entered into a lease for its main facilities in October 2020, the lease provides for monthly payments of $28,474 
with annual escalations up to $32,211. The lease expires in October 2025. 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, were as 
follows: 

2020 2019 

Less than one year $ 503,982 $ 562,441

One to five years 1,630,687 460,490

More than five years 7,337 5,406

Undiscounted liabilities 2,142,006 1,028,337

Lease liabilities included

in statement of financial position 1,965,907 853,892

Current 441,592 584,735

Non-current 1,524,315 269,157

Total payments-leases 694,119 645,474

Note 9.  Note payable 

The Company has a note payable outstanding issued to the US Small Business Administration which amounted to $500,000, 
plus accrued interest as of December 31, 2020.  The note bears interest at an annual rate of 3.75%.  The note matures in June 
2050. The note is secured by substantially all assets of the Company.  Monthly principal and interest payments of $2,334 are 
deferred until May 2022. 

The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, for the next five years, at December 31, 
2020 are as follows: 

Year ending December 31,

2021 $ -
2022 5,321
2023 9,397
2024 9,755

2025 and thereafter 475,527
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Note 10.  Convertible notes payable 

Convertible notes payable consist of the following at December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

2020 2019 

Convertible notes payable $ 3,063,602 $ 2,100,562

Accrued interest 260,040 88,535

$ 3,323,642 $ 2,189,097

The convertible notes payable bear interest of 6%, are unsecured and mature in November 2021. The convertible notes 
payable will convert to Company’s most senior class of equity upon either a Trigger Financing or at maturity. If a Trigger 
Financing, whereby the Company raises greater than $5 million gross cash proceeds through the sale of equity securities, the 
convertible notes payable will convert into securities at the lesser of (i) 80% of the price paid by investors; or (ii) $36,000,000. 
If at maturity, the convertible notes payable will convert into securities based on a $27,000,000 pre-money valuation of the 
Company on a fully diluted basis with respect to all outstanding equity securities at such time. 

A summary of the convertible notes payable activity during 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 

2020 2019 

Balance, beginning of year $ 2,189,097 $ 655,193

Proceeds from issuance 951,450 1,431,976

Accrued interest 169,985 84,778

Change in fair value 13,110 17,150

$ 3,323,642 $ 2,189,097

Current $ 3,323,642 $ 510,170

Long term  $ - $ 1,678,927

The Company accounts for its convertible notes payable at fair value. At each measurement date, the fair value of its 
convertible note payable conversion features was based on the FINCAD model which implements the Tsiveriotis and 
Fernandes models using the following assumptions: 

December 31, December 31, 

2020 2019 

Discount rate 18%               15-21% 

Share price  $          1.33 $           1.41 – 1.46 

Volatility 114.4% -139.2% 138.5% -153.1%

Risk-free interest 0.07% - 0.10% 1.50% - 2.34 % 

Initial terms 24 months 24 months 

Expected dividend rate 0% 0% 

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of comparable public companies. 
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Note 11.  Governmental Assistance 

The Company received $455,000 in governmental assistance, primarily under the Paycheck Protection Program, during 2020. 
The proceeds were used to fund covered compensation during 2020.  The United States Small Business Administration 
forgave the loan in June 2021.  The Company recorded this governmental assistance over the period during which they were 
incurred, as a reduction of cost of revenues and sales, general, and administrative expenses. 

Note 12.  Income Taxes 

The tax provision recorded in the consolidated financial statements differs from the amount computed by applying the 
combined United States federal and state income tax statutory rates to loss before tax as follows: 

For the year ended December 31, 2020  2019 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before tax (937,819) (2,093,504)

Tax rate 28.5% 28.5%

Income tax recovery at statutory rates (267,278) (596,649)

Non-taxable government assistance (129,675) -

Deferred tax asset not recognized 396,953 596,649 

Income tax (recovery) expense - -

A deferred tax asset (liability) has been recognized as follows:

December 31 2020 2019 

Property, equipment, and intangibles (911,904) (543,105)

Net operating loss carryforward 911,904 543,105 

Deferred tax asset (liability) - -

A deferred tax asset has not been recognized in respect of the following deductible temporary differences:

December 31 2020 2019 

Net operating loss carryforward 3,638,554 3,420,550 

Lease liabilities 1,965,907 853,892 

Other 111,540 36,626 

Unrecognized deductible temporary differences 5,716,001 4,311,068 

The Company has not recognized a deferred tax asset in respect of $3,638,554 of net operating losses, which have no expiry 
date. 

Deferred tax assets are recorded only to the extent that future taxable income will be available against which the deferred tax 
asset can be offset. Management estimates future income using forecasts based on the best available current information. 
Based on the current estimates, no net deferred tax asset has been recognized. 
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Note 13.  Share Capital 

Preferred Stock 

The Company is authorized to issue 16,000,000 shares of Preferred stock of which 15,167,149 are issued and outstanding. 
Holder of shares of Preferred stock have voting rights.  The shares of Preferred Stock are convertible into the Company’s 
Common stock at a price of $1 per share subject to an anti-dilution provision. Further, upon election of 51% of the Preferred 
stockholders, all Preferred stock would be converted to common stock. As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, there is no 
additional value attributable to the anti-dilution provision upon exercise of this conversion right.  

Common Stock 

The Company is authorized to issue 19,000,000 shares of Common stock of which 2,399,998 are issued and outstanding. 

The transactions in preferred stock during 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

Number of 
shares Amount

Balance December 31, 2019 15,167,149 9,394,405

Balance December 31, 2020 15,167,149 9,394,405

The transactions in common stock during 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 

Number of 
shares Amount

Balance December 31, 2019 2,399,998 2,183,108

Balance December 31, 2020 2,399,998 2,183,108

Warrants 

The Company has 432,853 warrants outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2020 and 2019.  The warrants were issued 
to certain investors in 2018 with an aggregate fair value of $1,102.  The warrants have an exercise price of $0.01 and expire 
in 2027. 

A summary of the status of the warrants and changes during 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 

Warrants 
Outstanding 

and 
exercisable

Weighted-
Average 

Exercise Price 

Weighted- 
Average 

remaining life 
(Years)

Balance, December 31, 2019 432,853 $0.01 8

Balance, December 31, 2020 432,853 $0.01 7
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Note 14. Loss per Share 

Loss per share is based on consolidated comprehensive loss for the year divided by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is computed in accordance with the treasury stock 
method and based on the weighted average number of shares and dilutive share equivalents. 

2020 2019 

Net loss $ (937,819) $ (2,093,504)

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding 2,399,998 2,399,998

Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.39) $ (0.87)

Anti-dilutive shares outstanding at December 31 are as follows: 

2020 2019 

Preferred shares 15,167,149 15,167,149

Convertible promissory notes 2,173,790 1,410,354

Warrants 432,853 432,853

17,773,792 17,010,356

Note 15. Related party transactions 

Transactions with related parties by means of common management and ownership include interest expenses of $70,328 
and $22,408 during 2020 and 2019 pursuant to convertible promissory notes aggregating $1.1 million and $650,000 at 
December 31,2020 and 2019, respectively, as well as equipment lease payable of $nil and $117,000 at December 31, 2020, 
and 2019, respectively 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel (“KMP”) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. KMP consists of officers and directors.  

Aggregate compensation of KMP during the year consisted of: 

2020 2019 

Salary and short-term benefits $   294,822 $   385,372

Note 16. Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet 
financial obligations and continue as a going concern and to deploy capital to provide future investment return to its 
shareholders. 

The Company sets the amount and type of capital required relative to its assessment of risk and makes adjustments when 
necessary, to respond to changes to economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, and externally 
imposed capital requirements. In order to maintain or modify its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, 
seek other forms of financing, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company manages the following as capital: 

2020 2019 

Share Capital $ 11,577,513 $ 11,577,513

Convertible promissory notes 
and derivatives liabilities

3,323,642 2,189,097 

Note payable 500,000 -

There have been no changes in the Company’s capital management objectives, policies and processes during the year.  
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Note 17. Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in 
active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices, without any deduction for 
transaction costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate 
valuation techniques that are recognized by market participants. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s-length 
market transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis, or other valuation models. Due to their short-term nature, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, trade and other payables represent an approximate fair value. The convertible note payable is valued using the 
effective interest method. 

These inputs are prioritized below: 

Level 1:    Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2:    Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. 

Level 3:    Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the use of the reporting entity’s 
own assumptions. 

The following tables present the carrying values and estimated fair values at December 31, 2020 and 2019 of financial 

assets and liabilities: 

December 31, 2020 

Carrying Total estimated

value
Level 

1 Level2
Level  

3 fair value

Liabilities
Convertible notes 
payable 3,051,048 - - 3,323,642 3,323,642

December 31, 2019 

Carrying
Total 

estimated

value
Level 

1
Level 

2
Level  

3 fair value

Liabilities
Convertible notes 
payable 2,100,000 - - 2,189,097 2,189,097

Risk management policy

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risk that arises from a number of sources. 
Management’s involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from expectations. As a part of the overall 
operation of the Company, Management takes steps to avoid undue concentrations of risk. The Company manages the 
risks, as follows: 
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Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
its obligation. Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and trade and other 
receivables. The credit risk relating to cash balances is limited because the counterparties are large commercial banks in the 
United States.  The amounts reported for trade and other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial position are 
net of allowances for credit losses and bad debts and the net carrying value represents the Company’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk.  

Trade and other receivables (Note 3) credit exposure is minimized by entering into transactions with creditworthy 
counterparties and monitoring the age and balances outstanding on an ongoing basis. Most of the Company’s credit exposures 
are with counterparties in the retail and food distribution technology industries and are subject to normal industry credit risk. 
Payment terms with customers are generally 30 days from invoice date.   

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
generally relies on funds generated from debt and equity financing to provide sufficient liquidity to meet budgeted operating 
requirements.   

The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is represented by the carrying amount of accounts payable and accruals and lease 
liabilities. 

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company's financial liabilities:

Less than 
one year 

2-5 years Thereafter Total 

Trade and other payables $ 1,047,178 $ - $ - $ 1,047,178

Note payable - 24,473 475,527 500,000

Lease liability 503,982 1,630,687 7,337 2,146,006

Convertible notes payable 3,051,408 - - 3,051,408

Interest rate risk 

The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as there are no investments of excess cash in short-term money market 
investments and/or indebtedness at variable rates of interest.   

Note 18.  Selling, general and administration expenses 

The nature of selling, general administration expense are as follows: 

2020 2019 

Compensation and benefits $ 1,043,251 $ 1,484,091 

Depreciation and amortization 670,519 635,120 

Professional fee and other 651,376 751,823 

$ 2,365,146 $ 2,871,034 

Note 19.  Interest expense 

Interest expense attributable to the respective financial instrument is as follows: 

2020 2019 

Convertible notes payable $ 169,985 $ 84,778 

Lease liabilities 85,253 104,747 

$ 255,238 $ 189,525 



24 

Note 20.  Subsequent Events  

On March 31, 2021, the Company signed an agreement to acquire the assets of Healthful Habits LLC (“Healthful Habits”) a 
snack bar company located in West Chicago, Illinois for approximately $800,000 plus or minus various adjustments to 
working capital. The Company made a $250,000 payment with the remainder of the purchase to be closed in the third quarter. 

On May 6, 2021, the Company entered into a Letter of Intent (“LOI”) to merge into 1181718 B.C. Ltd. (“Issuer”). Under the 
terms of the LOI the Company would receive 36,000,000 shares in the Issuer. Concurrently, the Issuer would undertake a 
financing to raise $8,000,000 through the issuance of Subscription receipts. It is anticipated the merged company would file 
a non-offering prospectus and list on the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

On August 3, 2021, the Company closed on the acquisition of the assets of Healthful Habits. The total consideration paid for 
the assets consisted of $392,088 in cash, the issuance of $423,536 in convertible notes to be converted ultimately into shares 
of the Issuer at $1 per share, and the pay-off of $141,157 of equipment leases. 

As of August 6, 2021 the Company had raised $948,591 through the issuance of convertible notes under the same terms of 
the outstanding convertible notes in 2020. 
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of financial position 

(United States dollars) 

Notes June 30, 2021 December 31, 2020 

(Unaudited)   (Audited) 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 507,126  323,056  

Trade and other receivables 3 944,791  770,469  

Prepayments 199,639  222,299  

Inventories 4 729,905  573,689  

Deposit on acquisition  17 250,000    -  

Current assets 2,631,461    1,889,513  

Property and equipment 5 3,917,912  3,881,591  

Intangible assets 64,643    68,239  

Non-current assets 3,982,555    3,949,830  

Total assets 6,614,016    5,839,343  

LIABILITIES 

Trade and other payables 6 1,313,108  1,047,178  

Lease liabilities 7 522,996  441,592  

Convertible notes payable 9 5,144,588    3,323,642  

Current liabilities                    6,980,692    4,812,412  

Lease liabilities 7                  1,483,679  1,524,315  

Note payable 8                      500,000    500,000  

Non-current liabilities                     1,983,679    2,024,315  

Total liabilities                     8,964,371    6,836,727  

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIENCY) 

Share capital                 11,577,513                  11,577,513 

Accumulated deficit (13,927,868)    (12,574,897)

Total equity (deficiency) (2,350,355)                       (997,384)

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity                   6,614,016                      5,839,343 

Going Concern-Note 1 

Subsequent events-Note 17 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements 

Approved by the Board of Directors: 

Signed “Nathan Laurell”

Director & CEO  
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss 

United States dollars 

Notes 

Three 
Months 
Ended 

June 30, 
2021 

Three 
Months 
Ended 

June 30, 
2020 

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30, 
2021 

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30, 
2020 

(Unaudited)   (Unaudited)   (Unaudited)   (Unaudited) 

Revenues 3,231,431 2,019,197  6,095,630  3,949,682  

Cost of revenues 2,600,092   1,520,711    4,854,685    3,157,638  

Gross profit 631,339 498,486  1,240,945 792,044  

Operating expenses 

Distribution costs  63,449  29,695  150,241  58,681 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses  15 816,014 442,465    1,437,476    1,051,701  

Operating loss (248,124) 26,326  (346,772)    (318,338) 

Interest expense  16 (66,233) (55,681) (145,165) (116,676) 

Change in fair value of convertible notes 
payable 

   9 (861,034) - (861,034) - 

Net loss and comprehensive loss (1,175,391)   (29,355)   (1,352,971)   (435,014) 

Earnings per share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share  11  (0.49) (0.01) (0.56) (0.18) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements 
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Interim condensed consolidated statement of cash flows 

(United States dollars) 

Notes 

Six month 
period ended 

June 30, 
2021 

Six month 
period ended 

June 30, 
2020 

  (Unaudited)   (Unaudited) 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 

Net loss  (1,352,971) (435,014) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 5 337,200  333,084  

Interest paid  35,253 33,049  

Change in fair value of convertible notes payable 9 861,034  - 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Trade and other receivables      (174,322) (417,822) 

Inventories      (156,216) (110,713) 

Prepayments  22,660  8,536  

Trade and other payables 265,930  527,225  

Accrued interest 109,912    83,627  

NET CASH (USED IN) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (51,520)   21,972  

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 

Purchase of property and equipment (86,413) (155,485) 

Purchase of intangible assets - (49,538) 

Deposit on acquisition 17 (250,000) - 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (336,413)   (205,023) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 

Payment lease liabilities (242,744) (304,508) 

Proceeds from issuance of note payable 8 - 500,000  

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable 9       850,000  789,821  

Interest paid         (35,253) (33,049) 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES          572,003   952,264  

NET CHANGE IN CASH (including restricted cash)          184,070 769,213 

CASH - BEGINNING OF PERIOD          323,056 205,563 

CASH - END OF PERIOD          507,126 974,776 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements 
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

 Interim condensed consolidated statement of changes in equity  

United States dollars 

Notes 
Preferred 

Shares 
Common 

Shares 
Accumulated 

Deficit 
Total 

Balance at January 1, 2020 9,394,405 2,183,108 (11,637,078) (59,565) 

Net loss - - (435,014) (435,014) 

Balance at June 30, 2020 9,394,405 2,183,108 (12,072,092) (494,579) 

Balance at January 1, 2021 9,394,405 2,183,108 (12,574,897) (997,384) 

Net loss - - (1,352,971) (1,352,971) 

Balance at June 30, 2021 9,394,405 2,183,108 (13,927,868) (2,350,355) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements 
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The Fresh Factory, PBC 

Notes to interim condensed consolidated financial statements 

For the six months ended June 30, 2021 

Unaudited 

United States dollars 

Note 1. Business Description and Basis of Presentation 

The Here Foods, PBC was formed as a public benefit corporation on December 14, 2017 in the State of Delaware.  On March 
9, 2020 Here Foods, PBC was renamed to The Fresh Factory, PBC (the “Company”) to reflect the Company's emphasis on 
fresh food. The Company manufactures and distributes food and beverage products through retailers and other distributors in 
the continental United States.  The Company’s operations are located in Carol Stream, Illinois.  The Company’s operations 
are primarily regulated by the US Food and Drug Administration. 

Statement of compliance 

These interim condensed consolidated financial statements (“ Consolidated Financial Statements”) have been prepared in 

accordance  with  International  Accounting  Standards  (“IAS”)  34,  Interim  Financial  Reporting,  and  have  been  prepared 

following the same accounting policies as those used in the most recent annual financial statements. These Interim Financial 

Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for financial instruments which are recognized at fair 

value.  These  Interim  Financial  Statements  do  not  include  disclosures  required  for  the  preparation  of  annual  financial 

statements. Accordingly, these Interim Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with the 2020 annual audited 

financial statements. 

The  accompanying  interm  condensed  consolidated  financial  statements  include  the  accounts  of  five  wholly  owned 
subsidiaries; 87P LLC, MadeHere LLC, Element Creations LLC, The Clean Factory LLC, Healthy Bars LLC. All inter-company 
transactions are eliminated. 

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on October 31, 2021.  

Basis of measurement 

These  consolidated  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  on  the  historical  cost  basis  except  for  certain  financial 
instruments  and  equity  instruments,  such  as  convertible  notes  that  have  been  measured  at  fair  value  at  the  initial 
measurement date. 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries which are consolidated from 
the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Company obtained control, and continue to be consolidated until the date 
that such control ceases. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent, 
using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated in full upon consolidation. 
These consolidated financial statements are presented in US dollars, which is the Company’s and subsidiaries functional 
currency.   

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies applicable to a going concern, 
which assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. The Company incurred a net loss of $1,352,971 for the six month 
period ended June 30, 201 (6 months period ended June 30,2020 - $435,014) and negative cash flows from operating activities 
for the six months ended June 30, 2021. As at June 30, 2021, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $13.9 million 
(December 31, 2020 deficit of $12.6M) and negative working capital of $4,349,231 (December 31, 2020 - $2,922,899).    

In order to continue as a going concern, the Company must generate sufficient income and cash flows to repay its obligations, 
finance working capital and fund capital investments. The future of the Company is dependent on its ability to attain profitable 
operations, generate sufficient funds from operations and obtaining new financing. There is no certainty that the Company will 
raise these necessary funds from financing or operations. As a result of these factors, there are material uncertainties relating 
to events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  



6 

Management is of the opinion that in the future, sufficient working capital can be obtained from external financing and operating 
cash flow to settle the Company’s liabilities and commitments as they become due, although there is a risk that funding will 
not be available on a timely basis or on terms acceptable to the Company. Specifically, the Company intends to fund operations 
through the issuance of convertible notes at the same terms as previously issued. In addition, the Company intends to pursue 
an RTO transaction and publicly list on the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the going concern basis was 
not appropriate. Consequently, adjustments would then be necessary to the carrying value of assets and liabilities, the 
expenses and the statement of financial position classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 

Impact of COVID-19 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting measures adopted by governments, businesses and citizens to 
mitigate its spread have thus far had a limited negative impact on the Company. While these measures required the Company 
to shut down its manufacturing operations for one week during May 2020, the Company has since been able to secure 
adequate supplies of raw materials, maintain its workforce and benefited from increased demand for its products and services. 

Use of estimates, assumptions and judgments 

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make 

judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting  policies and the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these consolidated financial statements and 

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the period reported. Although these estimates are based on 

management’s best knowledge of amounts, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates, assumptions and judgments are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized 

in the period in which the estimates are revised as future confirming events occur. There are no new accounting estimates 

and judgments for the six month period ended June 30, 2021 other than those previously disclosed in the annual financial 

statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. 

Note 2. Significant accounting policies 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared, for all period presented, following the same accounting policies 

and methods of computation as the annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020.  

Note 3. Trade and other receivables 

Accounts receivable consists of the following as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Accounts receivable 1,093,931 869,815 

Expected credit loss (149,140)   (99,346) 

944,791 770,469 

The aging of the trade accounts receivable where the Company bears customer credit risk was as follows: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Current 829,308 641,955 

1-30 days 95,379 95,591 

31-60 days 74,116 60,125 

61-90 days 12,317 26,864 

over 90 days 82,811   45,280 

1,093,931   869,815 

The Company's accounts receivable are primarily due from retailers, generally located in the United States. Two of the 
Company’s customers accounted for more than 20% and 23% of its trade receivable at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 
2020, respectively.  The Company does not require any significant collateral from its customers. 

None of the Company’s customers accounted for more than 10% of its revenues during the six-month period ended June 30, 
2021 and 2020. 
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Note 4.  Inventories

Inventories at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 are as follows: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Raw materials 537,255 208,016 

In Process 75,502 111,658 

Finished Goods 117,148 254,015 

729,905 573,689 

The Company expensed $573,689 and $468,939 of inventory during the six month period ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, which is included in cost of sales.  There was no inventory written down during the six-month period ended 
June 30, 2021 and 2020.   

Note 5. Property and equipment 

Property and equipment consist of the following as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020: 

Cost 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
  Furniture   

Right-of-use 
assets 

Total 

Balance, December 31, 2020 2,921,958 197,218 23,191 2,350,877 5,493,244 

Additions 48,975 37,708 3,357 283,481   373,521 

Balance, June 30, 2021 2,970,933 234,926 26,548 2,634,358   5,866,765 

Accumulated depreciation 
& amortization 

Machinery and 
equipment 

Leasehold 
improvements 

  Furniture   
Right-of-use 

assets 
Total 

Balance, December 31, 2020 763,891 184,852 11,309 651,601 1,611,653 

Depreciation & amortization 149,711 3,227 1,740 182,522   337,200 

Balance, June 30, 2021 913,602 188,079 13,049 834,123   1,948,853 

Net Book Value 
Machinery and 

equipment 
Leasehold 

improvements 
  Furniture   

Right-of-use 
assets 

Total 

December 31, 2020 2,158,067 12,366 11,882 1,699,276 3,881,591 

June 30, 2021 2,057,331 46,847 13,499 1,800,235 3,917,912 
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Note 6. Trade and other payables  

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of following as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Trade payables 1,158,107 876,789 

Customer deposits 108,394 126,925 

Compensation payable 46,607 43,464 

1,313,108 1,047,178 

Note 7. Lease liabilities 

The Company leases office and manufacturing space and certain equipment under various leases.    The Company recognized 
lease expense over the term of the lease using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of 3.5%, excluding renewal periods, 
unless renewal of the lease is reasonably assured. In addition, the Company pays for taxes, insurance, maintenance and 
other operating expenses which are expensed as incurred.  

The Company entered into a new lease agreement in May 2021 for additional warehouse and manufacturing space. A right 
of use asset and corresponding lease liability of $283,481 using an incremental borrowing rates of 2.42% was recorded during 
the quarter ended June 30, 2021.  The four-year lease is for the period of May 2021 to September 2024. 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows of lease liabilities as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020, were 
as follows: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Less than one year 585,009 503,982 

One to five years 1,601,188 1,630,687 

More than five years 3,669 7,337 

Undiscounted liabilities 2,189,866 2,142,006 

Lease liabilities included in statement of 
financial position 

2,006,675 1,965,907 

Current 522,996 441,592 

Non-current 1,483,679 1,524,315 

Total payments-leases 242,744 694,119 

Note 8.  Note payable 

The Company has a note payable outstanding issued to the US Small Business Administration (“SBA”) which amounted to 
$500,000, plus accrued interest as of December 31, 2020.  The note bears interest at a rate of 3.75%.  The note matures in 
June 2050. The note is secured by substantially all assets of the Company.  Monthly principal and interest payments of $2,334 
are deferred until May 2022. 

The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 

2021 - 

2022 5,321 

2023 9,397 

2024 9,755 

2025 and thereafter 475,527 
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Note 9.  Convertible notes payable 

Convertible notes payable consist of the following at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Convertible note payable 4,774,636 3,063,602 

Accrued interest 369,952 260,040 

5,144,588 3,323,642 

The convertible notes payable bear interest of 6%, are unsecured and mature in November 2021. The convertible notes 
payable will convert to Company’s most senior class of equity upon either a Trigger Financing or at maturity. If a Trigger 
Financing, whereby the Company raises greater than $5 million gross cash proceeds through the sale of equity securities, the 
convertible notes payable will convert into securities at the lesser of (i) 80% of the price paid by investors; or (ii) $36,000,000. 
If at maturity, the convertible notes payable will convert into securities based on a $27,000,000 pre-money valuation of the 
Company on a fully diluted basis with respect to all outstanding equity securities at such time. 

A summary of the convertible notes payable activity during the six-month period ended June 30, 2021 and December 31, 
2020 is as follows: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Balance, beginning of year 3,323,642 2,189,097 

Proceeds from issuance 850,000 951,450 

Accrued interest 109,912 169,985 

Change in fair value 861,034 13,110 

5,144,588 3,323,642 

The Company accounts for its convertible notes payable at fair value.  At each measurement date, the fair value of its 
convertible note payable is based on the FINCAD model which implements the Tsiveriotis and Fernandes models using the 
following assumptions: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Discount rate  19.44% 18.34% 

Share price $1.28 $1.33 

Volatility 80.82% 114.4% -139.2% 

Risk-free interest 0.05% 0.07% - 0.10% 

Initial terms 24 months 24 months 

Expected dividend rate 0% 0% 

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of comparable public companies. 

Note 10.  Governmental Assistance 

The Company received $455,000 in governmental assistance, primarily under the Paycheck Protection Program, during 2020. 
The proceeds were used to fund covered compensation during 2020.  The United States Small Business Administration 
forgave the loan in June 2021.  The Company recorded this governmental assistance over the period during which they were 
incurred, as a reduction of cost of revenues and sales, general, and administrative expenses. 
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Note 11.  Loss per Share 

Loss per share is based on consolidated comprehensive loss for the year divided by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per share is computed in accordance with the treasury stock method and 
based on the weighted average number of shares and dilutive share equivalents. 

Three Months 
Ended June 

30, 2021 

Three Months 
Ended June 

30, 2020 

Six Months 
Ended June 

30, 2021 

Six Months 
Ended June 

30, 2020 

Net loss (1,175,391) (29,355) (1,352,971) (435,014) 

Basic and diluted weighted 
average shares outstanding 

      2,399,998       2,399,998      2,399,998    2,399,998  

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.49) (0.01) (0.56) (0.18) 

Antidilutive shares outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 

June 30, 2021   June 30, 2020 

Preferred shares 15,167,149 15,167,149 

Convertible notes payable 2,600,995 1,926,572 

Warrants 432,853 432,853 

18,200,997 17,526,574 

Note 12. Related party transactions 

Transactions with related parties by means of common management and ownership include interest expenses of $70,328 and 
$22,408 during the six – month period ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, pursuant to convertible promissory notes 
aggregating $1.85 million and $1.10 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. 

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel (“KMP”) are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. KMP consists of officers and directors.  

Aggregate compensation of KMP during the six-month period consisted of: 

June 30, 2021   June 30, 2020 

Salaries and short-term benefits 197,396 148,244 

Note 13. Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain financial flexibility in order to preserve its ability to meet 
financial obligations and continue as a going concern and to deploy capital to provide future investment return to its 
shareholders. 

The Company sets the amount and type of capital required relative to its assessment of risk and makes adjustments when 
necessary, to respond to changes to economic conditions, the risk characteristics of the underlying assets, and externally 
imposed capital requirements. In order to maintain or modify its capital structure, the Company may issue new shares, seek 
other forms of financing, or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company manages the following as capital: 

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

Share capital 11,577,513 11,577,513 

Convertible notes payable and derivative 
liabilities 

5,144,588 3,323,642 

Note payable 500,000 500,000 

There have been no changes in the Company’s capital management objectives, policies and processes during the period.  
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Note 14. Fair value of financial instruments 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date (i.e., an exit price). The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active 
markets at each reporting date is determined by reference to quoted market prices, without any deduction for transaction 
costs. For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation 
techniques that are recognized by market participants. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s-length market 
transactions, reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, or other valuation models. Due to their short-term nature, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, 
trade and other payables represent an approximate fair value. The convertible note payable is valued using the effective 
interest method. 

These inputs are prioritized below: 

Level 1:    Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2:    Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. 

Level 3:    Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the use of the reporting entity’s own 
assumptions. 

The following tables present the carrying values and estimated fair values at June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 of 
financial assets and liabilities: 

June 30, 2021 Carrying value   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   
Total estimated 

fair value 

Convertible notes payable 4,283,554                  -
-

5,144,588 5,144,588 

Note payable 500,000 500,000 
- -

500,000 

December 31, 2020 Carrying value   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   
Total estimated 

fair value 

Convertible notes payable 3,310,532                  -
-

3,323,642 3,323,642 

Note payable 500,000 500,000 
- -

500,000 

Risk management policy 

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risk that arises from a number of sources. 
Management’s involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from expectations. As a part of the overall 
operation of the Company, Management takes steps to avoid undue concentrations of risk. The Company manages the risks, 
as follows: 

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
its obligation. Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash and trade and other 
receivables. The credit risk relating to cash balances is limited because the counterparties are large commercial banks in the 
United States.  The amounts reported for trade and other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial position are 
net of allowances for credit losses and bad debts and the net carrying value represents the Company’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk.  

Trade and other receivables (Note 3) credit exposure is minimized by entering into transactions with creditworthy 
counterparties and monitoring the age and balances outstanding on an ongoing basis. Most of the Company’s credit exposures 
are with counterparties in the retail and food distribution technology industries and are subject to normal industry credit risk. 
Payment terms with customers are generally 30 days from invoice date.   

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
generally relies on funds generated from debt and equity financing to provide sufficient liquidity to meet budgeted operating 
requirements.   

The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is represented by the carrying amount of accounts payable and accruals and lease 
liabilities. 
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The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company's financial liabilities as at June 30, 2021: 

Less than one year 2-5 years Thereafter Total 

Trade and other payables 1,313,108 - - 1,313,108 

Note payable - 24,473 475,527 500,000 

Lease liability 522,996 1,483,679 - 2,006,675 

Convertible notes payable 3,310,532 - - 3,310,532 

Interest rate risk 

The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as there are no investments of excess cash in short-term money market 
investments and/or indebtedness at variable rates of interest.   

Note 15.  Selling, general and administration expenses 

The nature of selling, general administration expense are as follows for the following six-month periods: 

June 30, 2021   June 30, 2020 

Compensation and benefits 649,222 606,174 

Depreciation and amortization 337,200 333,084 

Professional fees and other 451,054 112,443 

1,437,476 1,051,701 

Note 16.  Interest expense 

The company’s corresponding interest expense is associated with the respective obligation during the following six-month 
periods: 

June 30, 2021   June 30, 2020 

Convertible notes payable 109,912 $ 83,627 

Lease liabilities 35,253 33,049 

145,165 $ 116,676 

Note 17.  Subsequent Events  

On August 2, 2021, the Company’s CEO, made a loan to the Company of $300,000.  The loan has a term of 90 days and an 
interest rate of 8%.  

On August 3, 2021, the Company closed on the acquisition of the assets of Healthful Habits. The total consideration paid for 
the assets consisted of $392,088 in cash, including the $250,000 deposit paid during the period, the issuance of $423,536 in 
convertible notes to be converted ultimately into shares of the Issuer at $1 per share, and the pay-off of $141,157 of equipment 
leases. 

As of August 6, 2021, the Company had raised $98,052 through the issuance of convertible notes under the same terms of 
the outstanding convertible notes in 2020. 
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The following management discussion and analysis (the “MD&A”), prepared as of [ * ] should be read 
together with the audited condensed consolidated financial statements for the twelve months ended 
December 31, 2020 and related notes attached thereto (the “Financial Statements”). These 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  
 
All amounts are stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated.  
 
 

Forward Looking Statements 

Certain information included in this discussion may constitute forward-looking statements. Readers 
are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These statements relate to 
future events or the Company’s future performance, business prospects or opportunities. All 
statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", 
"anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "predict", "potential", 
"targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions. The Company has 
based these forward-looking statements on its current expectations and projections about future 
events and financial trends that it believes might affect its financial condition, results of operations, 
business strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, among 
other things, statements relating to:  

● the Company’s intention to complete the listing of its common shares on the Canadian Stock 
Exchange “CSE” (the “IPO”); 

● the conversion of the IPO subscription receipts and the release of escrowed funds to the 
Company; 

● business objectives and milestones; and 
● adequacy of financial resources. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on a number of material factors and assumptions, 
including, but not limited in any manner to, those disclosed elsewhere herein and any other of the 
Company’s public filings, and include the availability and final receipt of required approvals, licenses 
and permits, sufficient working capital to develop the business, access to adequate services and 
supplies, economic conditions,, interest rates, access to equity and debt markets and associated 
costs of funds, availability of a qualified workforce, that the Company is able to procure equipment 
and supplies in sufficient quantities and on a timely basis, and that the Company maintains its 
ongoing relations with its business partners in compliance with applicable government rules and 
regulations. While the Company considers these material factors and assumptions to be reasonable 
based on information currently available to it, they may prove to be incorrect. Actual results may vary 
from such forward-looking information for a variety of reasons. 
Investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as the plans, intentions or 
expectations upon which they are based might not occur. The Company cautions that the foregoing 
list of important factors is not exhaustive. Investors and others who base themselves on the 
Company's forward-looking statements should carefully consider the above factors as well as the 
uncertainties they represent and the risk they entail. The forward-looking statements contained in this 
report are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 

 
Description of Business  
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The Fresh Factory PBC (the “Company” or “The Fresh Factory”) is primarily a manufacturer and 
distributor of fresh and plant-based food and beverage products. The Company operates from its 
manufacturing facility located in Carol Stream, Illinois, US. Being centrally located, the facility 
services customers across the continental US. The Company works with emerging brands in the 
fresh and plant-based food and beverage space to develop, formulate, manufacture, and distribute 
their products. In addition, the Company owns two brands: Field + Farmer which sells plant-based 
dressings, dips, and beverages and Element Pressed which sells cold-pressed juices. 
 
The Company’s head office address is at 238 Tubeway Ave, Carol Stream, Illinois, 60188. The 
registered and records office address is at 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, Delaware, US. 
 
As of December 31, 2020, the Company held 100% equity interest in the following wholly owned 
subsidiaries: 
  

● 87P LLC doing business as “Fresh Factory Manufacturing” 
● Made Here LLC doing business as “Field + Farmer” 
● Element Creations LLC doing business as “Element Pressed” 
● The Clean Factory LLC 

 
 

Corporate Reorganizations 
 
Formation and organization of Company 
The Company was formed on December 14, 2017 as Here Foods, PBC. At the time of formation the 
Company had three fully owned subsidiaries: 87P LLC, Made Here LLC, and Element Creations 
LLC.  
 
Change of name 
On March 9, 2020 Here Foods, PBC was renamed to The Fresh Factory, PBC to reflect the 
Company's emphasis on fresh food.  
 
Creation of wholly owned sub 
On April 30, 2020 the Company formed The Clean Factory LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company, 
as a wholly owned sub in order to sell bottled sanitizer products during the COVID-19 pandemic. 
 
 

Overview of The Fresh Factory 
The Company operates as a vertically integrated fresh and plant-based food and beverage 
Company. The goal of the Company is to help enable and accelerate the growth of fresh and plant-
based food and beverage brands. The Company works with a number of customers across various 
selling channels including direct-to-consumer, retail, and restaurants. The Company’s operating 
teams offer a variety of services including: 
 

● Innovation: The Company employs a team of food scientists that provide formulation, 
product development, costing, and food safety advice on the development of food and 
beverage products.  
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● Supply Chain: The Company employs a supply chain team that sources ingredients, 
packaging, and fresh produce from a network of farmers and distributors around the country.  
 

● Manufacturing: The Company operates a 36,158 square foot manufacturing facility located 
in Carol Stream, Illinois. The Company runs various production lines producing food and 
beverage products on a daily basis. 
 

● Distribution: The Company works with a network of distributors, trucking companies, and 
freight providers to distribute products. In addition, the Company offers pick, pack, and ship 
services for eCommerce. 
 

● Brands: The Company owns two brands: Field + Farmer which makes plant-based dips, 
dressings, and beverages and Element Pressed which makes cold-pressed juices. 

 
 
The Company produces a variety of different products including:  
 

● Cold-Pressed Juice: The Company presses fruits and vegetables into juice and then bottles 
cold-pressed juice for several companies and for its own brand.  
 

● Other Beverages: The Company manufactures beverages including cold-brew teas, shakes 
and smoothies, and non-alcoholic specialty beverages for several companies.  
 

● Dips and Spreads: The Company manufactures various dips and spreads for several 
companies and for its own brand. 
 

● Dressings and Sauces: The Company manufactures various dressings and sauces for 
several companies and for its own brand.  
 

● Soups: The Company manufactures various soups for several companies.  
 
 
The Company has multiple production lines allowing to manufacture and package: 
 

● Bottling Lines: The Company has various bottling lines that allow it to produce cold-pressed 
juice and other bottled products. The Company can fill both plastic and glass containers.  
 

● Cup Line: The Company has various filling capabilities for the production of dips and spreads 
that are filled in cups including both hot-fill and cold-fill capabilities.  

 
 
The Company’s model of being vertically integrated and offering a variety of services offers the 
following benefits: 
 

● Lower cost: As a vertically integrated manufacturer of food and beverage products the 
Company's brands do not have to employ co-manufacturing partners. Additionally, the 
Company can source produce, packaging, and other inputs in bulk lowering their input costs.  
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● Flexibility: The Company’s ability to produce a variety of products allows it to sell multiple 

product lines to its customers. Additionally, it allows the Company to provide services to a 
wide variety of emerging food and beverage brands.  
 

● Speed: The Company’s in-house innovation team allows for the development of products in 
an accelerated timeline as they provide benchtop samples, food safety recommendations, 
and are able to conduct trials with potential customers all before launching.  

 
 

Business Highlights  
 

● In January of 2020, the Company launched Element Pressed, a cold-pressed juice brand, 
with Whole Foods Midwest region. The Company previously managed the products as a 
private-label account. In the first full year of operations the brand achieved 35% year over 
year growth vs. the private label program.  
  

● In February 2020, the Company successfully completed the annual GFCO- gluten free audit.  
 

● On February 20, 2020, the Company passed it’s USDA Organic Certification audit for the 4th 
straight year.  
 

● In March of 2020, the Company implemented a number of changes related to the COVID-19 
pandemic including mandatory mask requirements, temperature checks for all employees, 
work from home for all non-manufacturing employees, and stopped all travel and site visits to 
the facility. 
 

● In April of 2020, the Company saw a significant reduction in customers ordering from 24 to 13 
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Despite this, revenues were down only 2.2% vs. April 
2019 as lost revenue from restaurant customers was offset by direct-to-consumer brands and 
retail customers. 
 

● In April of 2020, the Company cut discretionary spending including a reduction of in store 
demos, merchandising, and various sales and marketing programs in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 
 

● In April of 2020, the Company expanded its FDA license to include bottling hand sanitizer and 
began bottling hand sanitizer for the local Chicago market to help support companies and 
address a shortage of supply. 

 
● On April 17, 2020, the Company received a $455,400 Paycheck Protection Program “PPP” 

loan as part of the COVID-19 relief efforts in the US. Repayment of the loan was 
subsequently waived.  
 

● In May of 2020, the Company passed it’s Annual SQF Manufacturing and Quality, formerly 
known as SQF Level III, audit for the 4th straight year achieving a score of 98. 
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● On May 29, 2020, the Company received a $500,000 Economic Impact Disaster Loan “EIDL” 
loan as part of the COVID-19 relief efforts in the US. The term of the loan is 30 years with an 
interest rate of 3.75% with interest deferral through May 29, 2021. 
 

● In June of 2020, the Company launched a line of soups with one of its direct-to-consumer 
customers which significantly expanded that relationship.  

 
● In June of 2020, the Company recorded record monthly revenues of $844,819 due to 

increased demand from direct-to-consumer customers and increased retail demand which 
grew during the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 

● In July of 2020, the Company recorded record revenues of $845,452 due to a continued 
increase in demand from direct-to-customers and increased retail demand which grew during 
the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 

● In July of 2020, the Company introduced new packaging for its Field + Farmer branded 
products. 

 
● In July of 2020, several products made at our facility were reconfirmed as NonGMO Project 

verified. 
 

● In July of 2020, the Company engaged Green Spoon, a leading broker to natural and 
conventional retailers, as the broker for the North California and Southwest regions for the 
Field + Farmer brand.  
 

● In October of 2020, the Company formalized its innovation team and appointed Mike Weglarz 
as SVP of Innovation and Commercialization. The team began outbound efforts to identify 
and work with emerging brands in the fresh and plant-based food and beverage space.  
 

● In July of 2020, The Company began shipping eCommerce orders through the Field + Farmer 
website for its own brand. In addition, the Company expanded its offering and allows for pick, 
pack, ship services to its clients.  
 

● On October 31, 2020 the Company amended and extended its lease at its Carol Stream 
facility through October 30, 2025. 
 

● On December 1, 2020 the Company successfully renewed their annual Kosher certification.  
 

● In 2020, The Company shipped 4.79M units from its facility representing a 23% YoY increase 
from the previous year. 
 

● In 2020, The Company continued its sustainability efforts by donating 100% of its production 
extras, composing 100% of its waste, purchasing 775,000 lbs of produce seconds, and by 
sourcing 39% of its ingredients for the Field + Farmer brand locally to its facility.  
 

● At year end 2020, The Company employed 51 full time employees 41% of which identify as 
women and 84% who identify as people of color.  
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● For the calendar year 2020 the Company produced 310 different products for 44 customers. 

 
● New products developed, commercialized or launched: HPP smoothies, private label 

wellness shots, soups, vegan pudding and desserts, vegan mayo, plant based salad 
dressings, vegan yogurt, vegan liquid egg substitute, pickle juice, e-commerce line of better 
for you rotating seasonal cold pressed juices, portion controlled organic salad dressing, and 
sanitizer.  

 
 

Overall Performance 
 

● The Company’s revenue for the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 (“Y2020”) was 

$8,269,620 compared to $6,849,237 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019 

(“Y2019”).  

 

● Net loss for Y2020 was $937,819, or $0.39 per common share compared to $2,093,504, or 

$0.87 per common share for Y2019. 

 

● As of December 31, 2020, the Company had total assets of $5,839,343 consisting of 

$1,889,513 of current assets and $3,949,830 of non-current assets compared to $3,887,356 

consisting of $1,242,215 of current assets and $2,645,141 of non-current assets as of 

December 31, 2019. 

 

● As of December 31, 2020, the Company had total liabilities of $6,836,727 consisting of 

$4,812,412 of current liabilities and $2,024,315 of non-current liabilities compared to 

$3,946,921 consisting of $1,998,837 of current liabilities and $1,948,084 of non-current 

liabilities as of December 31, 2019. 

 
Changes in revenue for the current period were driven by a rebalancing of customers primarily from 
quick service restaurants to direct-to-consumer brands. During the COVID-19 pandemic customer 
demands significantly shifted from quick service restaurants to direct-to-consumer brands, and to a 
lesser extent traditional retail grocery stores. The Company launched a number of new products with 
direct-to-consumer brands mid-year which allowed it to recover and ultimately increase total 
revenues from the previous year. 
 
Additionally, the Company made a number of decisions to reduce expenses related to sales and 
marketing and general administration. The Company pro-actively reduced its general administrative 
expenses in the spring and substantially reduced its in store sales and marketing expenses related to 
its Field + Farmer brand. The Company received a $445,400 Paycheck Protection Program “PPP” 
loan that offset approximately eight weeks of salaries, benefits, lease, and utility costs. 
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Key Performance Indicators  
Key performance indicators that the Company uses to manage its business and evaluate its financial 
results and operating performance include: revenue, gross margins, operating income, expenses, 
and net income (loss). The Company evaluates its performance on these metrics by comparing its 
actual results to management budgets and forecasts.  
 
 

Summary of Annual Results  
The table below summarizes selected audited financial data for the Company’s last two years  
 
       Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 
2019 

 

Total Revenue      $8,269,620   $6,849,237 

Cost of Revenues     $6,573,945   $5,865,032 

Gross Profit      $1,695,675   $984,205 

Gross Margin %     20.5%    14.4% 

 

Sales, General, and Administrative Expense  $2,365,146   $2,,871,034 

Interest Expense     $255,238   $189,525 

Change in Fair Value of Convertible Note Expense $13,110   $17,150 

Net Loss      $937,819   $2,093,504 

 

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share   $0.39    $0.87 

 

 

 

Non-IFRS Measures  
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are financial measures that do not have a standardized meaning 
under IFRS. EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock 
based compensation, and change in fair value of derivative liabilities.  
  
As there is no standardized method of calculating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, it may not be 
directly comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. The Company considers 
Adjusted EBITDA to be a relevant indicator for measuring trends in performance and its ability to 
generate funds to service its debt and to meet its future working capital and capital expenditure 
requirements. Neither EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA is a generally accepted earnings measure and 
should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income (loss), cash flows or other 
measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss:  
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       Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 
2019 

 
Loss for the period     ($937,819)   ($2,093,504) 

Interest expense     $255,238   $189,525 

Depreciation and amortization expense  $656,369   $632,608 

 

EBITDA      ($26,212)   ($1,271,371) 

Change in fair value of derivative liability  $13,110   $17,150 

 

Adjusted EBITDA     ($13,102)   ($1,254,221) 

 

  

Results of Operations  
 
Year ended December 31, 2020 (“Y2020”) compared with the year ended December 31, 2019 
(“Y2019) 
 
Net loss for Y2020 was $937,819 or $0.39 basic loss per share compared to $2,093,504 or $0.87 
basic loss per share in Y2019. The main reasons for the decrease was a reduction in general 
administrative and sales and marketing expenses as well as an increase in revenue for the current 
period.  
 
Significant differences between Y2020 and Y2019 results of operations are as follows:  
 
Revenues  
Revenues were $8,269,620 for Y2020 compared with $6,849,237 for Y2019. The increase in 
revenue was partially due to increased sales in the Company’s owned brands, the addition of new 
customers, and increased sales through existing customers specifically tied to growth of direct-to-
consumer brands during the COVID-19 pandemic which offset lost sales from restaurants during the 
same period.  
 

Year Ended   Year Ended 
December 31, 2020  December 31, 

2019 

 
Billed revenue      $8,641,130   $7,139,408 

Trade and variable selling expense   $285,982   $254,649 

Production credits and samples expense  $85,528   $35,520 
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 Revenues      $8,269,620   $6,849,237 

 
● Trade and variable selling costs were up $285,982 for Y2020 compared to $254,649 for 

Y2019. The primary driver of the increase was additional distribution of the Company’s Field 

+ Farmer brand.  

 

● Production credits and sample costs were $85,528 for Y2020 compared to $35,520 for 

Y2019. The primary driver was increased sales and manufacturing activity which drove higher 

samples and credits.  

 
 
Cost of Revenues 
Cost of revenues was $6,573,945 for Y2020 compared with $5,865,032 for Y2019. 
 
 
       Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 
2019 

 
Food, Packaging, and Labor    $5,625,093    $4,745,185 

Utilities      $100,396    $112,885 

Facilities and maintenance    $848,456    $1,006,962 

 

Cost of Revenues     $6,573,945     $5,865,032  

 
 

● Food, Packaging, and Labor costs were up $879,908 for Y2020 compared to Y2019.  The 

primary driver was an increase in production due to higher sales for the year.  

 

● Utility costs were down $12,489 for Y2020 compared to Y2019. The primary driver was eight 

weeks of covered expenses from the PPP loan which was ultimately forgiven which was 

partially offset by increased utility costs associated with higher levels of production throughout 

the year.  

 

● Facility and maintenance costs were down $158,506 for Y2020 compared to Y2019. The 

primary driver was eight weeks of covered expenses from the PPP loan which was ultimately 

forgiven which was partially offset by increased utility costs associated with higher levels of 

production throughout the year.  
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Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses  
Selling, general, and administrative expenses for Y2020 were $1,365,145 compared to $2,871,034 
for Y2019. The decrease in costs was primarily due to a reduction of sales and marketing expenses 
due to the inability to do in store product support during the COVID-19 pandemic and by cost cutting 
measures the Company took as a result of the uncertainties from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Additionally, eight weeks of covered expenses from the PPP loan, which was ultimately forgiven, led 
to expense reductions in a number of categories. 
 
 
       Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 
2019 

 
Sales and marketing     $439,097   $960,783 

Rent and utilities     $27,533   $24,858 

Salaries and benefits     $818,536   $933,250 

Other administrative     $423,610   $319,535 

 

Depreciation and amortization   $656,369   $632,608 

 

Total Sales, General and Administrative  $2,365,145   $2,871,034 

 
 

 

● Sales and marketing costs were $439,097 for Y2020 compared to $960,783 for Y2019. The 

primary driver was a reduction of marketing support for the Field + Farmer brand during the 

COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of in-store marketing support was suspended by retailers 

during the COVID-19 pandemic. Additional reductions were from eight weeks of covered 

expenses from the PPP loan which was ultimately forgiven. 

 

● Rent and utilities costs were $27,533 for Y2020 compared to $24,858 for Y2019. The change 

was in line with general annual cost increases. 

 

● Salary and benefit costs were $818,536 for Y2020 compared to $933,250 for Y2019. The 

primary reductions were from eight weeks of covered expenses from the PPP loan which was 

ultimately forgiven. 
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● Other administrative costs were $423,610 for Y2020 compared to $319,535 for Y2019. The 

primary increase came from an increase in the bad debt allowance. 

 

● Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment were up $23,761 for Y2020 

compared to Y2019. The increase was reflective of additional equipment put into service in 

2020.  The depreciation and amortization expenses include the amortization of the 

Company’s lease at its facility.   

 

 
Research and Development (“R&D”) Expenses  
The Company currently does not categorize or incur “R&D” expenses. 
 

Other Expenses  
Other expenses consisted of the following:  

 

       Year Ended   Year Ended 
December 31, 2020  December 31, 

2019 

 
Interest expense     $255,238   $189,525 

 

Other expenses     $255,238   $189,525 

 

● Interest expense was up $65,713 for Y2020 compared to Y2019. The primary driver of the 

increase was the issuance of additional convertible notes in Y2020 which accounted for 

$169,996 of the $255,238 of interest expense.  

 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 
The below table outlines the quarterly revenue and profit and loss for the trailing four periods. The 
increase in revenue through the third quarter was due to increased sales in the Company’s owned 
brands, the addition of new customers, and increased sales through existing customers specifically 
tied to growth of direct-to-consumer brands during the COVID-19 19 pandemic which offset lost sales 
from restaurants during the same period.  
 
The change in profitability in the second quarter vs. the other quarters is due to the realization of the 
PPP loan during that period which offset eight weeks of salaries, benefits, leases, and utilities of the 
Company.  
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The Company’s business does experience seasonality with the fourth quarter typically having less 
sales then the previous quarters on a normalized basis. The primary driver to seasonality is the 
decreased consumption in fresh food and cold-pressed juices during the winter and holiday months.  
 
In addition, data may vary quarter by quarter based on the receipt of purchase orders and delivery of 
product for the next month. For example, a sale in April may lead to a large delivery of product in 
March that would shift revenue from the second quarter to the first quarter.  
 
 
      Ended  Ended  Ended  Ended 

Mar 31  Jun 30  Sep 30  Dec 31  
2020  2020  2020  2020 

 
Total Revenue     $1,930,845 $2,019,196 $2,329,970 $1,989,609 

 
Profit and loss from continuing operations ($374,978) $153,791 ($397,555) ($319,075) 

Basic and Diluted  

Profit and (Loss) per Share   ($0.156) $0.064  ($0.166) ($0.133) 

 
Profit and loss from attributable to owners ($374,978) $153,791 ($397,555) ($319,075)  

Basic and Diluted  

Profit and (Loss) per Share   ($0.156) $0.064  ($0.166) ($0.133) 

 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
To date, the Company has financed its operations through private placements and internally 
generated cash flows from revenue.  
 
Recent Financings  
 

● The Company raised $951,450 through the issuance of convertible notes in Y2020 compared 

to $1,431,976 in Y2019.  

 
Cash 
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $323,056 consisting of $323,056 in cash 
compared with $205,563 of cash and restricted cash as of December 30, 2019. 
 
Cash Used in 
Cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $382,716 compared 
to $1,237,060 for the year ended December 31, 2019. The primary difference was a decrease in the 
net loss of operating activities of $1,155,685, a change in Trade receivables of $372,041, and a 
change in Trade and other payables of $143,246. The changes in receivables and payables was 
largely associated with increased sales over the course of the year and within expected variations.  
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Cash Used in Investing Activities  
Cash used in investing activities was $284,784 in Y2020, a decrease of $84,463 from Y2019. The 
investment activities included various upgrades to existing equipment and addition of ancillary 
equipment to support its operations.  
 
Cash Generated from Financing Activities  
Cash generated from financing activities during the year ending December 31, 2020 was $784,993 
consisting of $951,450 in convertible notes issued, $500,000 from the distribution of the SBA loan, 
$579,409 in lease and principal payments, and $87,048 in interest payments. Cash from financing 
activities was up $ $10,205 from the previous year as a reduction in the issuance of convertible notes 
was offset by the distribution of the SBA loan. 
 
Working Capital  
As at December 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $2,922,899 compared 
with $756,622 as of December 31, 2019. The short term liabilities consist of $3,323,642 in 
convertible notes as of December 31, 2020 and $510,170 as of December 31, 2019. Adjusting for the 
convertible notes, the Company had a working capital surplus of $400,743 as of December 31, 2020 
compared to a working capital deficit of $246,452 as of December 31, 2019.  
  

Liquidity Outlook  
The Company’s cash position varies based on the amount of capital raised via private placements, 
the amount capital invested and reinvested into the growth of the business by financing leasehold 
improvements or equipment at its facility. The Company continues to expand its manufacturing 
capabilities at its Carol Stream facility. These new capital investments are expected to positively 
impact the Company’s revenue and operating cash flow in future periods.  
 
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maximize returns for shareholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. In managing the Company’s capital structure, The 
Company’s management reviews monthly and quarterly financial information and provides regular 
reports to the board of directors.  
 
 

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. The Company incurred negative cash flows from operating activities during 2020 
and 2019. As at December 31, 2020, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $12.6 million.  
 
In order to continue as a going concern, the Company must generate sufficient income and cash 
flows to repay its obligations, finance working capital and fund capital investments. The future of the 
Company is dependent on its ability to attain profitable operations, generate sufficient funds from 
operations and obtain new financing. There is no certainty that the Company will raise these 
necessary funds from financing or operations. As a result of these factors, there is a material 
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uncertainty that may result in a significant doubt on the Company’s ability to meet its obligations as 
they come due and continue as a going concern.  
  
Management is of the opinion that in the future, sufficient working capital can be obtained from 
external financing and operating cash flow to settle the Company’s liabilities and commitments as 
they become due, although there is a risk that funding will not be available on a timely basis or on 
terms acceptable to the Company.  
 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the 
going concern basis was not appropriate. Consequently, adjustments would then be necessary to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities, the expenses and the statement of financial position 
classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 
 
Impact of COVID-19 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting measures adopted by governments, 
businesses and citizens to mitigate its spread have thus far had a limited negative impact on the 
Company. While these measures required the Company to shut down its manufacturing operations 
for one week during May 2020, the Company has since been able to secure adequate supplies of 
raw materials, maintain its workforce and benefited from increased demand for its products and 
services.  
 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 

 
Related Party Transactions  
As of December 31, 2020, and December 31, 2019 the Company’s related parties and key 
management personnel consists of the Company’s directors and executive officers.  
 

Name/Personal Corporation  Relationship  Nature of Transaction 

Nathan Laurell / New Frontier 
Holdings LLC 

CEO and Director  Management salaries 

Megan Klein SVP Brands, 
President, Director 

Management salaries 

Bill Besenhofer COO and 
President 

Management salaries 

Jeremy Schupp CFO Management salaries 
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Jeff Cantalupo Director  

Lindsay Levin Director  

 
 
Transactions with related parties by means of common management and ownership include interest 
expenses of $70,328 and $22,408 during 2020 and 2019 pursuant to convertible promissory notes 
aggregating $1.1 million and $650,000 at December 31,2020 and 2019, respectively, as well as 
equipment lease payable of $0 and $117,000 at December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively. 
 
Key management personnel (“KMP”) are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. KMP consists of 
officers and directors.  
 
Aggregate compensation of KMP during the year consisted of: 
 

       Year Ended   Year Ended 
December 31, 2020  December 31, 

2019 

 
Salary and short-term benefits   $294,822   $385,372 
 
 
As of December 31, 2020, Nathan Laurell, the firm’s CEO had personally guaranteed the EIDL small 
business administration loan that was distributed on May 29, 2020. The personal guarantee was a 
requirement of securing the loan.  
 
 

Proposed Transactions 

The Company does not have any proposed transactions as of December 31, 2020. 
 
  

Critical Accounting Estimates 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and 
estimates and used assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results will differ 
materially from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and 
future years. 
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Estimates 
Critical accounting estimates are those that require management to make assumptions about matters 
that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate or assumption is made. Critical accounting 
estimates are also those that could potentially have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
results where a different estimate or assumption is used. The significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty are: 
 
Expected credit losses 
The Company's trade and other receivables are typically short-term in nature. The Company 
recognizes an amount equal to the lifetime ECL based on a probability-weighted matrix. The 
Company measures loss allowance based on customer-specific factors, historical default rates and 
forecasted economic conditions. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances of 
forecast economic conditions.  
 
Revenue recognition 
Where the outcome of performance obligations for contracts can be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognized. The Company’s revenue is based on sales incentives provided to retailers and estimates 
of expected returns. The Company estimates sales incentives to be provided to retailers at each 
measurement date based on historical ratios and adjusts its revenues and accounts receivable 
accordingly. The Company continually reviews the contractual estimation process to consider and 
incorporate frequent changes in food distribution resulting from contract renegotiations and renewals. 
 
Leases 
Lease terms are based on assumptions regarding extension terms that allow for operational flexibility 
and future market conditions. The incremental borrowing rates are based on estimates including 
economic environment, term, currency, and the underlying risk inherent to the asset. The carrying 
balance of the right-of-use assets, lease liabilities, and the resulting interest expense and 
depreciation expense, may differ due to changes in the market conditions and lease term. 
 
Useful life of depreciable assets 
Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date and estimates the 
expected future utility of the assets to the Company.  
 
Convertible notes 
Management estimates the fair value of the conversion feature which requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model and the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model. 
 
Judgments  
Judgment is used in situations when there is a choice and/or assessment required by management. 
The following are critical judgments apart from those involving estimations, that management has 
made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have a significant effect 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Determination of CGUs 
For the purposes of assessing impairment of non-financial assets, the Company must determine 
Cash generating units (“CGU”). Assets and liabilities are grouped into CGUs at the lowest level of 
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separately identified cash flows. Determination of what constitutes a CGU is subject to management 
judgment. The asset composition of a CGU can directly impact the recoverability of assets included 
within the CGU. Management has determined that the Company has one CGU. 
 
Leases 
The incremental borrowing rates are based on judgments including economic environment, term, 
currency, and the underlying risk inherent to the asset. The carrying balance of the right-of-use 
assets, lease liabilities, and the resulting interest expense and depreciation expense, may differ due 
to changes in the market conditions and lease term. 
 
Contingencies 
Management uses judgment to assess the existence of contingencies. By their nature, contingencies 
will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Management also uses 
judgment to assess the likelihood of the occurrence of one or more future events. 
 
Going concern 
The going concern assessment requires management’s judgment on the ability of the Company to 
achieve positive cash flow from operations and/or obtain necessary equity or other financing. 
 
Taxation 
The calculations for current and deferred taxes require management’s interpretation of tax 
regulations and legislation in the various tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates, which are 
subject to change. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities requires estimates of the 
timing of the reversal of temporary differences identified and management’s assessment of the 
Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before 
they expire, which involves estimating future taxable income. 
 
 

Accounting Changes 

There were no accounting changes for the reporting periods. 

 
 
Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables,  accounts payable, and convertible note payables. The fair 
value of cash, cash held in escrow, accounts receivable, refundable deposits, accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities approximate their respective carrying values due to their short-term maturities. 
 
The Company has a note payable outstanding issued to the US Small Business Administration which 
amounted to $500,000, plus accrued interest as of December 31, 2020. The note bears interest at an 
annual rate of 3.75%. The note matures in June 2050. The note is secured by substantially all assets 
of the Company. Monthly principal and interest payments of $2,334 are deferred until May 2022. 
 
The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, for the next five 
years, at December 31, 2020 are as follows: 
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Year ending December 31,2020 $0 
2021     $0 
2022     $5,321 
2023     $9,397 
2024     $9,755 
2025 and thereafter   $475,527 
 
 
A summary of the convertible notes payable activity during 2020 and 2019 is as follows: 
 
     Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 2019 

 
Balance, beginning of year  $2,189,097   $655,193 
Proceeds from issuance  $951,450   $1,431,976 
Accrued interest   $169,985   $84,778 
Change in fair value   $13,110   $17,150 
Balance, ending of year  $3,323,642   $2,189,097 
     
The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, for the next five 
years, at December 31, 2020 are as follows: 
 
Year ending December 31,2021 $3,323,642 
2022     $0 
2023     $0 
2024     $0 
2025 and thereafter   $0 
 
 
The convertible notes payable bear interest of 6%, are unsecured and mature in 2021, as amended. 
 
 

Outstanding Share Data  
The following table summarizes the maximum number of common shares potentially outstanding as 
at December 31, 2020 and as of the date of this MD&A if all share purchase options, restricted share 
units and performance warrants were converted to common shares: 
  
       Year Ended   Year Ended 

December 31, 2020  December 31, 
2019 

 
Common shares     2,399,998    2,399,998  

Warrants      432,853   432,853 

 
Total common shares     2,832,851   2,832,851 
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Series A Preferred shares    11,271,490    11,271,490  

Seed Series Preferred shares    3,895,659    3,895,659  

 
Total preferred shares    15,167,149   15,167,149 

 

Convertible notes     2,173,790   1,410,354 

 

 
 

Risks and Uncertainties  
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risk that arises from a number 
of sources. Management’s involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from 
expectations. As a part of the overall operation of the Company, Management takes steps to avoid 
undue concentrations of risk. The Company manages the risks, as follows: 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge its obligation. Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit 
risk consist primarily of cash and trade and other receivables. The credit risk relating to cash 
balances is limited because the counterparties are large commercial banks in the United States. The 
amounts reported for trade and other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial position 
are net of allowances for credit losses and bad debts and the net carrying value represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.  
 
Trade and other receivables credit exposure is minimized by entering into transactions with 
creditworthy counterparties and monitoring the age and balances outstanding on an ongoing basis. 
Most of the Company’s credit exposures are with counterparties in the retail and food distribution 
technology industries and are subject to normal industry credit risk. Payment terms with customers 
are generally 30 days from invoice date.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Company generally relies on funds generated from debt and equity financing to provide 
sufficient liquidity to meet budgeted operating requirements.  
 
The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is represented by the carrying amount of accounts payable 
and accruals and lease liabilities. 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as there are no investments of excess cash in 
short-term money market investments and/or indebtedness at variable rates of interest.  
 
Other Risks 
Details of the risks and uncertainties related to the Company’s business are set out in this 
Prospectus under the heading “Risk Factors”.  See “Risk Factors”. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

The Fresh Factory 
 
 
 

Management Discussion and Analysis  
 

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 
 
  



The following management discussion and analysis (the “MD&A”), prepared as of [ * ] should be read 
together with the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the six months 
ended June 30, 2021 and related notes attached thereto (the “Financial Statements”). The condensed 
consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Accounting Standards ("IAS") 34, Interim Financial Reporting, and have been prepared following the 
same accounting policies as those used in preparing the most recent annual financial statements. The 
condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, 
except for financial instruments which are recognized at fair value. The condensed consolidated interim 
financial statements do not include disclosures required for the preparation of annual financial 
statements. Accordingly, the condensed consolidated interim financial statements should be read in 
conjunction with the 2020 annual audited financial statements. 

 
All amounts are stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated.  
 
 

Forward Looking Statements 

Certain information included in this discussion may constitute forward-looking statements. Readers 
are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking statements. These statements relate to 
future events or the Company’s future performance, business prospects or opportunities. All 
statements other than statements of historical fact may be forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such as "seek", 
"anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "predict", "potential", 
"targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions. The Company has 
based these forward-looking statements on its current expectations and projections about future 
events and financial trends that it believes might affect its financial condition, results of operations, 
business strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include, among 
other things, statements relating to:  

● the Company’s intention to complete the listing of its common shares on the Canadian Stock 
Exchange “CSE” (the “IPO”); 

● the conversion of the IPO subscription receipts and the release of escrowed funds to the 
Company; 

● business objectives and milestones; and 
● adequacy of financial resources. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on a number of material factors and assumptions, 
including, but not limited in any manner to, those disclosed elsewhere herein and any other of the 
Company’s public filings, and include the availability and final receipt of required approvals, licenses 
and permits, sufficient working capital to develop the business, access to adequate services and 
supplies, economic conditions,, interest rates, access to equity and debt markets and associated 
costs of funds, availability of a qualified workforce, that the Company is able to procure equipment 
and supplies in sufficient quantities and on a timely basis, and that the Company maintains its 
ongoing relations with its business partners in compliance with applicable government rules and 
regulations. While the Company considers these material factors and assumptions to be reasonable 
based on information currently available to it, they may prove to be incorrect. Actual results may vary 
from such forward-looking information for a variety of reasons. 
Investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as the plans, intentions or 
expectations upon which they are based might not occur. The Company cautions that the foregoing 
list of important factors is not exhaustive. Investors and others who base themselves on the 



Company's forward-looking statements should carefully consider the above factors as well as the 
uncertainties they represent and the risk they entail. The forward-looking statements contained in this 
report are expressly qualified by this cautionary statement. 
 

Description of Business  
The Fresh Factory PBC (the “Company” or “The Fresh Factory”) is primarily a manufacturer and 
distributor of fresh and plant-based food and beverage products. The Company operates from its 
manufacturing facility located in Carol Stream, Illinois, US. Being centrally located, the facility 
services customers across the continental US. The Company works with emerging brands in the 
fresh and plant-based food and beverage space to develop, formulate, manufacture, and distribute 
their products. In addition, the Company owns two brands: Field + Farmer which sells plant-based 
dressings, dips, and beverages and Element Pressed which sells cold-pressed juices. 
 
The Company’s head office address is at 238 Tubeway Ave, Carol Stream, Illinois, 60188. The 
registered and records office address is at 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, Dover, Delaware, US. 
 
As of June 30, 2021, the Company held 100% equity interest in the following wholly owned 
subsidiaries: 
  

● 87P LLC doing business as “Fresh Factory Manufacturing” 
● Made Here LLC doing business as “Field + Farmer” 
● Element Creations LLC doing business as “Element Pressed” 
● The Clean Factory LLC 

 
 

Corporate Reorganizations  
 
Formation and organization of Company 
The Company was formed on December 14, 2017 as Here Foods, PBC. At the time of formation the 
company had three fully owned subsidiaries: 87P LLC, Made Here LLC, and Element Creations LLC.  
 
Change of name 
On March 9, 2020 Here Foods, PBC was renamed to The Fresh Factory, PBC to reflect the 
company's emphasis on fresh food.  
 
Creation of wholly owned sub 
On April 30, 2020 the Company formed The Clean Factory LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company, 
as a wholly owned sub in order to sell bottled sanitizer products during the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
Creation of wholly owned sub 
On March 16, 2021 the Company formed Healthy Bars LLC, an Illinois Limited Liability Company, as 
a wholly owned sub in order to purchase assets related to the production of snack bars. 
 
 

Overview of The Fresh Factory 
The Company operates as a vertically integrated fresh and plant-based food and beverage 
Company. The goal of the Company is to help enable and accelerate the growth of fresh and plant-



based food and beverage brands. The Company works with a number of customers across various 
selling channels including direct-to-consumer, retail, and restaurants. The Company’s operating 
teams offer a variety of services including: 
 

● Innovation: The Company employs a team of food scientists that provide formulation, 
product development, costing, and food safety advice on the development of food and 
beverage products.  
 

● Supply Chain: The Company employs a supply chain team that sources ingredients, 
packaging, and fresh produce from a network of farmers and distributors around the country.  
 

● Manufacturing: The Company operates a 44,308 manufacturing facility located in Carol 
Stream, Illinois. The Company runs various production lines producing food and beverage 
products on a daily basis.  
 

● Distribution: The Company works with a network of distributors, trucking companies, and 
freight providers to distribute products. In addition, the Company offers pick, pack, and ship 
services for eCommerce. 
 

● Brands: The Company owns two brands: Field + Farmer which makes dips, dressings, and 
beverages and Element Pressed which makes cold-pressed juices.  

 
The Company produces a variety of different products including:  
 

● Cold-Pressed Juice: The Company presses fruits and vegetables into juice and then bottles 
cold-pressed juice for several companies and for its own brand.  
 

● Other Beverages: The Company manufactures beverages including cold-brew teas, shakes 
and smoothies, and non-alcoholic specialty beverages for several companies.  
 

● Dips and Spreads: The Company manufactures various dips and spreads for several 
companies and for its own brand. 
 

● Dressings and Sauces: The Company manufactures various dressings and sauces for 
several companies and for its own brand.  
 

● Soups: The Company manufactures various soups for several companies.  
 

● Snack Bars: The Company manufactures various snack bars for several companies and for 
its own brand.  

 
The Company has multiple production lines allowing to manufacture and package: 
 

● Bottling Lines: The Company has various bottling lines that allow it to produce cold-pressed 
juice and other bottled products. The Company can fill both plastic and glass containers.  
 

● Cup Line: The Company has various filling capabilities for the production of dips and spreads 
that are filled in cups including both hot-fill and cold-fill capabilities. 



 
● Bar Line: The Company has various manufacturing capabilities for the production of snack 

bars that are formed and packaged in sleeves. 
 
The Company’s model of being vertically integrated and offering a variety of services offers the 
following benefits: 
 

● Lower cost: As a vertically integrated manufacturer of food and beverage products the 
Company's brands do not have to employ co-manufacturing partners. Additionally, the 
Company can source produce, packaging, and other inputs in bulk lowering their input costs.  
 

● Flexibility: The Company’s ability to produce a variety of products allows it to sell multiple 
product lines to its customers. Additionally, it allows the Company to provide services to a 
wide variety of emerging food and beverage brands.  
 

● Speed: The Company’s in-house innovation team allows for the development of products in 
an accelerated timeline as they provide benchtop samples, food safety recommendations, 
and can conduct trials with potential customers all before launching.  

 
 

Business Highlights  
 

● In January of 2021, the Company hired Isabella Chia as SVP of Marketing. Isabella joined the 
Company from Mars where she led brand and innovation strategy for established brands 
(Juicy Fruit, Skittles, Starburst), and created the Challenger Playbook for Seeds of Change 
and Mars Food. Isabella holds an MBA from the University of Chicago.  
 

● In January 2021, the Company leased an additional 8,150 sq feet of dry space to expand 
their current facility. 
 

● On January 31, 2021, the Company successfully completed the annual GFCO- gluten free 
audit  
 

● In January 2021, the Field + Farmer brand began distribution of its sweet basil dressing 
product with Costco Midwest.   
 

● In January 2021, the Field + Farmer brand began distributing three of its dip products through 
Sprouts at all national stores. 
 

● In January of 2021, the Company recorded record monthly billed revenues of $969,348 due 
to increased demand from customers and growth of its brands. 
 

● In February of 2021, the Company recorded record monthly billed revenues of $980,136 due 
to increased demand from customers and growth of its brands. 
 

● In March 2021, the Company signed an agreement to acquire certain assets of Healthful 
Habits LLC a snack bar company located in West Chicago Illinois for $800,000. The 



Company made a $250,000 payment with the remainder of the purchase to be closed in the 
third quarter.  
 

● In March of 2021, the Company recorded record monthly billed revenues of $1,104,512 due 
to increased demand from customers and growth of its brands. 

 
● On March 16, 2021, the interest on the $500,000 Economic Impact Disaster Loan “EIDL” loan 

was deferred for an additional 12 months until May 29, 2022, as part of the COVID-19 relief 
efforts in the US. 
 

● In April 2021, the Field + Farmer brand won a second rotation and began distribution of its 
plant-based ranch dressing product with Costco Midwest. 
 

● In April of 2021, the Company recorded record monthly billed revenues of $1,262,301 due to 
increased demand from customers and growth of its brands. 
 

● On April 30, 2021, several products made at our facility were reconfirmed as NonGMO 
Project verified. 
 

● In May 2021, the Field + Farmer brand began distribution of its dressing products nationally in 
approximately 500 Whole Foods grocery stores in the US. 
 

● In May 2021, the Field + Farmer brand began distribution of its dip products in over 260+ 
stores across the Southeast region of Walmart in the US. 

 
● In May of 2021, the Company passed its Annual SQF Manufacturing and Quality, formerly 

known as SQF Level III, audit for the 5th straight year achieving a score of 99. 
 

● On June 5th, 2021, the $455,400 Paycheck Protection Program “PPP” loan was forgiven in its 
entirety as part of the US COVID-19 relief efforts.  
 

● In June 2021, the Company fulfilled its first order for snack bars with one of its customers.  
 

● In June 2021, the Company shut down its facility for one week to make needed improvements 
and upgrades including new epoxy floors within the production area. The shutdown shifted 
some revenue and added some additional labor expenses in the second quarter. 
 

● Through June 2021, the Company had Launched 12 new manufacturing partnerships with 
customers across multiple different product categories. 

 
 

Overall Performance  
 

● The Company’s revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2021 (“Q1 2021”) was 

$2,864,199 compared to $1,930,485 for the three months ended March 31, 2020 (“Q1 2020”). 

  



● The Company’s revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2021 (“Q2 2021”) was 

$6,095,630 compared to $3,949,682 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 (“Q2 2020”). 

 

● Net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2021, was $177,580, or $0.07 per common 

share and for the three months compared to $405,659 and $0.17 respectively for the period 

ended March 31, 2020. 

 

● Net loss for the six months ended June 30, 2021, was $1,352,971, or $0.56 per common 

share and for the six months compared to $435,014 and $0.18 respectively for the period 

ended June 30, 2020. 

 

● As of June 30, 2021, the Company had total assets of $6,614,016 consisting of $2,631,461 of 

current assets and $3,982,555 of non-current assets compared to $5,839,343 consisting of 

$1,889,513 of current assets and $3,949,830 of non-current assets as of June 30, 2020. 

 

● As of June 30, 2021, the Company had total liabilities of $8,964,371 consisting of $6,980,692 

of current liabilities and $1,983,679 of non-current liabilities compared to $6,836,727 

consisting of $4,812,412 of current liabilities and $2,024,315 of non-current liabilities as of 

June 30, 2020. 

 

Changes in revenue for the current period were driven by the growth of current customers, addition 
of new customers, and the return of quick service restaurant customers as the economy began to re-
open after the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 

 

Key Performance Indicators  
Key performance indicators that the Company uses to manage its business and evaluate its financial 
results and operating performance include: revenue, gross margins, operating margins, expenses, 
and net income (loss). The Company evaluates its performance on these metrics by comparing its 
actual results to management budgets and forecasts.  
 
 

Summary of Reporting Period Results  
The table below summarizes selected audited financial data for the Company’s last two quarters 
 

 
Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Total Revenue    $2,864,199   $1,930,485    $6,095,630  $3,949,682    

Cost of Revenue    $2,341,385 $1,665,913  $5,004,926   $3,216,319 



Gross Profit    $522,814  $254,572  $1,090,704    $733,363   

Gross Profit %    18.3%  13.7%   17.9%  18.6%  

 

Sales, General, and Administrative   $621,462  $609,236   $1,437,476   $1,051,701    

Interest Expense     $78,932   $60,995   $145,165   $116,676  

Change in Fair Value  

of Convertible Note Expense  $0    $0   $861,034   $0 

Net Loss     $177,580 $405,569  $1,352,971   $435,014 

 

Basic and Diluted Loss per Share  $0.07  $0.17   $0.56  $0.18 

 

 

 

Non-IFRS Measures  
EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are financial measures that do not have a standardized meaning 
under IFRS. EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. 
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock 
based compensation, and change in fair value of derivative liabilities.  
  
As there is no standardized method of calculating EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA, it may not be 
directly comparable with similarly titled measures used by other companies. The Company considers 
Adjusted EBITDA to be a relevant indicator for measuring trends in performance and its ability to 
generate funds to service its debt and to meet its future working capital and capital expenditure 
requirements. Neither EBITDA or Adjusted EBITDA is a generally accepted earnings measure and 
should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net income (loss), cash flows or other 
measures of performance prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
 
The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss:  
 

 
Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Loss for the period   $177,580 $405,569  $1,352,971  $435,014 

Interest expense    $78,932    $60,995   $145,165  $116,676 

Depreciation and amortization expense $162,688 $99,038   $337,200 $333,084 

 

EBITDA     $64,040  ($245,536)  ($870,606) ($14,746) 

Change in fair value of derivative liability $0  $0   $861,034  $0 

 

Adjusted EBITDA    $64,040  ($245,536)  ($9,572)  ($14,746) 

  

Results of Operations 



 
Three month ended March 31, 2021 (“Q1 2021”) compared with the three month ended March 
31, 2020 (“Q1 2020”) and for the six month ended June 30, 2021 (“Q2 2021”) compared with 
the six month ended June 30, 2020 (“Q2 2020”) 
 
Net loss for Q1 2021 was $177,580 or $0.07 loss per share compared to $405,569 or $0.17 loss per 
share for Q1 2020.   
 
Net loss for Q2 2021 was $1,352,971 or $0.56 loss per share compared to $435,014 or $0.18 loss 
per share for Q2 2020. 
 
Significant differences between Q1 2021 and Q1 2020, and Q2 2021 and Q2 2020 results of 
operations are as follows:  
 
Revenue 
Revenue for Q2 2021 was $6,095,630 compared with $3,949,682 in Q2 2020. The increase in 
revenue over the first half of 2021 was attributed both to growth in branded sales and from the 
addition and expansion of new customers. 
 
Revenue for Q1 2021 was $2,864,199 compared with $1,930,485 in Q1 2020.  The increase in 
revenue over the first quarter of 2021 was primarily due to the addition and expansion of new 
customers. 

 
 

Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Billed Revenue    $3,054,355  $1,997,741  $6,480,915  $4,093,692 

Trade and variable selling expense  $152,254  $57,314     $289,098  $124,894 

Production credit and sample expense $37,902   $9,942   $96,187   $19,116 

 

Total Revenue    $2,864,199  $1,930,485   $6,095,630  $3,949,682    

 
● Trade and variable selling costs were up $94,940 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and up 

$164,204 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver of the increase over both 
periods was additional distribution of the Company’s Field + Farmer brand.  
 

● Production credit and sample costs were up $27,960 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and 
up $77,071 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver of the increase over both 
periods were more trials and samples related to increased sales. 

 
 
Cost of Revenue 
Cost of revenue was $2,341,385 for Q1 2021 compared with $1,665,913 for Q1 2020 and 
$5,014,179 for Q2 2021 compared with $3,216,319 for Q2 2020.  
 

 



Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

Food, packaging, and labor   $1,988,159  $1,285,425  $4,262,273 

 $2,620,055 

Utilities     $37,086    $27,620     $67,706    $52,392 

Facilities and maintenance   $316,140  $352,868  $674,947  $543,872 

 

Cost of Revenue    $2,341,385 $1,665,913  $5,004,926  $3,216,319 

 
 

● Food packaging, and labor costs were up $702,734 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and 

up $1,642,218 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver for both periods was an 

increase in sales.  

 

● Utility costs were up $9,466 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and down $15,314 for Q2 

2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver for both periods was an increase in sales.  

 

● Facility and maintenance costs were down $36,728 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and 

up $131,075 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The change for Q1 was within normal 

variation and the increase for H1 was due to increased labor expense and material costs.   

 

 
Sales, General, and Administrative Expenses  
Sales, general, and administrative expenses were $621,462 for Q1 2021 compared with $609,236 in 
Q1 2020 and $1,437,476 for Q2 2021 compared with $1,051,701 in Q2 2020. The increase in sales, 
general, and administrative of $385,775 during Q2 2021 was a combination of increased sales and 
marketing expenses in addition to a lower sales, general, and administrative expenses in Q2 2020 
due to the realization of the PPP loan forgiveness. 
 

 
Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Sales and marketing   $143,712 $163,349  $369,152 $248,252 

Rent and utilities    $6,883  $6,883   $13,776  $13,776 

Salaries and benefits   $230,145 $222,948  $465,755 $219,978 

Other administrative   $78,034  $117,018  $252,603 $238,789 

 

Depreciation and amortization  $162,688 $99,038   $337,200 $333,084 

 

Total Sales, General and Administrative $621,462  $609,236   $1,437,476   $1,051,701    



 

 

● Sales and marketing expenses were down $19,637 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and 

up $120,900 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver of the increase was 

expansion of sales and marketing activities related to the Field + Farmer brand.  

 

● Rent and utilities expenses were unchanged for Q1 2021 compared to Q12020 and 

unchanged for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. 

 

● Sales & benefits expenses were up $7,197 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 and up 

$245,777 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver of the increase in Q2 2021 

was due to lower expenses in Q2 2020 associated with the forgiveness of the PPP loan.  

 

● Other administrative expenses were down $38,984 for Q1 2021 compared to Q12020 and up 

$13,814 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020 and in line with previous periods.  

 
● Depreciation and amortization expenses were up $63,650 for Q1 2021 compared to Q1 2020 

and up $4,116 for Q2 2021 compared to Q2 2020 and in line with previous periods.  

 
 
Research & Development (“R&D”) Expenses  
The Company currently does not categorize or incur “R&D expenses. 
 

Other Expenses  
Other expenses consisted of the following:  

 

 
Three  Three   Six  Six 
Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Interest expense    $78,932    $60,995   $145,165   $116,676  

 

   $78,932    $60,995   $145,165   $116,676  

 

● Interest expenses were up $17,937 for Q1 2021 compared to Q2 2020 and up $28,489 for Q1 

2021 compared to Q2 2020. The primary driver of the increase was increased interest 

associated with the outstanding convertible notes.  

 
 



Summary of Quarterly Results 
The below table outlines the quarterly revenue and profit and loss for the trailing six periods. The 
increase in revenue through the quarters were due to increased sales in the Company’s owned 
brands, the addition of new customers, and increased sales through existing customers specifically 
tied to growth of direct-to-consumer brands during the COVID-19 pandemic which offset lost sales 
from restaurants during the same period.  
 
The change in profitability in the second quarter of 2020 vs. the other quarters is due to the 
realization of the PPP loan during that period which offset eight weeks of salaries, benefits, leases, 
and utilities of the Company. The increase in loss for Q2 2021 was due to change in value 
associated with outstanding convertible notes.  
 
The Company’s business does experience seasonality with the fourth quarter typically having less 
sales than the previous quarters on a normalized basis. The primary driver to seasonality is the 
decreased consumption in fresh food and cold-pressed juices during the winter and holiday months.  
 
In addition, data may vary quarter by quarter based on the receipt of purchase orders and delivery of 
product for the next month. For example, a sale in March may lead to a large delivery of product in 
April that would shift revenue from the first quarter to the second quarter.  
 
 

 
 Ended  

Jun 30  
2021 

Ended 
Mar 31 

2021 

Ended 
Dec 31 

2020 

Ended 
Sep 30 

2020 

Ended 
Jun 30 

2020 

Ended 
Mar 31 

2020 
Total  

Revenue 
 

$3,231,431 $2,864,199 $1,989,609 $2,329,970 $2,019,196 $1,930,845 

Profit and loss 
From continuing 

operations 
 

 
($1,175,391) 

 
($177,580) 

 
($319,075) 

 
($397,555) 

 
$153,791 

 
($374,978) 

Basic and diluted 
profit and (loss) 

per share 
 

 
($0.489) 

 
($0.074) 

 
($0.133) 

 
($0.166) 

 
$0.0641 

 
($0.016) 

Profit and loss 
attributable to 

owners 
 

 
($1,175,391) 

 
($177,580) 

 
($319,075) 

 
($397,555) 

 
$153,791 

 
($374,978) 

Basic and diluted 
profit and (loss) 

per share 

 
($0.489) 

 
($0.074) 

 
($0.133) 

 
($0.166) 

 
$0.0641 

 
($0.016) 

 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources  
 
To date, the Company has financed its operations through private placements and internally 
generated cash flows from revenue.  
 
Recent Financings  
 



● The Company raised $450,000 in convertible notes in Q1 2021 compared to $789,774 in Q1 

2020. 

 

● The Company raised $850,000 in convertible notes in Q2 2021 compared to $901,408 in Q2 

2020. 

 
 
Cash 
As of June 30, 2021, the Company had cash of $507,126 consisting of $507,126 in cash compared 
with $323,056 of cash and restricted cash as of December 31, 2020. 
 
Cash Used in Operating Activites 
Cash used in operating activities was $51,520 for Q2 2021 compared to cash provided of $21,972 for 
Q2 2020. The change was within normal course of business. 
 
Cash Used in Investing Activities  
Cash used in investing activities was $336,413 in Q2 2021, an increase of $131,390 from Q2 2020. 
The primary difference was a deposit of $250,000 for the acquisition of the assets of Healthful Habits, 
LLC. 
 
Cash Generated from Financing Activities  
Cash generated from financing activities was $572,003 for Q2 2021 consisting of $850,000 in 
convertible notes issued, $242,744 in lease and principal payments, and $35,253 in interest 
payments. Cash from financing activities was down $380,261 from Q2 2020 primarily due to the 
previous year’s distribution of the SBA loan. 
 
Working Capital  
As at June 30, 2021, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $4,349,231 compared with 
$2,922,899 as of December 31, 2020. The short-term liabilities consist of $5,144,558 in convertible 
notes, $522,996 in lease liabilities, and $1,313,108 in trade and other payables. Adjusting for the 
convertible notes, the Company had a working capital surplus of $795,357 as of June 30, 2021, 
compared to a working capital surplus of $400,743 as of December 31, 2020. 

 
Liquidity Outlook  
The Company’s cash position varies based on the amount of capital raised via private placements, 
the amount capital invested and reinvested into the growth of the business by financing leasehold 
improvements or equipment at its facility. The Company continues to expand its manufacturing 
capabilities at its Carol Stream facility. These new capital investments are expected to positively 
impact the Company’s revenue and operating cash flow in future periods.  
 
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maximize returns for shareholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements. In managing the Company’s capital structure, The 
Company’s management reviews monthly and quarterly financial information and provides regular 
reports to the board of directors.  
 



 

Going Concern 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on accounting policies 
applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operations for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. The Company incurred negative cash flows from operating activities during 2020 
and 2019. As of June 30, 2021, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $13.9 million compared 
to $12.6 million as of December 31, 2020.  
 
In order to continue as a going concern, the Company must generate sufficient income and cash 
flows to repay its obligations, finance working capital and fund capital investments. The future of the 
Company is dependent on its ability to attain profitable operations, generate sufficient funds from 
operations and obtain new financing. There is no certainty that the Company will raise these 
necessary funds from financing or operations. As a result of these factors, there is a material 
uncertainty that may result in a significant doubt on the Company’s ability to meet its obligations as 
they come due and continue as a going concern.  
  
Management is of the opinion that in the future, sufficient working capital can be obtained from 
external financing and operating cash flow to settle the Company’s liabilities and commitments as 
they become due, although there is a risk that funding will not be available on a timely basis or on 
terms acceptable to the Company.  
 
These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be necessary if the 
going concern basis was not appropriate. Consequently, adjustments would then be necessary to the 
carrying value of assets and liabilities, the expenses and the statement of financial position 
classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 
 
 
Impact of COVID-19 
The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic and the resulting measures adopted by governments, 
businesses, and citizens to mitigate its spread have thus far had a limited negative impact on the 
Company. While these measures required the Company to shut down its manufacturing operations 
for one week during May 2020, the Company has since been able to secure adequate supplies of 
raw materials, maintain its workforce and benefited from increased demand for its products and 
services.  
 

 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.  
 

 
Related Party Transactions  
As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s related parties and key management personnel consists of the 
Company’s directors and executive officers.  
 

Name/Personal Corporation  Relationship  Nature of Transaction 



Nathan Laurell/New Frontier 
Holdings 

CEO and Director  Management salaries 

Jeremy Schupp CFO, Corporate 
Secretary, and 
Director 

Management salaries 

Bill Besenhofer COO and 
President 

Management salaries 

Isabella Chia SVP of Marketing Management salaries 

Jeff Cantalupo Director  

Lindsay Levin Director  

 
 
Transactions with related parties by means of common management and ownership include interest 
expenses of $44,148 and $25,425 during the periods ending June 30, 2021, and 2020 pursuant to 
convertible promissory notes aggregating $1.85 million and $1.10 million at June 30, 2021 and 2020, 
respectively. 
 
Key management personnel (“KMP”) are those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly. KMP consists of 
officers and directors.  
 
Aggregate compensation of KMP during the periods consisted of: 
 
     Three  Three   Six  Six 

Months Ended Months Ended  Months Ended   Months Ended 
March 31 2021 March 31 2020  June 30 2021 June 30 2020 

 

Salaries & Short-Term Benefits  $81,927    $87,436   $197,396   $148,244  

 

   $81,927    $87,436   $197,396   $148,244 

 
As of June 30, 2021, Nathan Laurell, the firm’s CEO had personally guaranteed the EIDL small 
business administration loan that was distributed on May 29, 2020. The personal guarantee was a 
requirement of securing the loan.  
 
 

Proposed Transactions 



The Company is expected to close on the purchase of the assets of Healthful Habits LLC in the third 
quarter of 2021. Healthful Habits LLC is a snack bar manufacturing company and brand located in 
West Chicago, Illinois. The purchase is expected to be funded through cash and the issuance of 
convertible notes.  
 
  

Critical Accounting Estimates 
In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgements and 
estimates and used assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results will differ 
materially from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that year or in the year of the revision and future years if the revision affects both current and 
future years. 
 
Estimates 
Critical accounting estimates are those that require management to make assumptions about matters 
that are highly uncertain at the time the estimate or assumption is made. Critical accounting 
estimates are also those that could potentially have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
results where a different estimate or assumption is used. The significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty are: 
 
Expected credit losses 
The Company's trade and other receivables are typically short-term in nature. The Company 
recognizes an amount equal to the lifetime ECL based on a probability-weighted matrix. The 
Company measures loss allowance based on customer-specific factors, historical default rates and 
forecasted economic conditions. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances of 
forecast economic conditions.  
 
Revenue recognition 
Where the outcome of performance obligations for contracts can be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognized. The Company’s revenue is based on sales incentives provided to retailers and estimates 
of expected returns. The Company estimates sales incentives to be provided to retailers at each 
measurement date based on historical ratios and adjusts its revenues and accounts receivable 
accordingly. The Company continually reviews the contractual estimation process to consider and 
incorporate frequent changes in food distribution resulting from contract renegotiations and renewals. 
 
Leases 
Lease terms are based on assumptions regarding extension terms that allow for operational flexibility 
and future market conditions. The incremental borrowing rates are based on estimates including 
economic environment, term, currency, and the underlying risk inherent to the asset. The carrying 
balance of the right-of-use assets, lease liabilities, and the resulting interest expense and 
depreciation expense, may differ due to changes in the market conditions and lease term. 
 
Useful life of depreciable assets 



Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date and estimates the 
expected future utility of the assets to the Company.  
 
Convertible notes 
Management estimates the fair value of the conversion feature which requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model and the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model. 
 
Judgments  
Judgment is used in situations when there is a choice and/or assessment required by management. 
The following are critical judgments apart from those involving estimations, that management has 
made in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies and that have a significant effect 
on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Determination of CGUs 
For the purposes of assessing impairment of non-financial assets, the Company must determine 
Cash generating units (“CGU”). Assets and liabilities are grouped into CGUs at the lowest level of 
separately identified cash flows. Determination of what constitutes a CGU is subject to management 
judgment. The asset composition of a CGU can directly impact the recoverability of assets included 
within the CGU. Management has determined that the Company has one CGU. 
 
Leases 
The incremental borrowing rates are based on judgments including economic environment, term, 
currency, and the underlying risk inherent to the asset. The carrying balance of the right-of-use 
assets, lease liabilities, and the resulting interest expense and depreciation expense, may differ due 
to changes in the market conditions and lease term. 
 
Contingencies 
Management uses judgment to assess the existence of contingencies. By their nature, contingencies 
will only be resolved when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. Management also uses 
judgment to assess the likelihood of the occurrence of one or more future events. 
 
Going concern 
The going concern assessment requires management’s judgment on the ability of the Company to 
achieve positive cash flow from operations and/or obtain necessary equity or other financing. 
 
Taxation 
The calculations for current and deferred taxes require management’s interpretation of tax 
regulations and legislation in the various tax jurisdictions in which the Company operates, which are 
subject to change. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities requires estimates of the 
timing of the reversal of temporary differences identified and management’s assessment of the 
Company’s ability to utilize the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income before 
they expire, which involves estimating future taxable income. 
 
 

Accounting Changes 

There were no accounting changes for the reporting periods. 

 



 

Financial Instruments and Other Instruments 
As of June 30, 2021, the Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, 
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, note payables and convertible note payables. 
Due to their short-term nature, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and 
other payables cash represent an approximate fair value. The convertible note payable is valued 
using the effective interest method. 
 
The Company has a note payable outstanding issued to the US Small Business Administration which 
amounted to $500,000, plus accrued interest as of June 30, 2021. The note bears interest at an 
annual rate of 3.75%. The note matures in June 2050. The note is secured by substantially all assets 
of the Company. Monthly principal and interest payments of $2,334 are deferred until May 2022. 
 
The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, for the next five 
years, at June 30, 2021 are as follows: 
 
Six Month ending June 30,2021 $0 
2021     $0 
2022     $5,321 
2023     $9,397 
2024     $9,755 
2025 and thereafter   $475,527 
 
A summary of the convertible notes payable activity during Q2 2021 and 2020 are as follows: 
 
        

June 30, 2021   December 31, 2020 

 
Balance, beginning of period  $3,323,642   $2,189,097 
Proceeds from issuance  $850,588   $951,450 
Accrued interest   $109,912   $169,985 
Change in fair value   $860,446   $13,110 
Balance, ending of period  $5,144,588   $3,323,642 
     
The principal repayments of the note payable, assuming no extension by the lender, at June 30, 
2021 are as follows and payable by the end of the year: 
 
Six Month ending December 31,2021  $3,901,408 
 
The convertible notes payable bear interest of 6%, are unsecured and mature in 2021. 
 
 

Outstanding Share Data  
The following table summarizes the maximum number of common shares potentially outstanding as 
at June 30, 2021 and as of the date of this MD&A if all share purchase options, restricted share units 
and performance warrants were converted to common shares: 
  



       Period Ended   Period Ended 
March 31, 2021  June 30, 2021 

 
Common shares     2,399,998    2,399,998  

Warrants      432,853   432,853 

 
Total common shares     2,832,851   2,832,851 

 

Series A Preferred shares    11,271,490    11,271,490  

Seed Series Preferred shares    3,895,659    3,895,659  

 
Total preferred shares    15,167,149   15,167,149 

 

Convertible notes     3,811,650   4,271,444 

 
 

Risks and Uncertainties  
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risk that arises from a number 
of sources. Management’s involvement in operations helps identify risks and variations from 
expectations. As a part of the overall operation of the Company, Management takes steps to avoid 
undue concentrations of risk. The Company manages the risks, as follows: 
 
Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other 
party by failing to discharge its obligation. Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit 
risk consist primarily of cash and trade and other receivables. The credit risk relating to cash 
balances is limited because the counterparties are large commercial banks in the United States. The 
amounts reported for trade and other receivables in the consolidated statements of financial position 
are net of allowances for credit losses and bad debts and the net carrying value represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk.  
 
Trade and other receivables credit exposure is minimized by entering into transactions with 
creditworthy counterparties and monitoring the age and balances outstanding on an ongoing basis. 
Most of the Company’s credit exposures are with counterparties in the retail and food distribution 
technology industries and are subject to normal industry credit risk. Payment terms with customers 
are generally 30 days from invoice date.  
 
Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The Company generally relies on funds generated from debt and equity financing to provide 
sufficient liquidity to meet budgeted operating requirements.  
 
The maximum exposure to liquidity risk is represented by the carrying amount of accounts payable 
and accruals and lease liabilities. 
 



Interest rate risk 
The Company is not exposed to interest rate risk as there are no investments of excess cash in 
short-term money market investments and/or indebtedness at variable rates of interest.  
 
Other Risks 
Details of the risks and uncertainties related to the Company’s business are set out in this 
Prospectus under the heading “Risk Factors”.  See “Risk Factors”. 
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The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. 
Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position 

(stated in United States Dollars) 

                                                                                                                                                                     As at August 31, 2021 

 

 
     Proforma Adjustments  

                                            
The Fresh 

Factory, PBC 1181718 B.C. Ltd. Transactions Note 
Pro forma 

Consolidated 

Assets      

Current Assets      

Cash 507,126 103,810 8,881,013 3 (d)(f) 9,491,949 

Trade and other receivables 944,791 - -  944,791 

Prepayments 199,639 - 1,848,185 3 (a) 2,047,824 

Inventories 729,905 - -  729,905 

Cash held in escrow - 8,984,823 (8,984,823) 3 (d) - 

Deferred charges - 105,341 (105,341) 3 (d) - 

Deposit on acquisition 250,000 - 423,536 3 (g) 673,536 

Total Current Assets 2,631,461 9,193,974 2,062,570  13,888,005 

Long-Term Assets      

Property and equipment 3,917,912 - -  3,917,912 

Intangible assets 64,643 - -  64,643 

Total Assets 6,614,016 9,193,974 2,062,570  17,870,560 

      

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity      

Current Liabilities      

Trade and other payables 1,313,108 227,218 (227,218) 3 (d)  1,313,108 

Lease liabilities 522,996 - -  522,996 

Share subscriptions - 8,984,823 (8,984,823) 3 (d) - 

Convertible notes payable 5,144,588 - (5,144,588) 3 (b) - 

Total Current Liabilities 6,980,692 9,212,041 (14,356,629)  1,836,104 

      

Lease liabilities 1,483,679 - -  1,483,679 

Note payable 500,000 - -  500,000 

Non-current liabilities 1,983,679 - -  1,983,679 

Total liabilities 8,964,371 9,212,041 (14,356,629)  3,819,783 

      

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency)      

Share capital 11,577,513 46,828 14,346,349 
3 (b)(d)(e) 

(f)(g) 25,970,690 

Contributed Surplus - - 1,848,185 3 (a) 1,848,185 

Deficit (13,927,868) (64,894) 224,664 3 (b)(d)(e) (13,768,098) 

Shareholders’ equity (deficiency) (2,350,355) (18,067) 16,419,199  14,050,777 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity 6,614,016 9,193,974 2,062,570  17,870,560 



The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. 
Unaudited Pro Forma Statement of loss and comprehensive loss 

(stated in United States Dollars) 
For the twelve months ended August 31, 2021 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these pro-forma financial statements. Page 2 

 
The Fresh Factory, 

PBC 
1181718 B.C Ltd. 

 

Note  

 

Pro-Forma 
Adjustments 

Pro-Forma 
Consolidated 

 $ $  $ $ 

      

Revenue 10,415,568 -  - 10,415,568 
Cost of revenues 8,362,552 -  - 8,362,552 

Gross profit 2,053,016 -  - 2,053,016 

      

Operating expenses      
Selling, general, and administrative 
expenses 2,750,921 10,712 

 
3 (e)  2,790,000 5,551,633 

Professional fees - 27,989  - 27,989 

Operating loss (697,905) (38,701)  (2,790,000) (3,526,606) 

      

Interest expense 283,727 -  - 283,727 
Change in fair value of convertible note 
payable 874,144 - 

 
3 (b) 873,228 916 

Listing expense - - 3 (d) 2,076,542 2,076,542 
 
Net loss and comprehensive loss (1,855,776) (38,701) 

 
(3,993,314) (5,887,792) 
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1. Basis of Presentation 

 
The accompanying unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position of The Fresh Factory, 
B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) have been prepared by management to reflect the wholly owned subsidiary, The 
Fresh Factory, PBC (“The Fresh Factory”) with 1181718 B.C Ltd. (to be renamed The Fresh Factory B.C. 
Ltd.), as part of the reverse takeover (“RTO”). 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared using accounting 
policies and practices consistent with those used in the preparation of The Fresh Factory and 1181718 B.C. 
Ltd.’s recent financial statements, both of which are prepared under International Financial Reporting 
Standards.  In preparing the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information, consideration was 
given to identifying accounting policy differences between The Fresh Factory and 1181718 B.C Ltd. where 
the impact was potentially material and could be reasonably estimated. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position and proforma consolidated statement 
loss and comprehensive loss has been compiled from: 

 The statement of financial position of 1181718 B.C Ltd. as at August 31, 2021 obtained from the 

reviewed financial statements of 1181718 B.C. Ltd. 
 The statement of net loss and comprehensive loss of 1181718 B.C Ltd. for the twelve month period 

ended August 31, 2021. 

 The statement of financial position of The Fresh Factory as at June 30, 2021 obtained from the interim 
condensed consolidated financial statements of The Fresh Factory. 

 The statements of net loss and comprehensive loss of The Fresh Factory for the twelve month period 
ended June 30, 2021 obtained from the interim condensed consolidated financial statements of The 
Fresh Factory. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared as if the transaction 
had occurred as of August 31, 2021. 

The unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared for illustration   
purposes only and may not be indicative of the combined results or financial position had the transaction 
been in effect at the date indicated. 

1181718 B.C Ltd.’s reviewed statement of financial position as at August 31, 2021, the statements of net 
loss and comprehensive loss for the period ended August 31, 2021 have been translated to US dollars as 
per the Bank of Canada exchange rates.  Pro-forma consolidated select financial statements have been 
translated at the following rates: 

 Pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2021 have been converted 
using period end rate of CAD/ USD of 0.7926. 

 Pro-forma consolidated statements of net loss for the period ended August 31, 2021 have been 
converted using the average rate of CAD/USD of 0.7887. 

The unaudited pro forma statement of financial position of the Company gives effect to the transaction 
described in note 2. These unaudited pro forma financial statements (the “Pro Forma Financial Statements”) 
are prepared to illustrate the impact of the transfer of assets. The Pro Forma Financial Statements have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The accounting 
policies used in the preparation of the Pro Forma Financial Statements are those set out in the Company’s 
annual audited financial statements for the year ended May 31, 2021 and as such should be read in 
conjunction with such annual audited financial statements. 
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The Pro Forma Financial Statements are not intended to reflect the results of operations or the financial 
position that would have actually resulted had the Transaction been effected on the date indicated or the 
results which may be obtained in the future.  

The pro forma adjustments reflecting the Transaction are based on certain estimates and assumptions. The 
Company's management believes that such assumptions provide a reasonable basis for presenting all of 
the significant effects of the Transaction contemplated and that the Pro Forma Financial Statement 
adjustments give appropriate effect to those adjustments and are properly applied in the Pro Forma 
Financial Statements. 

The Pro Forma Financial Statements are being provided solely for informational purposes and are not 
necessarily indicative of the Company’s future financial position or of the financial position that might have 
been achieved for the period indicated; nor is it necessarily indicative of future results that may occur.  

 
2. Proposed Transaction 

 
1181718 B.C Ltd. entered into a merger agreement dated August 16, 2021 with The Fresh Factory and a 
direct, wholly owned subsidiary of the 1181718 B.C Ltd. (“Subco”), whereby The Fresh Factory shareholders 
would acquire an aggregate of 36,000,000 subordinate voting shares in consideration of the amalgamation 
between The Fresh Factory and Subco under the General Corporation Law (Delaware), pursuant to which 
The Fresh Factory will merge with and into Subco, with Subco as the surviving entity, called “Mergeco” 
resulting in The Fresh Factory shares and Subco shares being cancelled and replaced by Mergeco shares 
(on the basis of one Subco Share for each Mergeco Share) and all the property of each of Subco and The 
Fresh Factory continuing on as to the property of Mergeco. 
 
Following the closing of the transaction, Mergeco will be the wholly owned subsidiary of 1181718 B.C Ltd. 
(the “Resulting Issuer”). Immediately after the completion of the Merger, on a non-diluted basis, the former 
holders of The Fresh Factory shares will own approximately 36,423,536 Resulting Issuer shares, 
representing 77.24% of the shares of the Resulting Issuer. 47,158,359 of these shares were issued as part 
of the merger. The existing holders of 1181718 B.C Ltd. will own 10,734,823 shares, representing 22.76% 
of the total Resulting Issuer shares.  

3. Pro Forma Assumptions and Adjustments 
 

The pro forma consolidated statement of financial position was prepared based on the following assumptions 
and adjustments: 
 

a) Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, The Fresh Factory will enter into an advisory agreement with 
a one-year term, pursuant to which the Company will issue, 2,000,000 warrants exercisable to acquire one 
post-consolidation common share at a price of US$1.00 per share for one year from the issuance date (the 
“Performance Warrants”). Fifty percent of such Performance Warrants shall become exercisable if/when the 
closing price of subordinate voting shares on the CSE is at or above US$2.00 for five consecutive trading 
days and the remaining 50% of such Performance Warrants shall become exercisable if/when the closing 
price of subordinate voting shares on the CSE is at or above US$3.00 for five consecutive trading days. The 
total relative fair value of the performance warrants assuming all vesting conditions have been met was 
determined to be $1,848,185. This determination was made using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model 
with the following assumptions: risk-free rate of 0.05%, expected volatility of 81%, and expected life of one 
year. 
 

b) Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, prior to the merger, the Fresh Factory will, settle all of its 
existing convertible notes payable in the aggregate amount of approximately $4,271,360 into 5,339,200 
resulting issuer shares inclusive of any accrued interest. The convertible notes payable was being held at a 
fair value of $5,144,588, resulting in a gain on conversion of $873,228. 
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c) Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, prior to the merger, The Fresh Factory will, settle all of its 
existing preferred shares in the aggregate amount of approximately $9,394,405 into 25,678,862 resulting 
issuer shares.  

 
d) The shareholders of The Fresh Factory will acquire control of 1181718 B.C Ltd., thereby constituting a 

reverse acquisition of 1181718 B.C Ltd. The merger is considered a purchase of 1181718 B.C Ltd.’s net 
assets by the shareholders of The Fresh Factory. 
 
The merger will be accounted for in accordance with guidance provided in IFRS 3, “Business Combinations”- 
Appendix B Reverse Acquisitions. The transaction is accounted for as a continuation of The Fresh Factory, 
whereby new shares are issued for the net assets of 1181718 B.C. Ltd., including the public company listing 
expense which is deemed to be based on a notional share calculation and is the difference between the 
consideration paid for 1181718 B.C. Ltd. and the net assets of 1181718 B.C Ltd.  The share capital, 
contributed surplus and deficit of 1181718 B.C Ltd. are charged or credited to the share capital of the 
consolidated entity and the public company listing expense is the excess of the total consideration less the 
value of net assets of 1181718 B.C. Ltd. 
 
Listing Expense: 
 

Fair value of 1181718 B.C Ltd.’s shares 
(1,750,000 post-merger consolidation 3.404 
common shares) $ 1,750,000 
Net Assets of 1181718 B.C Ltd.  (18,067) 
Fair value less net assets  1,768,067 
Estimated closing listing costs  308,475 
Listing Expense $ 2,076,542 
   

 
The estimated fair value of the consideration is $2,076,542, higher than the fair value of the net assets 
acquired. This will be recorded as a transaction cost.  
 
Closing transaction costs represent the estimated amount of professional fees in connection with the merger, 
these fees will be settled through the issuance of 189,895 resulting issuer shares and 118,580 finders 
warrants to acquire resulting issuer shares. Share capital of $48,943 and deficit of $56,757 will be eliminated.   
 

e) In conjunction with the merger, the resulting issuer issued 2,790,000 options. Each option grants the holder 
the right to purchase one common share of the resulting issuer. The total relative fair value of the shares was 
determined to be $2,790,000.  

 
f) Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, 1181718 B.C Ltd. completed a private placement of 

8,984,823 common shares for gross proceeds of $8,984,823. 
 

g) Pursuant to the terms of the merger agreement, prior to the merger, The Fresh Factory will, settle all 
outstanding convertible notes in the aggregate amount of approximately $423,536 into 423,536 resulting 
issuer shares. 
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4. Pro Forma Share Capital 

A continuity of the pro forma consolidated share capital is as follows: 

 Note 
Number of 

shares  Amount 

The Fresh Factory’s shares at August 31, 2021  30,475,043 $   11,577,513 
1181718 B.C Ltd. shares at August 31, 2021  5,957,001 48,943 
Completion of private placement 3 (f) 8,984,823 8,984,823 
Elimination of 1181718 B.C Ltd. shares on merger 3 (d) (5,957,001) (48,943) 
Share listing expense 3 (d) 308,475 (308,475) 
Shares issued to 1181718 B.C Ltd. on merger 3 (d) 1,750,000 (1,750,000) 
Share options 3 (e)  2,790,000 2,790,000 
Settlement of convertible notes 3 (b) 5,339,200 4,271,360 
Settle of convertible notes  3 (g) 423,536 423,536 
Performance warrants 3 (a) 2,000,000 - 

  52,071,077 $25,970,690 
 

In the above table, the Fresh Factory’s shares on August 31, 2021 of 30,475,043 shares and the 5,339,200 
shares issued on settlement of convertible notes total 35,814,243. The difference between the 36,000,000 
shares issued on completion of the proposed transaction and the 35,814,243 is related to interest on 
convertible notes from August 31, 2021, through September 30, 2021. 
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1. Purpose_______________________________________________________________

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) is a standing committee of the Board of Directors (the 
“Board”) of The Fresh Factory B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”). The Committee is appointed by the 
Board to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to financial accounting 
and reporting process and internal controls for the Company. This Charter shall govern the 
operations of the Committee. 

The Committee’s primary duties and responsibilities are to: 

(a) conduct such reviews and discussions with management and the external
auditors relating to the audit and financial reporting as are deemed appropriate
by the Committee;

(b) assess the integrity of internal controls and financial reporting procedures of the
Company and ensure implementation of such controls and procedures;

(c) review and approve the interim financial statements and management’s
discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial position and operating
results;

(d) review the annual financial statements and management’s discussion and
analysis of the Company’s financial position and operating results and report
thereon to the Board for approval of same;

(e) select and monitor the independence and performance of the Company’s
external auditors, including attending at private meetings with the external
auditors and reviewing and approving all renewals or dismissals of the external
auditors and their remuneration;

(f) provide oversight to related party transactions entered into by the Company; and

(g) provide oversight of all disclosure relating to, and information derived from,
financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis.

The Committee has the authority to conduct any investigation appropriate to its responsibilities, 
and it may request the external auditors as well as any officer of the Company, or outside 
counsel for the Company, to attend a meeting of the Committee or to meet with any members 
of, or advisors to, the Committee. The Committee shall have unrestricted access to the books 
and records of the Company and has the authority to retain, at the expense of the Company, 
special legal, accounting, or other consultants or experts to assist in the performance of the 
Committee’s duties. 

The Committee shall review and assess the adequacy of this Charter annually and submit any 
proposed revisions to the Board for approval. 

In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Committee will carry out the specific duties as set out in this 
Charter. 

2. Authority of the Audit Committee__________________________________________

The Committee shall have the authority to: 
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(a) engage independent counsel and other advisors as it determines necessary to
carry out its duties;

(b) set and pay the compensation for advisors employed by the Committee; and

(c) communicate directly with the internal and external auditors of the Company.

3. Composition and Meetings_______________________________________________

(a) The Committee shall be composed of three or more directors as shall be
designated by the Board from time to time. Unless a Chair is elected by the
Board, the members of the Committee shall designate from amongst from among
themselves a member who shall serve as Chair.

(b) The Committee and its membership shall meet all applicable legal, regulatory
and listing requirements, including, without limitation, those of the Canadian
Securities Exchange, the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), and all
applicable securities regulatory authorities. Each member of the Committee shall
be financially literate (as defined in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit
Committees (“NI 52-110”)).

(c) At least a majority of the members of the Committee shall be “independent” (as
defined in NI 52-110) and shall be remunerated only in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations.

(d) The Committee shall meet at least quarterly, at the discretion of the Chair or a
majority of its members, as circumstances dictate or as may be required by
applicable legal or listing requirements. A minimum of two and at least 50% of
the members of the Committee present either in person or by electronic
conference shall constitute a quorum.

(e) If within one hour of the time appointed for a meeting of the Committee, a
quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to the same hour on
the second business day following the date of such meeting at the same place. If
at the adjourned meeting a quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present
within one hour of the time appointed for such adjourned meeting, such meeting
shall stand adjourned to the same hour on the second business day following the
date of such meeting at the same place. If at the second adjourned meeting a
quorum as hereinbefore specified is not present, the quorum for the adjourned
meeting shall consist of the members then present.

(f) If and whenever a vacancy shall exist, the remaining members of the Committee
may exercise all of its powers and responsibilities so long as a quorum remains
in office.

(g) The time and place at which meetings of the Committee shall be held, and
procedures at such meetings, shall be determined from time to time by the
Committee. A meeting of the Committee may be called by letter, telephone,
email or other communication equipment, by giving at least 48 hours’ notice,
provided that no notice of a meeting shall be necessary if all of the members are
present either in person or by means of electronic conference or if those absent
have waived notice or otherwise signified their consent to the holding of such
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meeting. 

(h) Any member of the Committee may participate in the meeting of the Committee
by means of electronic conference call or other communication equipment, and
the member participating in a meeting pursuant to this paragraph shall be
deemed, for purposes hereof, to be present in person at the meeting.

(i) The Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings which shall be submitted to
the Board. The Committee may, from time to time, appoint any person who need
not be a member, to act as a secretary at any meeting. Any director of the
Company may attend meetings of the Committee, and the Committee may invite
such officers, directors and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries as it
may see fit, from time to time, to attend at meetings of the Committee.

(j) The Board may at any time amend or rescind any of the provisions hereof, or
cancel them entirely, with or without substitution.

(k) Any matters to be determined by the Committee shall be decided by a majority of
votes cast at a meeting of the Committee called for such purpose. Actions of the
Committee may be taken by an instrument or instruments in writing signed by all
of the members of the Committee, and such actions shall be effective as though
they had been decided by a majority of votes cast at a meeting of the Committee
called for such purpose. The Committee shall report its determinations to the
Board at the next scheduled meeting of the Board, or earlier as the Committee
deems necessary.

(l) The Committee members will be appointed annually at the first meeting of the
Board following the annual general meeting of shareholders of the Company.

4. Responsibilities________________________________________________________

(a) Financial Accounting and Reporting Process and Internal Controls

(i) The Committee shall review and approve the interim financial statements
and related management’s discussion and analysis before the Company
publicly discloses this information to satisfy itself that the financial
statements are presented in accordance with applicable accounting
principles. The Committee shall review the annual audited financial
statements and related management’s discussion and analysis before the
Company publicly discloses this information to satisfy itself that the
financial statements are presented in accordance with applicable
accounting principles, report thereon and recommend to the Board
whether or not same should be approved prior to their being filed with the
appropriate regulatory authorities. With respect to the annual audited
financial statements, the Committee shall discuss significant issues
regarding accounting principles, practices, and judgments of
management with management and the external auditors as and when
the Committee deems it appropriate to do so. The Committee shall
consider whether the Company’s financial disclosures are complete,
accurate, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and fairly present the financial position of the Company. The
Committee shall also satisfy itself that, in the case of the annual financial
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statements, the audit function has been effectively carried out by the 
auditors and, in the case of the interim financial statements, that the 
review function has been effectively carried out. 

(ii) The Committee shall review and assess the adequacy and effectiveness
of the Company’s systems of internal control and management
information systems through discussion with management and the
external auditor to ensure that the Company maintains appropriate
systems, is able to assess the pertinent risks of the Company and that
the risk of a material misstatement in the financial disclosures can be
detected.

(iii) The Committee shall be satisfied that adequate procedures are in place
for the review of the Company’s public disclosure of financial information
extracted or derived from the Company’s financial statements,
management’s discussion and analysis and annual and interim financial
press releases, and periodically assess the adequacy of these
procedures in consultation with any disclosure committee of the
Company.

(iv) The Committee shall review any press releases containing disclosure
regarding financial information that are required to be reviewed by the
Committee under any applicable laws or otherwise pursuant to the
policies of the Company (including before the Company publicly discloses
this information).

(v) The Committee shall meet no less frequently than annually with the
external auditors and the Chief Financial Officer or, in the absence of a
Chief Financial Officer, with the officer of the Company in charge of
financial matters, to review accounting practices, internal controls and
such other matters as the Committee, Chief Financial Officer or, in the
absence of a Chief Financial Officer, with the officer of the Company in
charge of financial matters, deems appropriate.

(vi) The Committee shall inquire of management and the external auditors
about significant risks or exposures, both internal and external, to which
the Company may be subject, and assess the steps management has
taken to minimize such risks.

(vii) The Committee shall review the post-audit or management letter
containing the recommendations of the external auditors and
management’s response and subsequent follow-up to any identified
weaknesses.

(viii) The Committee be responsible for monitoring compliance with any code
of corporate conduct adopted by the Board and shall periodically review
and make recommendations regarding such code.

(ix) The Committee shall establish procedures for:
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(b) (A) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received
by the Company regarding accounting, internal accounting
controls or auditing matters; and

(c) (B) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of
the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or
auditing matters.

(i) The Committee shall have the authority to adopt such policies and
procedures as it deems appropriate to operate effectively.

(b) Independent Auditors

(i) The Committee shall be directly responsible for the selection,
appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors and the
external auditors shall report directly to the Committee.

(ii) The Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services not
prohibited by law to be provided by the external auditors.

(iii) The Committee shall monitor and assess the relationship between
management and the external auditors and monitor, confirm, support and
assure the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The
Committee shall establish procedures to receive and respond to
complaints with respect to accounting, internal accounting controls and
auditing matters.

(iv) The Committee shall review the external auditor’s audit plan, including
scope, procedures and timing of the audit.

(v) The Committee shall review the results of the annual audit with the
external auditors, including matters related to the conduct of the audit.

(vi) The Committee shall obtain timely reports from the external auditors
describing critical accounting policies and practices, alternative
treatments of information within International Financial Reporting
Standards that were discussed with management, their ramifications, and
the external auditors’ preferred treatment and material written
communications between the Company and the external auditors.

(vii) The Committee shall review fees paid by the Company to the external
auditors and other professionals in respect of audit and non-audit
services on an annual basis.

(viii) The Committee shall review and approve the Company’s hiring policies
regarding partners, employees and former partners and employees of the
present and former auditor of the Company.

(ix) The Committee shall have the authority to engage the external auditors to
perform a review of the interim financial statements.

(c) Other Activities
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The Committee shall perform any other activities consistent with this Charter and 
governing law, as the Committee or the Board deems necessary or appropriate. 

5. Performance Evaluation_________________________________________________

The Committee shall conduct an annual evaluation of the performance of its duties under this 
Charter and shall present the results of the evaluation to the Board. 

6. Access to Information___________________________________________________

The Committee shall be granted unrestricted access to all information regarding the Company 
that is necessary or desirable to fulfill its duties and all directors, officers and employees of the 
Company will be directed to cooperate as requested by members of the Committee. 

7. Approval______________________________________________________________

Approved by the Board on November 5, 2021. 
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SCHEDULE B 

Exchange Listing Statement Disclosure – Additional Information 

14. Capitalization

14.1 Issued Capital 

Number of 

Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 

Securities 

(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 

(non-

diluted) 

% of Issued  

(fully diluted) 

Public Float 

Total outstanding (A) 
10,928,711 52,256,791 100% 100% 

Held by Related Persons or 

employees of the Issuer or Related 

Person of the Issuer, or by persons or 

companies who beneficially own or 

control, directly or indirectly, more 

than a 5% voting position in the 

Issuer (or who would beneficially 

own or control, directly or indirectly, 

more than a 5% voting position in the 

Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 

other securities held) (B) 

415,951 18,627,000 3.8% 35.6% 

Total Public Float (A-B) 
10,512,760 33,629,791 96.2% 64.4% 

Freely-Tradeable Float 

Number of outstanding securities 

subject to resale restrictions, 

including restrictions imposed by 

pooling or other arrangements or in a 

shareholder agreement and securities 

held by control block holders (C) 

419,663 39,559,500 3.8% 75.7% 

Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 
10,509,048 12,697,291 96.2% 24.3% 
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than persons enumerated in 

section (B) of the previous chart. List registered holders only. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 70 3,712 

100 – 499 securities 0 0 

500 – 999 securities 27 15,849 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 66 79,926 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 9 23,148 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 4 17,624 

5,000 or more  securities 177 10,372,501 

Total  362 10,512,760 

Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as registered shareholders; and (ii) 

beneficial holders holding securities through an intermediary where the Issuer has been given written 

confirmation of shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary provides 

a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; names and holdings of specific 

beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details 

of beneficial holders, give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 
0 0 

100 – 499 securities 
0 0 

500 – 999 securities 
0 0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 
0 0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 
0 0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 
0 0 



- 3 -

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 
0 0 

5,000 or more securities 
0 0 

Unable to confirm 
0 0 

Total 
0 0 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 

For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are persons enumerated in section (B) of the 

issued capital chart.  

Class of Security 

Size of Holding  Number of holders Total number of securities 

1 – 99 securities 6 323 

100 – 499 securities 0 0 

500 – 999 securities 0 0 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 0 0 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 0 0 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 0 0 

4,000 – 4,999 securities 0 0 

5,000 or more  securities 3 415,628 

Total  9 415,951 

14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of 

listed securities 

Description of Security (include conversion /  

exercise terms, including conversion / exercise 

price) 

Number of convertible 

/ exchangeable 

securities outstanding 

Number of listed 

securities issuable 

upon conversion / 

exercise 

Finder’s common share purchase warrants.  Each 

warrant entitle the holder thereof to purchase one 

common share of the Issuer at an exercise price 

of US$1.00 on or before August 6, 2022 

118,580 118,580 
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Description of Security (include conversion /  

exercise terms, including conversion / exercise 

price) 

Number of convertible 

/ exchangeable 

securities outstanding 

Number of listed 

securities issuable 

upon conversion / 

exercise 

Performance warrants. Each warrant entitle the 

holder thereof to purchase one common share of 

the Issuer at an exercise price of US$1.00 on or 

before two years from the date of the completion 

of the Transaction 

2,000,000 2,000,000 

Stock options Exercisable at US$1.00 for a 

period of three years from the date of listing 
2,790,000 2,790,000 

Proportionate Voting Shares. Convertible into 

100 Subordinate Voting Shares, subject to the 

FPI Protective Restriction. 

364,195 36,419,500 

Total 5,272,775 41,328,080 

14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 14.2. 

The Issuer has no other listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included in section 

14.2. 
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